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PRESENTAZIONE

A VOLTE i periodici possono — agli occhi degli utenti — apparire un
po’ bizzarri, un po’ anomali. E il caso di «Studi Veneziani», il cui
numero LXv, i lettori lo ricorderanno, € stato massicciamente occu-
pato dal lavoro di Francois-Xavier Leduc sulle smanie del denaro del
patriziato marciano. Un effetto da montagna russa rispetto al Lx1v e al
LXVI, ossia al numero precedente e a quello seguente. Questultimo,
i lettori I’avranno notato, € ridisceso alla normalita. E ora il LxviI.
Anche questo — sia pure meno vistosamente del Lxv — costituisce
un’eccezione, nel senso che al posto degli «Studi» ci sono gli Atti di
un Convegno svoltosi, ancora nel maggio del 2010, a Smirne (Izmir),
avendo per coordinatori Jean-Claude Hocquet e Ruthy Gertwagen.
Ne son sortiti i testi qui pubblicati e, in pit, 'argomento ha sollecita-
to ulteriori contributi incorporati anche questi negli Atti. E cio nella
convinzione che la mediterraneita sia imprescindibile all'intendimen-
to della storia di Venezia e che la presenza della Serenissima sia una
costante ad alto tasso connotativo nel Levante mediterraneo e, anzi,
per il Mediterraneo tutto, in eta medievale e moderna. A monte del
Convegno, naturalmente, La Mediterranée... di Braudel. Nel decidere
di pubblicare gli Atti in «Studi Veneziani», ¢ a Braudel che s’¢ pensato
e, anche, a Tenenti. Di questultimo amicissimo il direttore del pe-
riodico, il quale direttore dell’amicizia approfittava con un costante
ricorso al suo consiglio. Ora Tenenti non c’¢ pit; ma vien da dire che
I'iniziativa di far campeggiare, in questo numero, Venezia e il Medi-
terraneo — nella tensione dei conflitti, nella circolazione delle merci e
delle idee, nelle trasmigrazioni delle genti e delle credenze —I’avrebbe
senz’altro approvata, anzi caldeggiata.

GINO BENZONI

«STUDI VENEZIANI» * LXVII - 2013



VENEZIA E IL MEDITERRANEO

A cura di Jean-Claude Hocquet, Ruthy Gertwagen



AVANT-PROPOS.
VENISE, CARREFOUR D’'UN MONDE
QUI AVAIT CHANGE

JEAN-CLAUDE HOCQUET

E théme retenu Venise et la Méditerranée présenté aux lecteurs des
«Studi Veneziani» ne visait pas a renouveler I'histoire de la Médi-
terranée, ni celle de Venise, il apporte cependant des vues nouvelles
sur certains aspects méconnus de cette histoire et la variété des the-
mes traités contribue a un enrichissement historiographique et c’est
bien la I'important. On peut classer les communications sous trois
rubriques.

LA GUERRE

D’abord la guerre maritime pour le controle des accés aux marchés
des grains et aux terminaux des routes caravaniéres ou pour conser-
ver les escales indispensables a la navigation et aux avitaillements, la
guerre implique deux belligérants mais des alliés interviennent dont
I'apport peut étre décisif, ainsi des flottes hollandaises qui offrent a
Venise de briser le blocus espagnol pendant la guerre de Gradisca
déclenchée pour mettre un terme a la piraterie uscoque. La guerre
profite aussi a des tiers, ainsi les Ottomans, elle achéve d’en ruiner
d’autres, tel le Basileus.

Il était impossible d’aborder le théeme sans traiter de I'hostilité de
Génes, mission dévolue a Ruthy Gertwagen, co-responsable du re-
cueil, qui a choisi I'exemple de la guerre de Tenedos, sans examiner
les faits militaires, mais en concentrant son attention sur les clauses
du traité de paix arbitré par le comte de Savoie, afin d’illustrer I'impor-
tance de I'lle dans le dispositif maritime respectif des deux ennemies.
Les intrigues génoises contribuérent a renforcer la dépendance des
empereurs a I’égard des Ottomans qu’elles réinstallaient a Gallipoli.
Le controle de I'lle de Tenedos ne fut pas le seul motif de la guerre
puisque le traité de paix incluait une clause interdisant aux deux belli-
gérants de fréquenter le port de Tana durant deux ans, les deux répu-
bliques continuaient donc, apres la fin des hostilités, a se disputer le

«STUDI VENEZIANI» * LXVII - 2013



20 JEAN-CLAUDE HOCQUET

contrbéle du commerce de la mer Noire. En 1380 les Génois s’étaient
emparés du littoral mongol de la Crimée, y compris des quartiers vé-
nitiens dans les ports de Soldaja, Calara et Provosto; présents a Caffa
ils pouvaient continuer de commercer avec Tana et interdire aux Vé-
nitiens I"accés au port du Don. Les Vénitiens, fidéles a leur politique
de disposer en permanence d’au moins deux terminaux en Orient,
compenserent la perte en renforcant leurs liens avec les mamliks de
Syrie-Egypte. La perte de Tenedos ruinait vingt années d'efforts de
Venise pour acquérir un point d’appui proche de Constantinople et
capable de concurrencer les positions génoises dans les détroits. Te-
nedos offrait un port de relache aux nefs qui ne pouvaient emprunter
les étroits chenaux coupés de ponts de Négrepont, trop éloignée a
huit jours de navigation de Constantinople, les considérations de ra-
vitaillement en eau douce justifiaient de disposer d’une autre escale.
Venise avait obtenu Tenedos de I'empereur pour prix de son alliance
contre les Turcs. Venise avait un autre motif d’'inquiétude: lors de la
guerre avec Byzance, Génes s’était aussi emparée des ports byzantins
du delta du Danube et avait ainsi la haute main sur les exportations
de grains. Venise, loin d’étre expulsée de la Méditerranée orientale,
renforca son contrdle sur les lignes de navigation au débouché de
I’ Adriatique grace a I'acquisition de Corfou et de Durazzo. Elle obte-
nait le controle de point-clés et escales qui jalonnaient la route mari-
time conduisant a Constantinople et a la mer Noire. On voit combien
était cruciale la question du ravitaillement en grains de la métropole
et décisive la nécessité de disposer d’escales sur les grandes routes
maritimes.

Faire la guerre impose de disposer d’armes, des marchands d’armes
sont toujours préts a offrir leurs services aux divers belligérants. L'in-
troduction de I'artillerie lourde sur les vaisseaux transforma profon-
dément la guerre sur mer entre 1500 et 1650. Elle conféra un avantage
décisif aux voiliers qui acheverent de supplanter galées et galeres en
Méditerranée. En 1617, signale Louis Sicking, Venise s’adressa pour la
premieére fois aux puissances maritimes du Nord, I'’Angleterre et les
Provinces Unies, pour louer des vaisseaux marchands convertis pour
la guerre. Jusqu'au milieu du xvir° siecle, on resta fidele a la pratique
médiévale de transformer les navires de commerce en les armant pour
la guerre. Le voilier a gréement complet qui s’était développé des le
milieu du xv®siecle constituait encore 1'essentiel des escadres hollan-
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daises au xvir° siecle. Les canons de fonte, plus lourds mais beaucoup
moins chers, supplantaient a bord les anciens canons de bronze et la
Hollande se donnait une puissante industrie d’armement. Les Hollan-
dais ont ainsi pu louer leurs navires armés, équipés et garnis d’équipa-
ges aux puissances étrangeres. Parmi celles-ci, Venise fut privilégiée.
En effet durant la guerre de Gradisca qui devait mettre un terme a
la piraterie uscoque, Venise affronta aussi les forces des archiducs
d’Autriche et de leurs alliés espagnols établis en Sicile et a Naples. La
Hollande et Venise se trouvaient avoir méme ennemi, les Habsbourg
de Vienne et Madrid. La guerre n’était pas seule a favoriser un rappro-
chement entre les deux Républiques marchandes. Dés les années 1590,
la pénurie et la disette qui avaient sévi dans le bassin méditerranéen
avait incité Venise a acheter des grains aux Provinces-Unies et, a par-
tir de 1614-1616, 'échange d’ambassadeurs prépara I'alliance conclue
en 1619. La treve de Douze Ans inaugurée en 1609 allégeait I'effort de
guerre hollandais et libérait des moyens que les Etats Généraux pou-
vaient mettre a disposition des puissances étrangeres. Cette politique
préparait au renforcement de la présence des marchands hollandais
sur les marchés méditerranéens orientaux. Au total, de 1617 a 1619,
trois flottes hollandaises équipées pour combattre aux cotés des forces
vénitiennes arrivérent dans le nord de I’Adriatique avec des troupes,
surtout des mercenaires allemands. Elles avaient déjoué ou forcé la
surveillance espagnole dans le détroit de Gibraltar ou en Adriatique.
Durant la guerre de Candie, Venise enrola encore des vaisseaux mar-
chands armés venus de Hollande et d’Angleterre, qui lui permirent
de résister pendant un quart de siécle a la puissance ottomane. Mais
ces navires avaient fait leur temps et les puissances du Nord (Suéde et
Danemark) commencaient a construire des voiliers uniquement des-
tinés a la guerre. En 1667, I’Arsenal de Venise entreprit de construire
son premier vaisseau de ligne.

Si Venise achetait ou louait les services de bateaux hollandais dans
la premiére moitié du xvir° siecle, a la méme époque elle fournissait
en bois de marine I'Ordre de S. Giovanni de Jérusalem replié a Malte,
comme le minutier du notaire Fabrizio Beacian en a conservé la trace
pour les années 1597-1621. Le receveur du prieuré de I'Ordre installé a
Venise avait pour mission de procurer la matiére premiere aux chan-
tiers de construction surtout siciliens auxquels 'Ordre passait com-
mande de navires. Déja avant 1580 Venise livrait 30% des achats de



22 JEAN-CLAUDE HOCQUET

bois et de fer de I’Ordre, mais ce mouvement cessa au cours de la
décennie 1620, car les bois méditerranéens furent supplantés par les
fournitures apportées par les navires du Nord de I'Europe. Les bois
des Alpes étaient convoyés a Venise par flottage sur les riviéres équi-
pées de ‘gares des bois’, de scieries hydrauliques et de barrages. Tren-
te-huit compagnies dans lesquelles figuraient des hommes d’affaires
nobles qui approvisionnaient aussi ’Arsenal vénitien contribuerent
aux ventes de bois au prieur de I'Ordre. Elles procédaient aux coupes
de bois en territoire vénitien mais aussi dans les bassins versants des
torrents Brenta, Piave et Cordevole sous juridiction des comtes de
Tirol et des évéques de Bressanone (Katia Occhi).

TRANSFERTS DE POPULATION, ACCULTURATION, SPIRITUALITE

La guerre, omniprésente a la fin du Moyen Age, provoquait des
déplacements de population et Ersie Burke a examiné I'émigration
grecque, noble ou populaire, a Venise apres la prise de Constantinople
par les Turcs et les raisons du choix de Venise comme foyer d’accueil.
L’émigration se poursuivit durant tout le xvi° siecle et aboutit a un
établissement permanent et a la création d’'une communauté dotée
d'une église et d’'une scuola ou confrérie. La situation de ces réfugiés
n’était pas facile et une source éclaire les relations entre la cité-Etat
et les migrants: les pétitions adressées aux autorités et la réponse de
celles-ci, sous forme de concessions, jugements ou graces. Venise fut
un Etat généreux pratiquant le public welfare, accordant des pensions
pour services rendus ou pour indemniser des dommages, personnels
ou commerciaux. Ces pétitions sont une mine d’informations sur
l'attitude des réfugiés a 'égard de I'Etat dont ils attendaient justice,
arbitrage, emploi et le vivre dans les temps difficiles. Elles visaient une
faveur. Elles étaient présentées au Collége qui les déclarait recevables
et les dirigeait alors vers la magistrature compétente avant qu’elles ne
fissent retour au Pien Collegio qui approuvait le choix du magistrat et en
précisait les conditions. La proposition était ensuite inscrite a I’ordre
du jour du Sénat. Ces pétitions étaient le fait de réfugiés qui avaient
tout perdu en fuyant et en rompant les contacts avec leur patrie. Les
immigrants volontaires gardaient au contraire des liens familiaux ou
commerciaux. Les réfugiés étaient des travailleurs qui essayaient de se
procurer un revenu régulier, par un emploi rémunéré dans un office
ou sur les chantiers publics. Les pensions versées étaient réversibles
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a la veuve ou aux orphelins. Les femmes étaient moins nombreuses
a pétitionner, elles laissaient faire le mari ou le frére, n’avaient pas de
mérite militaire a faire valoir, maitrisaient mal l'italien. Les veuves
de guerre intervenaient davantage et elles racontaient alors I'histoire
de leur mari. Généralement les femmes demandaient un subside
transmissible a leurs enfants et certaines libéralités engendraient
des sinécures héréditaires. Une agence des Rason vecchie, les Cinque
Savii sopra Napolitani et Malvasiotti (réfugiés de Nauplie/Napoli di
Romania et de Monemvasia), était chargée de distribuer les pensions.
Apres 1570, des Cypriotes demandérent des faveurs analogues en se
réclamant d’aieux venus de Nauplie, mais I'Etat ne montrait plus la
méme bienveillance envers les habitants des colonies perdues a I'issue
des derniéres guerres turques, moins de gens cherchaient a fuir vers
Venise et surtout 'économie vénitienne n’était plus aussi florissante
qu’en 1540. La guerre de 1538-1540 se termina par des négociations,
celle de 1571 par une capitulation, les Ottomans faisant des milliers
de captifs réduits en esclavage, dont I'Etat ou de simples particuliers
(buoni christiani) finangaient le rachat. L’Etat ne compensait plus les
pertes matérielles comme apres 1540, assistance et piété l'inclinaient
a racheter les captifs. L’ Auteur avance une derniére raison pour cette
différence de traitement, Nauplie et Monemvasia étaient des colonies
militaires hébergeant de nombreux stradioti grecs ou albanais et leurs
chefs, beaucoup choisirent de continuer a servir Venise qui les rapatria
avec leurs familles ou les envoya dans d’autres colonies. Leur fournir
aide et travail était un moyen de préserver a la fois la paix civile et une
force militaire. L’étude met en valeur la mutuelle dépendance qui liait
le pétitionnaire et I'Etat, la loyauté et la fidélité des Grecs répondant a
la sagesse et a la gloire de la chrétienne République.

Diana Gilliland Wright éclaire les rapports quelquefois tendus entre
ces soldats grecs, soldats perdus apres une défaite, et les autorités véni-
tiennes qui n’avaient aucun désir de se laisser entrainer dans une nou-
velle guerre avec le récent vainqueur. Pourtant Venise témoignait de
mansuétude al’égard de cette population. Le capetan grec Krokodelos
Kladas entama une guerre privée contre les Turcs dans la péninsule
moréote de Mani 4 la fin de I'année 1480. Cet aventurier recut rapide-
ment le renfort de Thodoros Bua venu de Nauplie. Les autorités véni-
tiennes locales s’'employérent a apaiser la révolte. Lorsque Mehmed II
descendit en Morée en 1460, les grandes familles lui firent soumission.



24 JEAN-CLAUDE HOCQUET

Les Kladas entrérent dans le systéme féodal ottoman et regurent en
fief (timar) le chateau de Vardounia. Quand éclata la longue guerre de
1463-1478, Venise leva des mercenaires grecs ou albanais, et parmi eux
les valeureux fréres Kladas dont le chiteau passa ainsi dans les mains
vénitiennes. Krokodelos qui commandait des bandes de 50 a 150 hom-
mes payés avec le butin razzié, était capable de repousser une attaque
turque sur son chateau. Au retour de la paix (25 janvier 1479), Venise
s’engagea a restituer a Mehmed ce qui lui avait appartenu avant les
hostilités — le brillant diplomate Giovanni Dario fut chargé de procé-
der a la délimitation des nouvelles frontiéres avec Sinan Beg, représen-
tant personnel de Mehmed — cependant elle offrit refuge aux Kladas a
Coron, mais ceux-ci n’acceptaient pas de voir leur chateau retourner
aux mains turques et se révoltérent. Les provéditeurs vénitiens de Co-
ron et de Modon mirent leur téte a prix et envoyerent des excuses a
Constantinople. Des échanges de correspondance et des pourparlers
entre Vénitiens et envoyés de Mehmed s’efforcérent d’aplanir les dif-
ficultés soulevées par la révolte grecque. Venise étudiait les moyens
de ne pas livrer la femme et les enfants de Kladas aux Turcs qui les
réclamaient, ils étaient sous bonne garde a Coron, éludait-elle. Elle sa-
vait qu'une telle livraison heurterait les sentiments des stradioti, dont
3 a 5.000 avaient rejoint la rébellion. Elle rapatria la famille Kladas en
Italie sans soulever de protestations du sangakbeg. La conduite des of-
ficiers vénitiens n’était pas toujours aussi empreinte de sagesse et de
générosité et le gouverneur de Nauplie Bartolomeo Minio dénonga le
comportement brutal et humiliant du provéditeur général de la flotte,
Hieronimo Morosini, a I'égard des vétérans. Chose étrange chez ces
révoltés menacés par les troupes turques envoyées en renfort, ils de-
mandaient aux voivodes ottomans d’intercéder aupres des adminis-
trateurs vénitiens pour obtenir leur pardon. Il revint & Dario, de nou-
veau a Constantinople, d’apaiser les querelles surgies avec les turcs
en Morée. Venise ne vit pas d’autre solution que d’envoyer les chefs
de bande et les stradioti combattre Ferrare, une solution consistant a
faire supporter par d’autres un probléme politique qu’on n’a pas pu
résoudre. La correspondance de Dario et de Minio sur laquelle s’ap-
puie I'étude de Diana Wright montre comment on passait du statut de
soldats a celui de bandits quand cessait le service et que ces hommes
sans emploi conservaient leurs armes. En 1517 le traité vénéto-turc
comporta une clause qui autorisait chacun des partenaires a punir les
déserteurs de I'autre camp coupables d’exactions.
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A mi-chemin de I'histoire militaire et de I'histoire religieuse, Daph-
ne Lappa, apres avoir dépouillé les archives de la Casa de’ Catecumenti,
a choisi d’étudier les conversions au catholicisme romain de merce-
naires musulmans ou, plus rarement, juifs, recrutés dans les armées
vénitiennes aux xvir® et xvie siécles. Ces mercenaires qui tenaient
garnison dans les villes de la Terreferme ou dans les iles Ioniennes
avaient été recrutés dans l'arriere-pays des cités vénitiennes de Dal-
matie, soit en Bosnie, en Albanie ou en Péloponnése et dans les iles
de 'archipel égéen intégrés par la conquéte dans I'Empire Ottoman,
c’est-a-dire dans des zones de contact entre les cultures ce qui créait
une certaine familiarité avec la religion de T'autre’. Certains venaient
aussi des cotes d’Afrique du Nord, d’Andalousie et d’Anatolie, de ter-
res qui jamais ne furent vénitiennes. Dans les compagnies vénitiennes
d’infanterie ou de cavalerie légere ces musulmans combattaient aux
cotés de mercenaires chrétiens dont ils partageaient le mode de vie et
les peurs lorsqu’ils se trouvaient avoir a combattre le méme ennemi,
le plus souvent les soldats ottomans. Ce voisinage permanent favori-
sait le rapprochement religieux et n’avait rien d’exceptionnel dans les
armées du temps. Le milieu mercenaire constituait un terrain privi-
légié pour les conversions. Les officiers chrétiens et les chapelains de
I'armée, lorsqu’ils avaient détecté des éléments laissant présager une
possible conversion a la foi chrétienne, envoyaient ces soldats a Venise
ou des Jésuites avaient institué des 1557, sur le modéle romain, une
‘maison des catéchumenes’ dont les desservants dirigés par un prieur
procédaient a une enquéte pour déterminer le degré de sincérité de
ces hommes, éventuellement mesurer les pressions dont ils avaient
été I'objet, écarter les fraudeurs qui trouvaient la le gite et le couvert
pour quelques mois. Ces fraudeurs étaient des grecs orthodoxes se
faisant passer pour musulmans, des schismatiques, non des infidéles.
L’Auteur rapporte les histoires de ces catéchumeénes souvent nés dans
des couples mixtes, pere musulman, mere chrétienne, élevés dans la
religion du pére, obligés de raconter leur histoire, leur vie passée, et
leur désir de devenir chrétiens qui témoignaient de leur sincérité. Ces
histoires individuelles de conversion s’inscrivent parfaitement dans le
théme de ce recueil, souvent ces soldats de fortune ont erré autour
de la Méditerranée, a bord de navires pratiquant la course ou dans les
compagnies de mercenaires chargées de la protection de I'Empire, ils
ont été faits prisonniers, sont devenus esclaves de propriétaires chré-
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tiens avant d’acquérir leur liberté en entrant au service de Venise. Ces
pérégrinations ont aussi préparé leur conversion en provoquant une
sorte d’indétermination religieuse favorable a la réception d’une foi
nouvelle.

La religiosité du monde maritime a fait I'objet de deux contribu-
tions. Le culte de sainte Lucia était présent a Venise, Spalato et dans
les localités du golfe du Quarnero, en des lieux marqués par une forte
tradition maritime (Igor Sipi¢). Les attributs de Lucie étaient deux
symboles de lumiere (lux) une chandelle de cire et ses yeux, énucléés
aux ciseaux lors de son martyre (aprés une vision de sainte Agathe qui
lui aurait dit: «Lucie, tu es lumiére!»). Son culte, précoce en Sicile et
a Rome, se répandit rapidement en Italie centrale avant d’atteindre
Venise. L'ile de Hvar (I'antique Pharos) possédait des le xv* siecle une
église dédiée a sainte Lucie dans la vieille ville, de méme Pola sur le
site d'un ancien temple romain. En Istrie quinze localités, surtout si-
tuées au bord de mer, seraient dotées d’une église a sainte Lucie, de
méme que I'ille de Pag a Kosljun. Le culte de sainte Lucie devint un
culte vénitien a I'instar des cultes de s. Marco et de s. Rocco. Sa féte
coincidait avec le solstice d’hiver qui marque l’allongement du jour.
La sainte, détentrice de la sagesse divine, éponyme de la «lumiére »,
protégeait des maladies oculaires. C’était a ce titre qu’elle intervenait
dans la navigation ou une parfaite vision des vigies était un facteur
essentiel de la sécurité du navire et de I'équipage. De nombreux ex-
voto marins sont des plaques d’argent ou figure un ceil, témoignage
de I'importance de la vision dans la vie et le destin des marins, mar-
chands ou pélerins circulant sur les routes maritimes. Marco Antonio
de Dominis qui se rendit justement a Spalato en 1602 et y devint ar-
chevéque y écrivit un traité sur la vision et le rapport entre lumiére
et obscurité.

DEVELOPPEMENT ECONOMIQUE, RIVALITES COMMERCIALES,
PROGRES SCIENTIFIQUE

Ces différentes études ont insisté sur le poids de la guerre, sur la com-
plexité des relations avec les populations grecques et sur la fidélité de
celles-ci qui n’avaient aucun désir de vivre sous I'autorité ottomane,
sur I'habileté diplomatique de Venise soucieuse de ne pas envenimer
des rapports déja tendus avec le sultan, sur 'humanité de son atti-
tude a I'égard des réfugiés, sur I'équilibre des pouvoirs au sein de 1'ad-
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ministration vénitienne ou un subalterne pouvait mettre en cause le
comportement d'un officier supérieur. Quatre relations rompent avec
ce climat guerrier et tournent les regards vers la vie économique des
territoires vénitiens riverains de I’Adriatique et de la mer Ionienne,
son débouché en Méditerranée.

Les actes de la famille Matafari¢ conservés aux Archives d’Etat de
Zadar (Croatie) montrent comment la noblesse de Zadar a converti
ses activités apres le retour de la cité sous la domination vénitienne en
1409. Le monopole vénitien a dépouillé les nobles de leur principale
source de revenus, le sel et les salines. L.a noblesse a dii abandonner
le commerce du sel et les fermes d'imp06t et elle a fondé des compa-
gnies associant nobles urbains et descendants de marchands italiens
immigrés et installés dans les villes dalmates pour I'exploitation des
ressources agraires des campagnes insulaires, 1'élevage des moutons
et le vignoble, dont les produits, la viande et les fromages, étaient
destinés au marché local. La compagnie de Matafari¢ employa jusqu’a
vingt-deux éleveurs (bergers). Malgré la modestie de ses ressources,
limitées a I’exploitation de quelques terroirs villageois autour de Zara
et dans les iles Kornati, la compagnie s’inscrivait dans le circuit des
échanges qui unissait les territoires vénitiens, de Corfou a I'Istrie et a
I'archipel dalmate, voire a la métropole Venise qui importait les fro-
mages salés de brebis tandis que la viande fraiche approvisionnait les
boucheries de Zara. L'ancien patriciat de Zadar a perdu sa prééminen-
ce au bénéfice d’'une nouvelle classe marchande et bourgeoise dont
I'investissement dans I'exploitation du sol répondait aux objectifs de
la politique vénitienne de mise en valeur des territoires du Stato da
mar (Florence Fabijanec).

Apres 1530, la crise politique et économique qui secouait la Répu-
blique obligea a faire une plus grande place aux sujets et aux étran-
gers dans la vie maritime de Venise (Gerassimos D. Pagratis). Grecs,
Turcs, chrétiens renégats, Arméniens, Ragusains et Juifs commence-
rent a s’affirmer sur les marchés de la Dominante. La marine mar-
chande ionienne a participé a cette croissance durant le siecle. Ve-
nise encourageait le commerce maritime de ses sujets, indispensable
au ravitaillement des territoires et de la métropole de méme que les
relations interrégionales entre les iles jusqu’en Creéte, elle interdisait
leur participation directe au commerce avec I'étranger. Armateurs et
marins crétois avaient pourtant noué des la fin du xv* siécle des rela-
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tions directes avec I’Angleterre pour I'exportation des vins de malvoi-
sie. Beaucoup s’étaient établis a Constantinople devenue la base de
trafics avec les Pays du Nord, la Pologne notamment. Le retrait des
nobles vénitiens du commerce maritime provoquait des tensions sur
la place et conduisait a un assouplissement des mesures protection-
nistes. Dans cette conjoncture les Grecs offraient leurs services pour
importer les grains turcs dans les ports italiens. Ils conservaient des
relations étroites avec leurs compatriotes vivant dans I'Empire Otto-
man et avec ceux établis a Venise. Les Grecs ottomans favorisaient
I'entrée dans I'Empire des Grecs vénitiens, souvent des réfugiés qui
gardaient le contact avec leur cité d’origine, Nauplie, Monemvasia,
Modon ou Coron. La guerre de Chypre qui cotita a Venise la moitié
de sa flotte ouvrit la Méditerranée orientale aux marines de I'Europe
du Nord-Ouest. Au xvi® siécle les actes de navigation promulgués par
les Anglais exclurent les Grecs des relations maritimes directes avec
I’Angleterre. L’ Auteur choisit ensuite de tracer la carriére de trois per-
sonnages emblématiques de I’activité maritime ionienne, I'armateur
et capitaine au long cours Matteo Vergi courant les mers, engagé dans
plusieurs sociétés commerciales et habile a utiliser les primes liées a
I'importation des grains turcs, Constantinos Sicuros, qui en 1555 pos-
sédait une nave en commun avec Ahmet Pasha, commandée par un
autre musulman, le reis Mustafa, spécialisée dans le transport de grains
a Venise, Marcos Samariaris réfugié de Modon et établi a Zante, assez
riche pour posséder un bloc d'immeubles & Venise méme a la fin de sa
vie. La relation contribue a réviser le point de vue traditionnel d’une
métropole imposant un joug sévere a ses colonies et les maintenant
dans un état d’arriération économique. Les plus dynamiques des in-
sulaires conduisaient de brillantes affaires internationales et savaient
se ménager des places de premier plan a Venise méme.

Vera Costantini examine aussi les conséquences de la perte de
Chypre qui risquait de marginaliser la puissance vénitienne réduite
a un Etat régional. Le patriciat réagit selon le schéma éprouvé du
monopole, du rapport privilégié avec ' Empire Ottoman, garanti par
la proximité et la continuité territoriale. Seule 1’Adriatique pouvait
tenir ce role et au port de Spalato fut dévolue cette fonction du main-
tien du role international de Venise. En établissant sur la cote dalmate
un port franc satellite de 'emporio realtino, les Vénitiens révaient d’y
attirer les marchandises de I'arriére-pays balkanique jusqu’a Edirne
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et Istanbul. L'institution de I’échelle (scala) de Spalato répondait a un
double objectif: contrer les Anglais qui avaient fait de Livourne leur
escale en Méditerranée et renforcer les itinéraires terrestres comme
antidote a I'aggravation des activités corsaires sur mer. Le succes de
I'opération dépendait de la bonne volonté ottomane, du choix des
Turcs de convoyer le commerce balkanique vers Spalato plutot que
vers Raguse. Ce bon vouloir turc imposait a Venise d’adopter une
conduite diplomatique qui ménageat les intéréts turcs et la suscepti-
bilité du sultan. Venise pouvait compter sur un solide réseau d’agents
aguerris, de marchands, d’actifs entrepreneurs au cceur de 'Empire et
sur ses marges, de personnages en qui elle pouvait placer sa confian-
ce comme le juif sépharade Daniele Rodriga. Elle souhaitait que la
création de l'escale passat pour une initiative personnelle des mar-
chands, ce qui au surplus ménageait les susceptibilités des uns et des
autres et évitait de soulever une controverse politique qui aurait attisé
la concurrence des Etats riverains et fortifié 'axe Ancone-Raguse et
ses annexes, Maqarsqa et les ports de la Neretva. Cependant le baile
a Istanbul intervenait pour demander que soient réprimés les actes
de banditisme sur les routes des Balkans, ou poursuivies la construc-
tion d’infrastructures, caravansérails et ponts ou encore la délivrance
de laisser passer, sans jamais mentionner la scala de Spalato. L'axe
vénitien jouissait d’avantages incontestables par rapport a son rival
pontifical, d’abord celui d’avoir un accées direct aux marchés conti-
nentaux, notamment allemand, ensuite de desservir un grand foyer
industriel, Venise elle-méme. Avec la création de la scala de Spalato,
Venise s’affranchissait de la tutelle de la Sainte-Ligue, tournait le dos
a ses anciens alliés et transformait ses voisins ottomans en partenai-
res commerciaux, a ses yeux les plus capables en temps de crise de
contribuer a relancer les trafics puisqu’ils controélaient les itinéraires
traditionnels du commerce vénitien en Orient. La nouvelle ligne des
trafics reposa sur une collaboration étroite entre des groupes sociaux
hétérogenes et nouveaux sur la scéne internationale, interprétes véni-
tiens, marchands bosniaques musulmans, fonctionnaires ottomans et
marchands sépharades.

11 était difficile de faire le tour des relations nouées par Venise avec
le monde méditerranéen sans aborder la question des sels ni celle,
fondamentale, de la souveraineté sur 1’Adriatique, son Golfe, avec
toutes ses implications, diplomatiques ou écologiques. L'auteur a ren-
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versé la perspective et examiné la politique de Venise vue de Trieste,
un petit port local étroitement surveillé par son puissant voisin solide-
ment installé sur le littoral si proche de I'Istrie. Un dessin commenté
de Valvassor (fin du xvir® siecle) décrit le systéme technique et hydro-
logique des salines et leur fonctionnement dans I'espace intertidal, le
nord de I’Adriatique étant soumis a un régime de marées biquotidien
qui a Trieste peut atteindre une amplitude de 1 m a 1,50 m. Les salines
de Trieste ont connu deux phases d’expansion, au cours des années
1330 puis apres 1560. Les rendements demeuraient tres faibles et les
Triestins étaient constamment obligés d’étendre leurs salines dans un
mode de production qui compensait la faiblesse du rendement par
I'extension des surfaces, mais I'étroitesse de la plaine cotiére au pied
du Carso leur imposait d’établir les nouvelles salines en mer par créa-
tion de véritables polders. Au début du xvi® siécle, incapable de dispo-
ser de plus de trois mois de réserve pour approvisionner l’arriere-pays
immédiat, Trieste envisageait d’'importer du sel romagnol. La géogra-
phie historique des salines porte témoignage de I’évolution des riva-
ges, d'une lente élévation du niveau marin depuis 'époque romaine
et d’'un remblaiement anthropique récent qui répond aux besoins de
I'urbanisation, de I'industrialisation et du développement portuaire.
Sur les salines de Trieste comme de Muggia, sa voisine sous autorité
vénitienne, les sauniers étaient des métayers dont la condition se dé-
grada rapidement a I'époque moderne, leur rétribution fixée a I'ori-
gine dans un bail a moitié passa au xvi‘ siecle sous les 20% du produit
récolté. Les propriétaires s’en tiraient mieux car ils avaient des biens
dans plusieurs salines. L'extension des salines de Trieste en mer modi-
fiait I'environnement (détournement des fleuves, crues, ruissellement
des eaux douces en nappes), la construction de digues repoussait le
torrent vers le sud au détriment du territoire de Muggia suscitait des
conflits répétés avec Venise qui renonga a intervenir contre sa rivale
protégée par les archiducs et I'empereur Habsburg qui y établirent un
port franc (1719). Trieste fit alors venir du sel de Barletta en Pouille.
La souveraineté de Venise sur son Golfe s’en trouvait bafouée. Les os-
cillations de la production a Muggia (1721-1750) reflétent les variations
climatiques, mais le déficit permanent avait des causes structurelles,
techniques et sociales. La politique volontariste de I'Office du sel véni-
tien encouragea une timide reprise a la fin du si¢cle dans toute I'Istrie.
L’Autriche au contraire, qui disposait du beau sel blanc des salines
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alpestres, s’'employa a mettre un terme a I’activité saliniére de Trieste
quand les traités de 1815 lui eurent donné tous les territoires de la Ré-
publique. Apres quelques essais infructueux de conversion dans la pis-
ciculture et les matériaux de construction, il fallut attendre la seconde
apres-guerre pour que le gouvernement militaire anglo-américain en-
courageat la naissance d'un conglomérat industriel et portuaire qui
s’est établi sur des terrains remblayés par-dessus les anciennes salines
vénitienne ou triestine des basses vallées de I'Ospo et du Rosandra
(Jean-Claude Hocquet).

Les aspects intellectuels, scientifiques ou spirituels n’ont pas été né-
gligés, comme en témoigne 1'étude trés neuve de Toni Veneri qui a
choisi de rappeler les progres et les missions dévolues a la cartogra-
phie a travers la figure et les travaux de Giovanni Battista Ramusio,
le concepteur des cartes géographiques de la Méditerranée qui or-
nent la Salle des Cartes du palais ducal, aidé par des cartographes de
renom, tel Zorzi de Modon qui avait terminé en 1541 une carte de
la Méditerranée médiane centrée sur les deux péninsules italienne et
moréote et sur les deux mers, Adriatique et Egée, afin de mettre en
évidence I'empire maritime de Venise et le théatre de ses opérations
commerciales et diplomatiques dont I’aboutissement restait Constan-
tinople. Ramusio avait pour plus proche collaborateur Giacomo
Gastaldi qui, en 1548, avait publié¢ une Geografia en édition de poche,
congue par conséquent pour un usage quotidien et pratique, qui re-
composait le découpage de Ptolémée afin de placer Venise comme
limite nord-occidentale de la Dalmacia nova tabula et Constantinople
a la fois limite sud-orientale de Polonia et Hungaria nova tabula et nord-
orientale de la Gretia nova tabula. En 1559, Gastaldi recut commande
du Sénat d'une grande carte en quatre feuilles de I'Europe sud-orien-
tale achevée en 1560 et dont les limites étaient marquées a I'ouest par
Venise, par Vienne au nord, Constantinople a I'est et Candie au sud,
soit les trois grands centres politiques de la zone et Candie la grande
possession maritime de Venise. Une carte de Forlani publiée 'année
de Lépante affichait explicitement I'objectif militaro-stratégique de
la cartographie et précisait que les routes conduisant aux principaux
ports de 'Empire Ottoman étaient aussi celles par lesquelles I'armata
cristiana gagnerait le coeur de la machine de guerre ottomane pour
la détruire. La carte publiée par Camocio en 1574 montre comment
Constantinople pourrait étre prise en tenailles par une escadre venue
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par les routes maritimes et par des troupes arrivées par la route qui,
de Raguse, traversait la péninsule balkanique, la carte ménageait une
colonne a droite pour indiquer les étapes et les distances de ces deux
itinéraires. Cette conception dynamique de la carte-itinéraire ache-
mina a une structure minimale et rapidement codifiée qui privilégiait
la représentation des iles et aboutissait dés 1528 & Venise a l'isolario
de Benedetto Bordone, conformément a une tradition florentine qui
trouve son origine dans le Liber Insularum Archipelagi de Buondel-
monti, ceuvre d'un homme du continent incapable de souligner les
relations maritimes entre les divers éléments de I’Archipel, a la diffé-
rence de Bartolomeo dalli Sonetti qui avait publié a Venise dés 1485 un
Isolario qui accompagnait chaque ile d'une description versifiée pour
signaler les distances, les hauts fonds, les écueils et les abris. Quand
le graveur padouan Antonio Pigafetta entreprit de représenter les na-
vigations de Magellan, il le fit sur le mode de l'isolario et placa sans
hésitation la zone comprise entre Venise et Constantinople au cen-
tre du livre, encadrée par les iles atlantiques et celles des mers orien-
tales. Cette vision d'un monde insulaire qui pouvait se prévaloir de
'autorité de Strabon trouva consistance dans la vision de Tommaso
Porcacchi qui représentait Venise comme un empire sans prince et
par conséquent a I'abri de la tyrannie, «splendeur de la Chrétienté»
et victime de la formidable expansion turque, Porcacchi dressait un
paralléle avec Rome, passée du statut de seigneur du monde, palais de
I’honnéteté et de la sagesse, a (un réceptacle de) I'ignorance, du vice
et de la barbarie. Dans les éditions successives considérablement enri-
chies, Constantinople occupait toujours une place de choix, mais elle
avait cessé d’étre dominée par Sainte Sophie qui avait cédé la place au
sérail du Grand Turc, sommet de la puissante machine impériale ot-
tomane. Camocio privilégiait dans sa cartographie les territoires sous
domination vénitienne, les rencontres armées entre Vénitiens et Turcs
et les forteresses maritimes devenues I'élément le plus caractéristique
du paysage, Lépante formant I'axe du recueil publié en 1574. La fin du
siecle renouait avec une tradition illustrée a la fin du Quattrocento par
la fameuse Peregrinatio in Terram Sanctam de Bernhard von Breyden-
bach publiée a Mayence en 1486. Le Viaggio da Venetia a Costantinopoli
per mare e per terra, et insieme quello di Terrasanta de Giuseppe Rosaccio
connut plusieurs rééditions et reprit le topos de Bordone, Venise, cité
circulaire au milieu des eaux, microcosme du grand continent de la
terre au milieu du grand Océan.
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Douze relations pour étudier les relations de Venise avec la Méditer-
ranée ont surtout mis l'accent sur le monde égéen, tant les relations
de la Gréce, de la Romanie disaient les Vénitiens, étaient étroites avec
la République de Venise. Pendant cinq siecles, la durée couverte par
le recueil, I'intérét s’est déplacé, de Tana et Tenedos a la fin du x1v*
siécle, aux iles Ioniennes, Zante et Corfou, a Trieste au xvI® siécle aux
portes mémes de I'ancien duché, que les archiducs, bien aidés par les
Génois, avaient arraché a Venise a l'issue de la guerre de Tenedos. On
voit combien les horizons vénitiens se sont rétrécis, ce dont témoigne
aussi I'invention de I'escale de Spalato dont I'objectif était de capter
le commerce balkanique des produits de I'élevage et des matieres pre-
miéres. Venise n’a jamais négligé ces productions, la mise en valeur
d’lles déshéritées comme les Kornat balayées par la bora contribuait
a son ravitaillement. Ces douze relations montrent aussi les change-
ments intervenus dans I'historiographie et les préoccupations des his-
toriens: il y a un demi-siécle, elles auraient fait une large place aux
navires, a leur voilure, peut-étre a leur tonnage, aux routes maritimes,
aux produits du grand commerce, aujourd’hui elles privilégient les
hommes, marchands, religieux ou soldats, leurs activités, leurs diffi-
cultés, leurs croyances, les transferts de population, la réception de
Tautre’. Ce déplacement de I'intérét est favorisé par I'exploitation de
sources jusqu’'a une date récente négligées: les déclarations diment
enregistrées des exilés grecs qui pétitionnent ou les confessions des
candidats naguere ‘infidéles’ au baptéme, autant de micro-histoires
personnelles ou familiales souvent dramatiques. La guerre continue
en effet d’étre omniprésente avec ses peurs, ses captifs, ses réfugiés et
ses malchanceux réduits en esclavage, elle introduit en Méditerranée
des renforts inattendus, les vaisseaux hollandais qu’on avait pris I'ha-
bitude de considérer comme des ‘intrus’, alors que Venise a besoin
de I'aide de la jeune puissance calviniste pour faire piéce a ses puis-
sants voisins catholiques, dans le méme temps ou elle dispose encore
d'un monopole des livraisons de bois de marine a I'Ordre de Malte.
L'esprit de croisade n’est jamais trés loin, ou ne serait-ce pas plutot
la nécessité de maintenir des liens commerciaux avec les uns ou les
autres, ' Empire Ottoman voisin ne pouvant pas devenir le client ex-
clusif. Trois relations insistent sur les rapports étroits qui unissent les
populations des lambeaux de I'Empire et montrent une Venise atten-
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tive a récompenser ceux qui se sont battus pour elle, a leur maintenir
un niveau de vie décent, a protéger les mercenaires défaits, a veiller
au salut de leur ame auquel ceuvre une institution fondée par les Jé-
suites. Venise se voit comme une ile, un monde insulaire isolé au cen-
tre du monde nouvellement exploré et, simultanément, a la marge
du monde chrétien. Entre ces empires aux cultures et aux religions
diverses, des passeurs accomplissent des missions indispensables, car
ils ont des parents, des amis, des correspondants de part et d'autre
de frontiéres fluctuantes et mal fixées, je veux parler des Grecs et des
juifs et Venise utilise admirablement leurs compétences et leurs ré-
seaux. Finalement ce que je retiens de ces contributions multiples,
c’est que la Sérénissime ne fut pas I'insupportable dominatrice intolé-
rante qui opprimait des peuples conquis et des religions minoritaires,
elle savait faire sa place aux initiatives des uns et des autres, méme a
celle des sujets, a une époque ou le libéralisme n’avait pas triomphé
et ou son champion, I’Angleterre, imposait des actes de navigation
qui excluaient les étrangers du commerce maritime et n’étaient pas
si éloignés des vieux monopoles vénitiens et de la revendication de
souveraineté sur la mer.
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VENICE, GENOA
AND THE FIGHTS OVER THE ISLAND
OF TENEDOS (LATE FOURTEENTH
AND EARLY FIFTEENTH CENTURY)

RutHY GERTWAGEN

N 1377 a war broke between Venice and Genoa over the island of

Tenedos that lies at the entrance to the Straits of the Dardanelles in
N-E Aegean Sea (MaP 1). In the framework of the renewal in March 1376,
with a delay of one year, of the treaty that had run its five-year course
between Venice and John V, the Byzantine emperor and the original
owner of the island, the emperor ceded Tenedos to the Venetians. The
Genoese, who endeavored to annul the completion of the pact, released
Andronicus IV, John’s V rebellious son, from his prison and assisted him
to depose his father and to be coroneted as an emperor. In return, An-
dronicus promised to give the Genoese the island of Tenedos. Never-
theless, when the Genoese of Pera came to accomplish their claim, the
inhabitants of Tenedos, who were the deposed emperor’s supporters,
resisted to them and delivered the island to the Venetians. The Vene-
tians fortified the island and nominated Donato Tron as governor (cap-
tain), replaced three month later by Antonio Venier. Venice’s rejection
to deliver Tenedos to the Genoese of Pera on behalf of the Byzantine
emperor, on the pretext that Andronicus was an usurper, and the events
that resulted from Venice’s refusal were the immediate cause to the war
of Tenedos. In 1379 the war was shifted by Genoa to the Adriatic Sea, to
Chioggia, the outpost of Venice on the Adriatic. To besiege Chioggia
(1379-1380), Genoa joined forces with Hungary, the rival of Venice for
the control of Dalmatia in the Eastern Adriatic Sea and with the en-
emies of Venice in its hinterland, on the Terraferma. After Chioggia had
been conquered for a short time by the allies, Venice eventually won the
maritime siege. On the other hand, maritime incidents that continued
between Venice and Genoa in the Adriatic and Liguria seas until March
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1381 ended without any clear victory by either side.* With the media-
tion of Amadeus VI, the count of Savoy and John's V cousin, Venice
and its rivals signed in Torino, in August 1381, a peace agreement. The
Pact of Torino was formulated by the count as a compromised ver-
sion, after each of the parties had submitted its requests to him.

The Pact of Torino that concerns the N-E Mediterranean forced
Venice to hand over the island of Tenedos in two month to the count of
Savoy, the arbitrator, to transfer the local inhabitants, eventually to the
islands of Crete and Negroponte and to destroy its fortifications. Venice
had to guarantee the carrying out of this clause by depositing 150,000
fiorini to either Bologna, Pisa, Ancon or Florence that eventually agreed
to. Both Venice and Genoa were permanently prohibited from using
the island, including for merely anchorage. Both were forbidden for two
years to sail to Tana, in the Sea of Azov, in the N-E of the Black Sea.*

The aim of the present paper is three folds: to pinpoint the meaning
of the articles of the above-clause, while highlighting the importance
of the island of Tenedos in the maritime layout of Venice and Genoa.
We will see that holding, and alternatively losing, the island had a dif-
ferent meaning for each of these maritime powers, with bearing on
the policy concerning their maritime commercial activity in the N-E
Mediterranean. Furthermore, the implications were not only limited
to this area but included the Adriatic and Ionian Seas as well. This
paper also provides a fresh and more accurate profile, than the one

! For the background of the war of Tenedos and the anti-Venetian coalition till the Pact
of Torino, see R. CEssi, Storia della Repubblica di Venegia, Firenze, Giunti Martello, 19812,
Pp- 327-330; S. ROMANIN, Storia documentata di Venegia, Venezia, Filippi, 1972%, 111, pp. 186-
214; E THIRIET, Venise et U'occupation de Ténédos au x1v° siécle, in IDEM, Etudes sur la Romanie
greco- vénitienne (x°-xv* siécles), London, Variorum reprints, 1977 («Collected studies», 60),
no. 11, pp. 220-228; F. C. LANE, Venice: A Maritime Republic, Baltimore, The Johns Hopkins
University Press, 1978, pp. 190-196; Lane detailed the war at Chioggia; B. KrRex1é, Dubrovnik
(Ragusa) and the War of Tenedos/ Chioggia (1378-1381), in IDEM, Dubrovnik, Italy and the Balkans
in the Late Middle Ages, London, Variorum reprints, 1980 («Collected studies», 125), no. vi,
pp- 2-3; IDEM, Le relagioni fra Venegia, Ragusa e le popolagioni serbo-croate, ibidem, no. 1v, pp.
395-398. Surdich only emphasizes the Genoese claim to the island owing to Andronicus’
promise: E SURDICH, Genova e Venegia fra tre e quattrocento, Genova, Bozzi, 1970, p. 26.
On the background for John’s V renewal every five years the Pact with Venice see D. M.
NicoL, Byzantium and Venice, A Study in Diplomatic and Cultural Relations, Cambridge, Cam-
bridge University Press, 1988, pp. 309-312.

* For the complete list of clauses of the Pact of Torino, see ROMANIN, op. cit., 111, pp.
214-216. This paper will relate to mainly those clauses that discuss the island of Tenedos
and the N-E Mediterranean.
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made up till now, of the various geopolitical systems and political
powers involved in and affected by these violent conflicts.

READING INTO THE ARTICLES OF THE PAcCT
OF TORINO REGARDING THE ISLAND OF TENEDOS

Just at first glance of this Pact, one cannot ignore the complete over-
looking of the Byzantine emperor, the original owner of the island of
Tenedos. It was highly likely due to John’s V vassalage status under the
Ottomans since late 1372 or early 1373, a status shared in 1376 also by his
usurper son, Andronicus IV. In fact, in 1376 the Ottomans, manipulated
by the Genoese, helped Andronicus to depose his father, in return for
Gallipoli in the N-g Dardanelles, in addition to Andronicus’ vassalage
obligation.? It should be noted that the Ottomans had conquered Gal-
lipoli in 1354 and lost it as a result of a Crusade in 1366, headed by the
same Amadeus, the arbitrator of the Pact of Torino, who must have
grown personal sensitivity to the increasing power of the Ottomans in
the N-E Mediterranean on expense of Constantinople. One could argue
that Amadeus deliberately demanded Venice to deliver him the island of
Tenedos and not to the Byzantine emperor his cousin, in order to pre-
vent its fall, like Gallipoli, to the Ottomans. In other words, the Byzan-
tine emperor was no more considered an independent political figure.
Another intriguing article concerns the inclusion of Tana in N-E
of the Sea of Azov, in N-E Black Sea. Tana was the most important
reloading port in the N-E of the Black Sea for the Far Eastern com-
modities and for south Russian products that formed the core of the
international trade to Northern Italy, Southern, Central and N-w Eu-
rope. In contrast to the previous war between Venice and Genoa, the
third Genoese war/the war of the Bosporus (1351-1355), Tana was not
the declared target of the war of Tenedos. The third Genoese war had
not ended either with a clear-cut victory of either side.* The article
regarding Tana in the Pact of Torino, however, proves that the war of

3 On John’s V subordination to the Ottomans see J. W. BARKER, Manuel II Palaeologus
(1391-1425): A Study in Late Byzantine Statesmanship, New Brunswick (NJ), Rutgers University
Press, 1969, pp. 18-22 and notes 42, 46. Regarding the circumstances of 1376, see ibidem,
pp- 20-31; G. T. DENNIS, The Reign of Manuel II Palaeologus in Thessalonica, 1382-1387, Rome,
Pont. Institutum Orientalium Studiorum, 1961, pp. 37-38.

4 On the third Genoese war see M. BALARD, A propos de la bataille du Bosphore: Uexpédition
geénoise de Paganino Doria a Constantinople (1351-1352), « Travaux et mémoires du Centre de
recherche d’histoire et de civilization byzantines», 1v, 1970, pp. 431-469.
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Tenedos was not only for the possession of this particular island, but
over the control of the above-mentioned international trade that was
at the core of existence of both Venice and Genoa and the reason for
the violent conflicts in the Eastern Mediterranean.

It should be pointed out that by 1380 the Genoese had accomplished
the conquest of the shore of the Mongol Peninsula of Crimea, includ-
ing the Venetian quarters in the local port towns of Soldaja, Calara
and Provosto. The Mongols had to acknowledge their territorial loss-
es by the peace treaties they signed with the Genoese in 1380 and later,
in 1381 and 1387. In other words, the Genoese could have bypassed the
interdiction to sail to Tana for two years and could trade with Tana
through their colony in Caffa, whereas the Venetians were excluded
completely from this region. In fact, the Pact of Torino enabled the
Genoese to achieve their goal since the 1270s, to prevent Venice to
reach the important port of Tana. Backed by the Pact of Torino, the
Genoese sent vessels to Vosporo and Matrega that controlled the en-
trance to the Sea of Azov to prey for and catch those Venetian ships
that might have violated the prohibition. In both cities the Genoese
had a consul.’ The only ports the Venetian could trade in the Black
Sea on the morrow of the Pact of Torino were Varna and Anchia-
los along the Bulgarian coast in the South-West and Trebizond, on
the southern coast.® Economically and prestigiously speaking, the
detention of Venice’s trade with Tana caused the Serenissima severe
losses. Venice tried to soften the blow by initiating heavy investments
in Mumluk Syria and Egypt, where the Genoese had already been
strongly established, by demanding in 1382 from the Mamluk Sultan
to found a Venetian colony in Damietta in Egypt. Furthermore, Ven-

> IDEM, Génes et la mer Noire (X111 — xv° siécles), «Revue Historique», 252, 1, 1983, pp. 44,
47-49; IDEM, La Romanie génoise, (x11° — début du xv* siécle), Génes-Rome, Bibliothéque des
Bcoles francaises d’Athenes et de Rome, 1978, 1, pp. 150-162; S. PAPACOSTEA, Quod non iretur
ad Tanam: un aspect fondamental de la politique génoise dans la mer Noire au x1v*siécle, «Revue
des Etudes sud-est Européennes», X1v, 2/1, 1978, pp. 201-203 and note 3, pp. 214-215. In con-
trast to Nicol, who completely ignores the geopolitical shifts in the Northern Black Sea
and endows the Venetians unrealistic abilities to overcome this clause: NicoL, Bygantium
and Venice, cit., pp. 321-322.

¢ S. P. Kareov, L'Impero di Trebigonda Venegia Genova e Roma 1204-1461, rapporti poltici,
diplomatici e commerciali, Roma, Il Veltro, 1986, p. 108. Along with Trebizond Stéckly men-
tioned also Provato near Caffa in the Crimea, however there is no evidence for this: D.
STOCKLY, Le systéme de Uincanto des galées du marché a Venise (fin x1r® — miliew xv° siecle),
Leiden-New York-Koln, Brill, 1995, p. 11. On the resume of the commercial line to the Black
Sea and the route followed by the Romania convoy in the Black Sea see ibidem, pp. 111-112.
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ice increased the number of the merchant galleys sailing to Alexan-
dria and especially to Beirut. The rate of the leasing of these galleys
exceeded those sailing to the Black Sea.” The hard blow Venice suf-
fered to its commerce in the Black Sea was sharpened by the clause
that concerns the complete neutralization of the island of Tenedos.

As much as the neutralization of the island of Tenedos sounds log-
ic, to root away the cause of the war, it practically endowed a diplo-
matic victory to Genoa regarding several aspects. First, the Genoese
achieved their goal to deprive Venice of the island. Second, Venice’s
legitimate possession of Tenedos was denied, while at the same
breath, the Genoese aggressiveness, expressed by deposition of John
V, the legal Byzantine emperor, to win the island for themselves was,
even if unconsciously, acknowledged by the Western powers, not di-
rectly involved in the war and that were represented, one could say,
by Amadeus the count of Savoy and the arbitrator between Venice
and Genoa.

The Genoese were in no delay to audaciously take advantage of this
clause of the Pact. They suggested being those to destroy, on their ac-
count, the fortifications of the island.® On the face of it a generous of-
ter to remove the heavy financial burden involved in such an operation
from Venice, who had suffered, as well as Genoa itself, of a severe eco-
nomic and financial crisis as a result of the war.® It is highly likely that
Genoa wanted a foothold in the island to take it over. Genoa’s real aim
must have been transparent and, therefore, was denied by Amadeus.

Although failing this time, Genoa demonstrated persistence to
reach this goal. Benedetto delle Torre, the overseer Genoa sent to
Tenedos to witness the island’s submission by Zanachi Mudazzo, the
Venetian governor (baiulus) of Tenedos, to Amadeus’ delegate, ut-
tered this aim explicitly. Benedetto whispered at Mudazzo’s ear that
by the moment the Venetians deliver Tenedos, the Genoese will take
it over and punish the local inhabitants that had collaborated with the
Venetians. Mudazzo reported about it in writing in January 1381/1382

7 E. ASHTOR, The Levant Trade in the Later Middle Ages, Princeton, Princeton University
Press, 1983, pp. 111-126. ® SurbicH, Genova e Venegia, cit., pp. 26-27 and p. 27, note 9.

? Regarding Venice, see R. C. MUELLER, Effetti della guerra di Chioggia (1378-1381) sulla vita
economica e sociale di Venegia, «Ateneo Veneto», XIX, 1981, pp. 27-41. Regarding Genoa, see
S. EPSTEIN, Genoa and the Genoese, 958-1528, Chapel Hill, University of North Carolina Press,
1996, p. 233; Epstein wrongly indicates that Genoa won the island according to the Pact of
Torino, and that it promised not to fortify the island.
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to the Metropolis, suggesting to the Serenissima not to hand over the
island and to blame him for refusing to do so. In addition he wrote
on the garrison’s refusal to leave the island, since its salary had not
yet been paid, as well as on the locals’ refusal to depart.* At the same
time Mudazzo wrote to Amadeus, count of Savoy, asking him not to
let the island of Tenedos to fall to the hands of the Genoese, suggest-
ing himself as governor on behalf of the count.”

One can safely claim that Mudazzo’s fear of the Genoese was not
without ground.™ Past experience proved that the Genoese took all
means to achieve their aims, while violating instructions of the high-
est authorities in the Western world. A famous case was the conquest
in 1346 of the island of Chios by a Genoese fleet, commanded by Si-
mone Vignosi that had originally been on its way, on papal mission,
to Caffa in the Northern Black Sea to protect the Christian mission
against the Mongols. Vignosi decided to deviate from his original
mission and to take over the island of Chios in order to prevent its
temporal use as a logistic base by the Crusade, headed by the Pope,
to defend Smyrna in Asia Minor against the Turks. The Venetians pro-
vided the naval aid for this Crusade.” Vignosi’s pretext was that the
moment the Venetians had put a foothold on the island, it would have
been difficult, if possible at all, to make them leave Chios after accom-
plishing their goals. In other words, Vignosi acted in the same way he
feared the Venetians might have. One could claim that Vignosi acted
on his own. Nevertheless, Genoa, the Metropolis, did not order him
to give the island back; in other word, his operation was approved. No
real punishment action was inflicted by the papacy against Vignosi or

° This was a letter that Mudazzo wrote to the Venetian Senate 11 January 1382, explai-
ning why he will not deliver the island to Amadeus’ delegate. I'll return below to this
important issue: asve: Libri Commemoriali, lib. 111, ff. 56-57.

" SurbicH, Genova e Venegia, cit., p. 29 and note 19.

 In contrast to Surdich, who argues that Mudazzo’s real motives for his letter to Venice
not to deliver the island were his contacts with the Turks: ibidem, p. 28 and note 17; Sur-
dich, however, fails to say that the Turks Mudazzo had contacts with were those of Phocea
in Asia Minor, who provided him and the people of Tenedos with food; the Ottomans
should be ruled out of this case. On the contacts between Mudazzo and these Turks re-
ported, as we shall see below, p. 362, no. 92, three Venetian nobles arriving to Ragusa from
Crete, where they had received this information.

» BALARD, The Genoese in the Aegean (1204-1453), cit., p. 161; IDEM, La Romanie génoise, cit.,
I, pp. 69-73; my interpretation of Vignosi's motive to take over the island is different from
Balard’s, who infers from the consequences to explain the original tactic.



VENICE, GENOA AND THE FIGHTS OVER TENEDOS 41

Genoa, although Vignosi’s manceuvre caused to difficulties to the pa-
pal against Smyran expedition, while not accomplishing his original
mission commissioned by the papacy, to go to Caffa. Supported by
the Metropolis, Vignosi’s action predicted a change in Genoa’s tactics,
i.e., to exclude Venice from the international trade system in the N-E
Mediterranean by violent and illegal, so to speak, dispossession of
territories from their legal owners; in the case of Chios it was the
Byzantine Empire; in the case of Tenedos, it meant deposing John V,
the legitimate emperor.

The resolution of the Venetian Senate regarding the instructions
given in October 1381 to Pantaleone Barbo, the ambassador to John
V, the Byzantine emperor, on renewal of the treaty, which had run its
five-year course, supports all the above-said arguments. Pantaleone
Barbo was forbidden to discuss Tenedos with the emperor.* Since the
Pact of Torino ignored the emperor, forecasting such a possible issue
for discussion implies suspicion of Genoese involvement. Eventually
Venice’s refusal to hand over Tenedos to the emperor, on the pretext
that the Pact of Torino forbade it, lead to the emperor’s declination
to renew the afore-mentioned treaty.” Ironically, this was the same
emperor, who originally had ceded Venice the island in 1376 and was,
because of his action, deposed by the Genoese. In 1381, due to new
circumstances, he must have acted under Genoese pressure that used
all presumptuous means to win the island.

These events convinced Pantaleone to support Mudazzo’s refusal
to deliver the island to Amadeus’ delegate.” The Venetian Senate
resolution made on November 14, 1381 points to the senators decision
to follow Mudazzo’s idea and to blame him for not yielding the island.
The Venetian ambassadors to Genoa on 13 March 1382 were accordingly
instructed how to discuss the new situation.” The Genoese, however,

“ asve: Senato-Misti, Secreta, reg. 37, f. 21r.

 NicoL, Byzantium and Venice, cit., p. 322; Nicol only laconically refers to the renewal
of the treat. The analysis of the whole scene is mine.

'S In contrast to Surdich, who argues that Mudazzo was motivated only by the will of
the Islanders that refused to leave the island and chose him as their leader; Surdich’s claims
that Pantaleone’s protest against Mudazzo’s move was vague and that he was, therefore,
punished when the whole issue was resolved, is speculative: SURDICH, Genova e Venegia,
cit,, p. 28 and note 15. As we shall see later, Venice used all scheming means, Pantaleone so
called punishment included, to keep holding the island.

7 asve: Senato-Misti, Secreta, reg. 37, ff. 31r-33r, 14 Nov. 1381; £. 577, 10 Mar. 1382.
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who must have been alert to Benedetto’s delle Torre whispered
declaration, did not buy Venice’s excuse and criticized the Venetians
for not having intended to begin with to meet their obligation to hand
over the island of Tenedos nor to pay the pledged money. According
to the Genoese, it was typical to Venetian behavior «...due to the
famous Venetian contempt to others, which they [the Venetians]
wrap by what they call justice». In addition, Genoa required Florence
to pay the pledge of 150,000 fiorini in six month.*

Thiriet argues that the Venetian Senate did not support Mudazzo
for a long time and publically declared him as mutineer. The canceller
Caresini and the doge Michele Morosini, two politicians with experi-
ence in foreign affairs, Thiriet argues, initiated this change of attitude.
Morosini had been one of Venice’s delegates that negotiated the Pact
of Torino and one of the delegates sent to Genoa, still in early 1382 to
explain the delay in the execution of the clause regarding the island of
Tenedos. According to Thiriet, the new policy resulted from Venice’s
exhaustion after the war of Tenedos and consequently its reluctance
to end with another war.* Thiriet also argues that until mid 1383 Ven-
ice invested all efforts in taking over the island from Mudazzo, howev-
er, then the Serenissima changed its opinion regarding the destruction
of the island’s fortifications and the evacuation of its local population.
Thiriet relies on Antonio’s Veniero, the new Venetian doge, sugges-
tion to the Senate in June 1383 on issues to be discussed in Genoa. The
ambassadors had to emphasize the island’s importance to navigation
to N-E Mediterranean, therefore it was essential to make it a strong-
hold for Christianity. A bare island might facilitate its capture by the
Ottomans.*

** The Genoese protest is quoted by one of the Venetian Senate’s versions of the reply
to Genoa, discussed in April: ibidem, f. 71, 8 Apr. 1382; Surdich, who ignored these do-
cuments, erroneously argued that Genoa sincerely believed Venice’s excuses for the fol-
lowing four month later as well, until May 1382: SURDICH, Genova e Venegia, cit., p. 31 and
pp- 3132, note 26. The references, however, that Surdich refers to, deal with the incident
the Venetian mission encountered in Genoa, defending Florence for not having paid the
pledge. This argument is reasonably argued by G. Bolognini, cited by Surdich himself in
the same note 26, but whom Surdich rejects.

' THIRIET, Venise, cit., p. 232; Roberto Cessi, a most prominent scholar on Venice men-
tioned laconically that there is no way that Venice supported the resurrection: Cessi, Sto-
ria, cit., p. 331.

*° THIRIET, Venise, cit., pp. 234-235 and p. 235, note 1; in this note Thiriet also introduces
Sanudo’s explanation that the Ottomans might use it as a base to invade Greece: IDEM, La
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As we shall see later, Thiriet, who only used part of the doge’s sug-
gestion, pulled it out of its chronological and circumstantial context.
The Venetian documents prove to the opposite i.e., to Venice’s consist-
ent scheming efforts to detain as long as possible the deliverance of the
island of Tenedos. The present paper argues that for Venice, who suf-
fered of a deficient geopolitical layout in N-E Mediterranean, holding
the island of Tenedos was the core of its existence as a reloading port
in the N-E Adriatic to Southern, Central and N-w Europe for the inter-
national commerce from the Far East through the Black Sea and for
Black Sea local commodities. For Genoa, who enjoyed an auspicious
layout in N-E Mediterranean, holding the island only was to inflict a
deadly blow on Venice’s role as a reloading port for the internation-
al commerce conducted in the Black Sea, by depriving the Venetian
commercial convoys anchorage at Tenedos. It is, therefore, necessary
to pinpoint the importance of the island in each of the communes’
geopolitical layout along sea routes in N-E Mediterranean. We will see
that, in contrast to Genoa, Venice has a history of twenty year efforts
before the war of Tenedos to acquire the island. Furthermore, since
the late 1360s Venice made efforts to get another place in N-E Mediter-
ranean, close to Constantinople, to challenge the Genoese advanta-
geous position near the Byzantine Capital and vs the Black Sea.

THE POSITION OF THE ISLAND OF TENEDOS
ALONG NAVIGATION ROUTES IN N-E MEDITERRANEAN

Several factors combined to create favored trunk routes for long-di-
stance voyages in the Mediterranean: geography, including topogra-
phy and the configuration of the coasts; meteorological conditions,
including prevailing winds; oceanographic characteristics, especially
the direction and strength of currents; and technological limitations,
especially those of ships and the necessity to provision mainly with
water.” The last “Venetian’ port of call for Venice’s commercial con-

Romanie vénitienne au moyen Age, le developpement et Uexploitation du domain colonial vénitien
(x11°-xv* siécles), Paris, de Boccard, 1975, pp. 353-355; Cessi was the first to suggest the same
view: CEssI, Storia, cit., p. 334.

* On a detailed discussion on this subject with examples regarding navigation from the
Western Mediterranean and the Adriatic to the Levant through the Aegean and vice versa
in the twelfth-sixteenth centuries: R. GERTWAGEN, Harbours and Port Facilities along the Sea
Lanes to the Holy Land in How They made War in the Crusader Period, ed. by ]J. Pryor, Burling-
ton (VT), Ashgate, 2006, Pp. 95-116.
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voys and the military fleet in the Northern Aegean aiming towards
the Dardanelles was Negroponte (modern Evia) in the Northern
Aegean Sea. Because of the particular navigation conditions in both
channels of Negroponte due to winds and currents regime, especially
their peculiarity near the town of Negroponte, as well as due to sho-
als and sand banks, the town of Negroponte was not quite often the
final port of call especially for the merchant ships. These vessels did
not proceed north-eastwards of the town of Negroponte, by crossing
the bridges that connected the island and the mainland, into Oreos
channel to continue via the Sporades islands in the N-E Aegean versus
the Dardanelles. The bridges, one of which was made of stone, pre-
vented the commercial ships to cross, since they, in contrast to galleys,
could not remove the mast and the sails. On those occasions that the
galleys did cross, to sail to the N-E Mediterranean, they returned back-
wards through the southern channel of Negroponte, Petalioi chan-
nel. Then, passing by the harbours of Karystos or Castri at the s-E
of channel, they sailed northeastwards through the straits of Doro.*
(Map 2) That was the route taken by the Venetian war galley, of a
trireme type, that carried Cyriac of Ancona from Chalcis/Negroponte
to Chios, in 1443 via the Cyclades islands. Cyriac wrote about his vo-
yage to the Byzantine emperor on the board of trireme off Oreos. The
trireme must have sailed into the Oreos channel as part of its original
mission to pursue pirates in the Aegean. The trireme then turned back
and sailed down the channel of Petlioi and thence, to Chios. From the
island of Chios Cyriac intended to reach Constantinople on board of
a safer vessel.” He probably meant a merchant sailer/cog or a mer-
chant galley, since most likely he did not wish to go through a similar
voyage, conditions he must have experienced, while sailing from the
Cyclades towards the island of Chios. The voyage towards the N-E

** There were two bridges at the Negroponte at the time. For detailed discussion on
the bridges, the shoals and their treatment in the Venetian period, and on the particular
navigation conditions in both channels of Negroponte, with the relevant bibliography and
documents, see EADEM, Does Naval Activity — Commercial and Military — Need Artificial Ports?
The Case of Venetian Harbours and Ports in the Ionian and Aegean till 1500, « Graeco Arabica»,
IX-X, 2004, Pp. 170-172 and notes 29-30.

» Cyriac oF ANcona (Ciriaco d’Ancona, 1391-1452), Letters and Travels, ed. and transl. by
E. W. Bondar with C. Foss, Cambridge (mMa), Harvard University Press, 2003, p. 9; on the
trireme type see E C. LANE, From Biremes to Triremes, in IDEM, Venice and History, Collected
Papers, Baltimore, The Johns Hopkins Press, 1966, pp. 189-192.
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Aegean was made against prevailing north easterlies, the Etesian or
Meltemi winds.

The moderate Etesian reaches the force of 2-4 knots but at noon in
spring and autumn it reaches 5-6 knots. During the winter month, be-
tween November and March as well as during summer time, it reach-
es 7 knots. When the Etesian reaches 6-7 knots it causes to strong
storms to descend from the mountains. These might reach the force
of 8 knots in Doro strait, along the southern shores of the island of
Andros, in the strait of Keos or Zia, and between the island bear-
ing the same name and the southern arm of Petalioi gulf. Then the
force of the currents coming from the Dardanelles increases, and they
are particular strong, five knots, in the strait of Doro, in the narrow
channel that separates between the islands of Andros and its southern
neighbour, Tinos, and in the wide channel that separates the island of
Mykonos and the island of Ikara at its south.** These must have been
the navigation conditions that the Ottoman fleet met while sailing in
July 1470 from Negroponte, after having conquered the city. The fleet
sailed via Doro strait towards Chios.” In the fourteenth and fifteenth
century the sailing ships (naves) and the various types of galleys, mer-
chant and war alike, found it difficult, despite of the improvements
at the early fourteenth century of their hulls design and rigging, to
sail against prevailing winds and contrary currents. The various types
of galleys could indeed make their way by rowing, but then, they
were in danger of being swept by the waves and sinking. This danger
was attributed to their low freeboard, which prevented them heeling
too far. The galleys would have found the waves of 0.5-1 meters chal-
lenging and waves of 1.2 beyond their capabilities.** Descriptions of
various voyages in the late fourteenth and fifteenth centuries of both
commercial (naves and big merchant galleys) and military (galeae) ships,

> The Black Sea Pilot, London, Hydrographic Department under the authority of the
Lords Commissioners of the Admiralty, 1969'*, v1, pp. 85-86; Mediterranean Pilot, London,
Hydrographic Department under the authority of the Lords Commissioners of the Admi-
ralty, 1987%, 1v, pp. 9, 214, 251.

»  Annali Veneti dell’anno 1457-1500 del senatore Domenico Malipiero ordinati e abbreviati dal
Senatore Francesco Longo con prefagione e annotagione di Agostino Segreto, « Archivio Storico
Italiano», Vi, 1, 1843, pp. 50, 56, 60.

*¢ J. PRYOR, The Geographical Conditions of Galley Navigation in the Mediterranean, in The
Age of The Galley, Mediterranean Oared Vessels since Pre-Classical Times, ed. by R. Gardiner, J.
Morrison, London, Conway Maritime Press, 1995, pp. 209, 213.
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including horse carriers, show that with the blow of moderate winds
in the N-E Mediterranean, it required the various vessels around six
days and nights to reach the Dardanelles from s-g Petalioi channel
at Negroponte. The Genoese fleet commanded by Paganino Doria
reached the island of Chios in October 1351 after four nights and days.
Amadeus’, the count of Savoy, fleet reached the island of Lesbos from
Negroponte in August 1366, after five days and nights. In moderate
winds the war and merchant galleys sailed, like the naves with only
sails, to save the energy of the rowers. Another day and half were re-
quired from the island of Chios to the mouth of the Dardanelles. The
navis that carried in 1403 Roy Gonzales de Clavijo, the Spanish ambas-
sador, to Samarkand reached after 36 hours the island of Tenedos,
near the mouth of the Dardanelles, from the island of Chios.” (Map
1). Moderate contradictory winds were, however, not common. One
could, therefore, safely estimate that the average time to arrive from
Negroponte to the Dardanelles was eight days and nights.
Re-provisioning with food and mainly fresh drinking water was in-
dispensible. Food was vital for energy to manceuvre heavy rudders and
large Latin sails of the war galleys and the merchant galleys of all size
and of the sailers of chocha type and even more so, for galley oarsmen
to maintain high levels of exertion. Ship’s biscuit provided glucose
and was the basis of seamen’s diets. This also included vegetables or
legumes, which provided B vitamins and minerals, and onion and
garlic, which contained vitamin C and B complex, anti-oxidants, anti-
dermatomycosis and anti-viral, and minerals. Wine softened the hard
biscuits and ameliorated the taste of the food. Water, however, was
the main fuel, due to the sweating and exposure to salt water both
on sailers and war ships.*® Benedetto Cotrugli insisted in his opus,
De navigatione, compiled in 1464-1465, on the importance of water as
elementary necessity for the mariners. Although being a merchant
from Ragusa, Benedetto Cotrugli specifically states that he quoted

¥ BALARD, A propos de la bataille du Bosphore, cit., p. 440. On Amadeus’ fleet voyage see
K. M. SETTON, The Papacy and the Levant, (1204-1571), Philadelphia, American Philosophical
Society, 1976, 1, p. 298 ; Attia wrongly indicated that it only took Amadeus’ fleet two days to
reach Gallipoli from Negroponte: A. S. AtT1a, The Crusade in The Later Middle Ages, New
York, Kraus Reprint Corp., 1965, p. 388; Narrative of the Embassy of Ruy Gongaleg de Clavijo
to the Court of Timour at Samarcand A.D. 1403-6, transl. with notes by C. R. Markham, New
York, Burt Franklin, 1970, pp. 25-27.

*  GERTWAGEN, Harbours and Port Facilities, cit., p. 96.
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the mariners, who served on Venetian ships, on board of which he
sailed.” Rowers, however, required the hugest amount of water. An
experimental run, rowing a vessel at speed for four hours from Crete
to Santorini in the s-w Aegean Sea, revealed that an oarsman needed
one litre of water per hour. Food in the late medieval and early Ren-
aissance periods did not contain these qualities. During the summer
month in the Mediterranean, the water supply dwindled away very
quickly. Summer was the period of the Venetian muda to Romania
and Constantinople. The big merchant galleys of the fourteenth and
fifteenth century could only carry fresh water for one week and the
war galleys only between four to seven days.*® While one can only
assume that big merchant galleys would have sacrificed the water on
account of merchandize, it is very likely that during wartime the war
galleys carried less quantity of water, since then, maneuverability
considerations were on expense of water. Furthermore, since efforts
invested by the rowers and mariners during war time was double, say
the least, then in peace time, it was crucial for the various types of
galleys of the fourteenth and fifteenth century to make a port of call
before arriving, and certainly, before entering the Dardanelles to re-
provision with fresh drinking water.

Making a port before entering the Dardanelles was vital also due
to the local difficult navigation conditions. When the Etesian reaches
force of 2-4 knots, the northern currents in the straits of the Bosporus
and the Dardanelles reach, due to their narrowness, the force of 2.5
to 3 knots; when the force of the winds reaches 6-5 knots the force
of the northern currents in the narrow straits reach 5 knots. Such a
current, after crossing the Dardanelles, runs fiercely to the south-east,
west and south-west of the Aegean, west and south-west to the island
of Tenedos. The rate of the northern current, whose origin is in the
Black Sea, is the greatest during the season when the rivers discharge
the greatest volume of water, due to the throwing of the snow, and
the increasing force of the northerlies. This happens usually during

* Il trattato De navigatione di Benedetto Cotrugli (1464-1465). Edigione commentata del ms.
Schoenberg 473 con il testo del ms. 557 di Yale, a cura di P. Falchetta, «Studi Veneziani», n.s.,
LVII, 2009, p. 102; Cotrugli mentions the water issue as part of the qualities of a good har-
bor. On Cotrugli, his opus and his sources, see ibidem, pp. 15-65.

* J. PRYOR, Geography, Technology and War: Studies in the Maritime History of the Medi-
terranean 649-1571, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1988, pp. 5, 75-84; IDEM, The
Geography Conditions, cit., p. 210; DoTsON, Economics and Logistics of Galley Warfare, in The
Age of the Galley, cit., pp. 219-220.
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spring and summer, the conventional sailing seasons. Such navigation
conditions pose even today obstacles to boats under sail and to low
powered yachts and the more so for the various medieval vessels due
to their hull design and rigging.” A modern navigation instructions
book for yachts recommends to such vessels, especially to low powered
ones of seven ton powered by 17 H.p. diesel, but also to those with
powerful engines, to plan carefully the entrance into the Dardanelles,
via the sE of the straits and then to proceed northwards following the
Asiatic coast to avoid the strong northern current in the mid-straits
channel and along the European side. Only on the return journey a
yacht can follow the European coast to take a full advantage of the
northern current.”* One can safely claim that vessels only propelled
by sails or oars must have followed this same route, i.e., passing by the
island of Imbros, N-E to Tenedos (MaP 1). The above-mentioned Ruy’s
Gonzales de Clavijo description illustrates realistically the difficulties
met by the navis that carried him, while sailing from the island of
Lesbos on October 1st 1403 towards the Dardanelles and their crossing
versus Constantinople against the Etesian and the northern current.
The northeasterly that strengthened in mid-day dropped the sails of
the ship into the water and pushed the vessel backwards to the island
of Lesbos, where it anchored for four days. On October 6th, at dawn,
the vessel set sail again, and taking advantage of the moderate Etesian,
it doubled its speed and arrived almost at the south of the island of
Tenedos, when the wind reached force of six knots. The ship could
hardly make safely a shelter in a bay at the eastern side of the island.
They had to anchor for fifteen days in this bay, where they provisioned
with water and fire wood, till the storm calmed down. On the sixteenth
day the ship re-set to the straits of the Dardanelles, taking advantage
of the Poyrag light N-E breeze, and it arrived at the island of Imbros,
where it had to anchor for 36 hours, since the wind totally calmed
down. Only the following morning, with the blow of the ‘right wind’
according to de Clavijo, which was the following west-south-western
wind, could the vessel cross the Straits northwards.® Since, however,
the island of Imbros was arid, it was only used for anchorage if there

3" The Black Sea Pilot, cit., vol. V1, pp. 42-43, 85-86.

# R. HEIKELL, Turkish Waters Pilot, A yachtsman’s guide to the Aegean and Mediterranean
coasts of Turkey with the Island of Cyprus, Huntington, Imary Laurie Norie & Wilson, 19892,
p- 30. » Ruy de Gongales de Clavijo, cit., pp. 25-27.
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was no other choice, i.e., difficult navigation conditions at the mouth
of the Dardanelles, or for visiting purposes. The above-mentioned
Benedetto Cotrugli specifically emphasized that water was one of
the important qualities of a good harbor, a quality that the island of
Imbros lacked.*

The west-southern-west wind is common in the Aegean during the
months of winter and autumn, and it causes to storms during Octo-
ber, February and March. As long as it blows strongly and for a long
time, it can change the direction of the strong northern current enter-
ing the Aegean through the straits of the Dardanelles, to weaken its
force and to enable this way the vessels to cross the strait northwards.”
In November 1351, at the eve of the war of the Bosporus, the south-
westerly assisted the espionage vessel of the Genoese fleet that was
commanded by Simone Lecavella, to sail directly from the island of
Chios to south-west of Gallipoli peninsula in the Dardanelles, within
only 12 hours. This, however, was an exception. The main Genoese
fleet, commanded by Paganino Doria that sailed from the island of
Chios towards Constantinople, anchored in the islands of Lesbos and
Tenedos, before crossing the Dardanelles. The fleet that mainly com-
prised merchant galleys, adapted for war requirements that were pro-
pelled by sails for long distance voyages,” must have been detained
in these islands, like de Clavijo’s ship 24 years later, due to the strong
Etesian and northern current.

It should be also noted that anchoring at Tenedos was imperative
on the reverse way as well, although then the voyage was made with
the following Etesian and the northern currents. When Amadeus VI,
the count of Savoy, returned from Gallipoli, at the north of the Dar-
danelles, the island of Tenedos was the first port of call he made after
leaving the straits, in spite of the moderate northerly and the north-
ern currents. From there he sailed directly to Negroponte, which he
reached after five days.” The anchorage at Tenedos was particularly
vital when the force of the northerly and the northern current was

3 [l trattato De navigatione di Benedetto Cotrugli, a cura di Falchetta, cit., p. 102.

% The Black Sea Pilot, cit., V1, p. 39.

3 BALARD, A propos de la bataille du Bosphore, cit., pp. 452, 462-463; Doria took advantage
of these anchorage to levy taxes in the island of Lesbos and to capture four Greek-Byzan-
tine boats at Tenedos.

% SETTON, The Papacy and the Levant, cit., 1, p. 302 and note 164; his fleet included horse
carriers.
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strong. When the afore-mentioned vessel that carried de Clavijo an-
chored, before making the straits of the Dardanelles in October 1403,
at the island of Tenedos due to a northern storm, a ship coming from
Gallipoli found also a shelter at the island.*

3. GENOA’S AND VENICE’'S SEA ROUTES IN N-E MEDITERRANEAN

It should be pointed out that sailing to the N-E Mediterranean re-
quired very often the anchorage at the islands of Chios and Lesbos
before reaching the island of Tenedos or Imbros at the mouth of the
straits. This was the route indicated by the navigation instructions
guides of the thirteenth to the fifteenth centuries, as well as of the
modern ones.” This was the route taken by Venetian merchant gal-
leys, the Romania convoy, going from Negroponte to Constantinople,
after Venice had possessed the island of Tenedos.* These islands were
frequented by Venetian war galleys as well. In 1398, 1400/1401, 1402,
1406 and 1416 the Senate instructed the Venetian naval fleet (the fleet
of the Adriatic) to sail to Chios and Lesbos to reach for information
on the Ottomans, if they intended to leave Gallipoli in the Aegean, as
well as to track after their intentions regarding Constantinople and
the Venetian muda of Romania that had to pass by Gallipoli on its way
from Constantinople to the Aegean.*

% Ruy de Clavijo de Gongales, cit., p. 26.

% ]l Compasso da Navigare, opera italiana della metd del secolo x111, a cura di B. R. Motzo,
Cagliari, Universita di Cagliari, 1947, p. 56; The Book of Michael of Rhodes A Fifteenth Centu-
ry Maritime Manuscript, 1, Facsimile, ed. by D. McGee, Cambridge (Ma)-London, The M1t
Press, 2009, p. 444, fol. 206a and p. 450, fol. 209a; 11, ed. and transl. by A. M. Stahl, transcript.
by E Rossi, p. 578, fol. 206a and p. 596, fol. 209a. Portolan Parma — Magliabecchi, in Die italie-
nischen Portolane des Mittelalters. Ein Beitrag zur Geschichte der Kartographie und Nautik, hrsg.
von K. Kretschmer, Berlin, E. S. Mittler und Sohn, 1909, pp. 326-327. Mediterranean Pilot,
cit., 11, p. 21.

See the indicative and instructive Piero Falchetta’s detailed discussion on the character,
authenticity and limitations of the early modern portolans: P. FALcHETTA, The Portolan of
Michael of Rhodes, in The Book of Michael of Rhodes, cit., 11, ed. by P. O. Long, pp. 193-210. As
I have already discussed it elsewhere, I don't refer to the portolans as recommendations
for planning a course but as a source for information on what to expect once a course was
taken: GERTWAGEN, Harbours and Port Facilities, cit., pp. 101-102.

4 asve: Senato-Misti, Secreta, reg. 44, ff. 107r-108r, 19 June 1399; reg. 45, ff. 44v-45v, 22
Nov. 1400.

4 Ibidem, reg. 44, ft. 44v-45v (13 June 1398); reg. 45: f. 47v, 23 Apr. 1491; reg. 46, f. 4or-v, 28
Aug. 1402; reg. 47, f. 60v, 24 July 1406; ibidem, Duca di Candia, b. 1, no. 6, f. 27v, 3 Febr. 1415.
S. N. KoNSTANTINOS, Documents inédits relatifs a Uhistoire de la Gréce au Moyen Age, Athénes-
Paris, Ekdoseis V. N. Grigoriades, 1880-1890, I-11, pp. 15-16, no. 233, 11 Febr. 1400/1401.
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Since mid-fourteenth century the islands of Chios, Lesbos and Imbros
were in Genoese possession. Since 1351 the Genoese Mahona control-
led permanently the island of Chios. Furthermore in 1355, the Genoese
Francesco Gattiluso married, due to his help to the Byzantine emperor,
the emperor’s sister and received as a dowry the island of Lesbos.*
Although governed by Genoese, these islands were not real colonies
directly answering to Genoa and quite often than not, they have put
their own interests a priori to the Metropolis.# Nevertheless, consider-
ing a mutual rival like Venice that might endanger their commercial
profits, playing according to Genoa policy was also the interests of the
Genoese at Chios and Lesbos. That meant an obstacle to the Venetian
navigation to the N-e Mediterranean, for Venetian vessels were not al-
lowed to anchor. The above-mentioned Venetian vessels that anchored
at Chios and Lesbos on the way to the Dardanelles could, however,
only do it when Venice and Genoa were on good terms.

During war time, it should be stressed, the disadvantage of the
Venetian geopolitical layout in the N-E Aegean was the most promi-
nent. After the conclusion of the battle at the Bosporus straits in 1352,
the Venetian fleet retreated to the island of Crete to recover and re-
provision in order to resume their combat against the Genoese in
Pera, a plan that, as above-mentioned, was never accomplished.* The
discussions in the Venetian Senate in 1431 regarding the attack on the
island of Chios considered again the island of Crete as a base for the
regrouping of the Venetian fleet, its manning and equipping before
sailing off for their mission in the N-E Aegean.® In both crucial events
regarding planning an attack in the N-E Aegean Negroponte was not
considered as an option for a military base. This is not surprising, due
to the above-mentioned difficult navigation conditions in both sides
of the gulf of Negroponte.*

4 BALARD, La Romanie génoise, cit., 1, pp. 82, 123-126, 168-175; IDEM, The Genoese in the
Aegean (1204-1453), «Mediterranean Historical Review», 4, 1989, p. 161.

# Regarding the character of the government in Chios till its submission to Genoa’s
direct control see PH. P. ARGENTI, The Occupation of Chios by the Genoese and their Admini-
stration of the Island, 1346-1566, Described in Contemporary Documents and Official Dispatches,
Cambridge, At The University Press, 1958, I, pp. 106-146.

4 M. MERCE CosTA, Sulla battaglia del Bosforo (1352), «Studi Veneziani», 14, 1972, pp. 205-
206.

4 asve: Duca di Candia, b. 1, 14, f. 2v, 20 Sept. 1431. ARGENTI, The Occupation of Chios, cit.,
11, pp. 402-403, doc. 20, 20 Sept. 1431.

4 GERTWAGEN, Does Naval Activity, cit., pp. 170-172.
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Coming back from the Dardanelles in late autumn and in winter,
either in October or November, the time of the return of the Roma-
nia merchant convoy from the Black Sea and Constantinople, or of
the Venetian fleet that retreated from the Bosporus in winter 1352,
both merchant galleys and war galleys were doomed to confront
the south-south-western storms that are common in the Aegean at
this season. One could assume that the voyage was eased with the
replacement of the southerlies by the following meltemi, since then
the wind that pushed the vessels forward. One could also assume that
the vessels would have reached the northern channel of Negroponte,
Oreos channel (Map 2) thence to the city of Negroponte. Neverthe-
less, at such times the force of the northern currents reaches force of
2.5 knots, a force which was difficult for the various types of galleys
to handle, due to the narrowness of Kriteri and Oreos northern chan-
nel of Negroponte. The vessels had, therefore, to sail sw towards the
straits of Doro, thence to enter Petalioi channel the southern chan-
nel of Negroponte. That was the motive for the Senate’s instruction
that the Romania merchant convoy makes a port at Negroponte only
once, usually on the way to Constantinople and the Black Sea.* Since
Negroponte could not have provided the Venetian naval fleet with a
logistic base already in 1351/1352, and since the Byzantine emperor
had reluctantly to let the Genoese Mahonna to get in 1351 a perma-
nent hold on the island of Chios, the Venetians tried to acquire in
October 1352 the island of Tenedos from the Byzantine emperor for
only the duration of the third Genoese war/the war of the Bosporus.
Unfortunately Venice failed, and resuming the attack of Pera from
Crete was never put in practice, as above-mentioned.*

4 E THIRIET, Les itineraires des vaisseaux vénitiens et le réle des agents consulaires en Romanie
gréco-vénitienne aux x1v*-xv° siécles, in Le genti del mare Mediterraneano, a cura di R. Ragosta,
Napoli, Pironti, 1981 («Biblioteca di storia economica», 5), p. 595. Thiriet, who only refers
to the instructions but not to the motives behind, merely related to the fourteenth century.
For further references that discuss particular situations in this century and in the fifteenth
century see: Asve: Senato-Misti, Secreta, reg. 38, f. 144v, 8 July 1384; f. 48v, 22 July 1384. Reg.
40, f. 397 22 July 1386. Reg. 41, f. 97v, 24 July 1390. Reg. 44, f. 131, 15 July 1397; f. 14v, 26 July
1397; ff. 44v-457, 13 June 1398; ff. 107v-1087, 19 June 1399; f. 1187, 24 July 1399. Reg. 46, ff. 93v-
941, 20 July 1403. Ibidem: Senato, Mar, reg. 1, ff. 107v-1081, 17 July 1442, f. 110v, 27 July 1442.
In 1415 the convoy had to stay at Negroponte and to protect the place against Turkish
incursion until the arrival of the Venetian fleet of the Adriatic: SaTHAS, Documents inédits,
cit., 111, pp. 125-127, No. 679.

# The leasing agreement is in Diplomatarium Veneto-levantinum (sive acta et diplomata, res
venetas graecas atque Levantis illustrantia, a.1351-1454), ed. by G. M. Thomas, New York, B.
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4. THE OTTOMANS AND THE SEA ROUTES
IN THE N-E MEDITERRANEAN

Another emerging actor since the mid-fourteenth century in the N-E
Mediterranean that had a bearing, although indirect, on the issue of
Tenedos were the Ottomans. Until late fourteenth century the Otto-
mans, it should be pointed out, did not own a naval fleet that could
form a maritime threat. The significance and strength of the Ottomans
was their territorial possessions in the Sea of Marmara and in the Dar-
danelles, which they achieved through conquests on land of those pow-
ers that possessed those strategic ports of calls. In the Sea of Marmara
the Ottomans held several islands close to the s-g Asian coast: Imrali,
the Princes islands, Pasalimani and Marmara (Map 3). The Ottomans
took over these islands in 1345-1346, as a result of their land conquest
of Maritime Bythania, whose northern border extended along the east
coast of the Sea of Marmara, as well as a result of their occupation
of the Turkish emirate of Karesi, whose northern border extended
along the eastern coast of the Dardanelles.* In the Dardanelles the Ot-
tomans accomplished their complete control of the northern entrance
of the straits in the 1350s due to two successful acts. First, their pos-
session since the 1340s of Lapseki on the Asiatic side and the second,
taking over Gallipoli, along the European side of the straits opposite
Lapseki. The Ottomans capture of Gallipoli peninsula took place with
troops sent overland from the fortress of Tzympe further to the north,
which had been conquered in 1352. An earthquake that occurred in 1354
brought about the destruction of the site itself of Gallipoli and its im-
mediate repopulation with Ottoman nomad settlers® (Map 3).

Franklin, 1965 («Research and Source Works Series», 112), 1, 17-18, no. 8; on the reason for
the failure of this transaction, see THIRIET, Venise, cit., pp. 222-223; for the circumstances
that lead to Genoese permanent hold on Chios see above, note 42.

4 1. BELDICEANU-STINHERR, La conquéte de la Bithynie maritime, étape decisive dans la fonda-
tion de I’Etat ottoman, in Byzance als Raum gu Methoden und in Halten der historischen Geographie
des dstlichen Mittelmeerraumes, hrsg. von K. Selke, F. Hild, J. Koder, P. Soustal, Vienna, Verlag
der Osterreichischen Akademie der Wissenschaften, 2000, pp. 21-36; E. ZacHARIADOU, Hi-
stories et legends des premiers ottomans, « Turcica», XXVv11, 1995, pp. 65-75; H. INALcIK, The Otto-
man Turks and the Crusades, 1329-1451, in A History of the Crusades. The Impact of the Crusades
on Europe, ed. by H. W. Hazard, N. P. Zacour, Madison (wr), University of Wisconsin Press,
1989, V1, p. 231; C. IMBER, The Ottoman Empire, 1300-1650, New York, Palgrave, 2002, p. 9.

> On the circumstances that lead to establishment of the Ottomans in Tzympe and Gal-
lipoli see H. INaLCIK, The Ottoman Empire, The Classical Age 1300-1600, transl. by N. Izkowitz,
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During northerlies both Gallipoli and Lapseki provided shelter; al-
though during strong northerlies the modern navigation guide for
yacht recommends to go from Lapseki to Gallipoli, since only in
that part of the Straits the force of the winds is weaker than on the
Asiatic side. At Gallipoli the rate of the current is only between 1-1.5
knots.” In other words, entering the Dardanelles the vessels followed
the Asiatic coast until Lapseki, then via Gallipoli they sailed among
Marmara islands and along Marmara Asiatic coast versus Constanti-
nople. The Marmara group of islands: Imrali, the Princes islands pro-
vide shelter from storms on their southern coasts or when the north
winds become strong. The islands of Pagalimani and Marmara of the
Marmara group, protect the Asiatic coast from the northern current,
when its force increases by the strong Etesian.* This favored sea route
was controlled by the Ottomans since mid fourteenth century.

Indeed, during the third Genoese war Ottoman-Venetian relations
were cold, say the least, in sharp contrast to the warm Ottoman-Ge-
noese relations, due to wrong Venetian tactics and underestimation
of the Ottomans.” It is hard to believe that the Ottomans would have
attacked Venetian vessels taking this sea route. Nevertheless, not wel-
coming Venetian vessels inside the ports of call en route, or letting
the Genoese harassing Venetian vessels in them or nearby would have
similarly hardened Venetian navigation.

5. VENICE, THE OTTOMANS, SCUTARI, TENEDOS AND PERA

Venice’s attitude towards the Ottomans changed by 1360s. The turn
point was the failure in 1359 of Christian naval attack, led by Hospi-
taller and Venetian vessels, on Lapseki, N-E of the Dardanelles straits.
The Christians were defeated on land, not by Ottoman vessels.* Ven-

C. Imber, London, Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1973, p. 9; IDEM, The Ottoman Turks and The
Crusaders, 1329-1451, in A History of the Crusades, cit., V1, pp. 229-235; N. OIRONOMIDES, From
Soldiers of Fortune to gagi warriors: the Tgympe Affair, in Studies in Ottoman History in Honour
of Professor V. L. Ménage, ed. by C. Heyhood, C. Imber, Istanbul, The Isis Press, 1994, pp.
239-247.

' R. HEIKEL, Turkish Waters Pilot, London, Imary Laurie Noire & Wilson, 19922, p. 36;
The Black Sea Pilot, v1, cit., pp. 43, 85, 96-97. > The Black Sea Pilot, cit., V1, p. 45.

% Venetian Ottomans relations until early fifteenth century in the frame work of geopo-
litical shifts in the N-E Mediterranean including Venetian-Genoese and Genoese-Ottomans
relations, are discussed in detail by R. GERTWAGEN, Venice’s Policy towards the Ottomans in
the Midst Fourteenth and first Half of the Fifteenth Centuries, « Thesaurismata», in print.

>+ SETTON, The Papacy and the Levant, cit., 1, pp. 236-237.
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ice’s participation might be the major reason for the cold attitude the
Venetian embassy that Venice dispatched in March 1360 to Murad, the
Ottoman emir, to congratulate him on the conquest of Adrianople
in 1359/1360 and the transfer of the royal seat to this city, met.” Since
at the same time, between 1360-1362, Venice watched helplessly the
Genoese harassments of its merchants in Pera and the Black Sea, due
to lack of any logistic base in the area to react, the Venetian Senate
voted in favour of the Byzantine emperor’s appeal in 1362 to establish
a coalition against the Ottomans, under one condition that was sine
qua non — the receipt of the island of Tenedos.* Venice undoubtedly
intended to make the Island a logistic frontal base to its fleet not par-
ticularly against the Ottomans, the Crusade against whom was only
used as a pretext to gain Tenedos, as much as against the Genoese.”
Another condition that Venice stipulated for participation in the coa-
lition was that Genoa should invest identical military efforts in this
union.*® A similar tactic the Venetians used in requiring the collabo-
ration of the king of Cyprus in the league, in order to distract him
from the intention to conduct a Crusade against Egypt; a move that
might have harmed Venice’s commerce in the Mamluk Levant.® The
Genoese, however, who did not intend to impede their relations with
the Ottomans, declined the appeal to join the union. The Byzantine
Emperor, conscious of these political moves, retreated from his inten-
tion to cede to the Venetians the island of Tenedos.®

> A. FaBris, From Adrianople to Constantinople: Venetian — Ottoman Diplomatic Missions,
1360-1453, «Mediterranean Historical Review», 7, 2, 1992, p. 157. Unfortunately the Author
ignores the circumstances for this mission; he discusses also the problem regarding the
dating of the Ottoman conquest of Adrianople: ibidem, note 6.

5 NicoL, Byzantium and Venice, cit., p. 300 and note 2; F. THIRIET, Una proposta di lega
anti-turca tra Venegia, Genova e Bisangio nel 1363, «Archivio Storico Italiano», cxii1, 1955, pp.
325-326; BALARD, La Romanie génoise, cit., 1, p. 86.

7 In contrast to NicoL, Byzantium and Venice, cit., pp. 299-300, and to THIRIET, La Romanie
génoise, cit., p. 173; Venice intended to lease the island for a considerable payment: T. BERTE-
LE, I gioielli della corona bigantina dati in pegno alla republica veneta nel sec. x1v e Mastino II della
Scala, in Studi in onore di Amintore Fanfani, Milano, Giuffre, 1962, 11, pp. 91-101; THIRIET, Una
proposta, cit., p. 325. 58 Ibidem, pp. 323, 332.

> Ibidem, p. 324 and note 9. If at the beginning Venice agreed, however, with great hesi-
tancy, to provide the Crusade with transportation, it immediately redrew. Instead the Se-
nate ordered the Venetian naval fleet to follow the King’s of Cyprus moves: ASHTOR, The
Levant Trade, cit., p. 89.

% SerTON, The Papacy and the Levant, cit., 1, p. 239 and note 71; NicoL, Bygantium and Ve-
nice, cit., p. 300. Regarding Genoa'’s attitude towards this Crusade, see BALARD, La Romanie
génoise, cit., 1, p. 85. On other factors that failed this union and the refusal of John V to cede
the island of Tenedos to Venice, see THIRIET, Una proposta, cit., pp. 326-327.
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Shortly afterwards, the Ottomans themselves changed their atti-
tude towards Venice, by offering the Serenissima Scutari, in N-E the Sea
of Marmara (Marp 3), in return for Venice’s refusal to take part in the
Crusades against them, the one led by the king of Hungary and the
second, by Amadeus, count of Savoy.® Venice agreed to the terms,
undoubtedly, due to its failure in 1362 to obtain the island of Tenedos
from the Byzantine emperor.

Given the precarious status of the Venetians in Constantinople, em-
phasized by the necessity to renew every five years the treaty with the
Byzantine emperor, Scutari that faced Constantinople along the Asi-
atic shore of the Sea of Marmara, could have endowed the Venetians
prestigious strategic advantages. As a Venetian post it would have
counter-balanced at close hand the independent Genoese quarter of
Pera and neutralized the Genoese involvement in the Byzantine in-
ner affairs in Constantinople. At the same time it would have moni-
tored the Genoese relations with the Ottomans, to prevent them to
manipulate the Ottomans against Venice. Furthermore, Scutari could
have been used by the Venetians as a close front base to the Black
Sea, providing the Venetians with a possibility for much more rapid
and efficient reaction to whatever Genoese actions against Venice’s
commercial activities in this area. One has to bear in mind that it was
only a year earlier, in 1365, that the Genoese had conquered Soldaja
from the Mongols, thus expanding the Genoese hold along the south-
ern coast of the Crimea.® Scutari with the island of Tenedos would
have enabled to disconnect the linkage between Genoese Pera and
the Genoese islands in the N-E Aegean. On the other hand, Scutari
was not a substitute for the island of Tenedos at the entrance of the
Dardanelles.

At the end of the day, however, Venice failed to win Scutari, since
the Venetians, finally joined the expedition against the Ottomans, lead
in 1366 by Amadeus count of Savoy. The incentive was most prob-

" G. 1. Bratianu, Les Vénitiens dans la mer Noire au x1v* siécle aprés la deuxiéme guerre des
Détroits, «Echos d’Orient», XXXI11, 1934, pp. 156-158; I accept Bratianu’s dating of Amadeus’
Crusade that contradicts SETTON, The Papacy and the Levant, cit., 1, p. 312; FaBRis, From
Adrianople to Constantinople, cit., p. 15, and Heyd’s, who also gives other motives for Venice’s
refusal to participate in Amadeus” Crusade: W. Heyp, Histoire du commerce du Levant au
moyen age, Amsterdam, Hakkert, 1959, 1, p. 517.

%2 BALARD, La Romanie génoise, cit., 1, pp. 150-162; IDEM, Génes et la mer Noire (x111-xv°
siécles), «Revue Historique», 280, 1, 1983, pp. 48-49.
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ably Genoa’s participation that caused the Venice’s illusion that this
time, deprived of any Genoese assistance in N-E Mediterranean, the
Ottomans might be defeated by the Crusaders. Indeed, the Crusaders
succeeded in obtaining Gallipoli and in taking over fortresses along
the Asiatic coast of the Dardanelles. The Ottomans, however, despite
their weak position, retreated from their offer to Venice concerning
Scutari. The Venetian rejection to Amadeus’ of Savoy appeal to assist
defending Gallipoli did not change the Ottomans’ mind either.® At
the end of 1366 or early 1367 Venice appealed unsuccessfully to the
Byzantine emperor to obtain the island of Tenedos.* This failure led
the Senate’s resolution to instruct the Venetian ambassador that was
sent to the Byzantine emperor for renewing the treaty with Venice,
which had run its five-year course, to negotiate also with Murad to
purchase Scutari. Although this mission was eventually not carried
out, it indicated a new Venetian tactic that meant adaptation to the
Genoese method to consolidate by all means the Venetian position in
the N-E Mediterranean on account of the Christian world as well.
On the other hand, acting on both fronts could have also been used
as a pressure on John V, the Byzantine emperor, who suffered badly
from the Genoese of Pera interference in Byzantine political inter-
nal life. Indeed, this Venetian tactic urged John V to renew in 1369,
during his sojourn in Rome, his treaty with Venice, although in one
year delay,® and in 1370, during his stay in Venice, to suggest to the
Venetians, by his own initiative, to purchase the island of Tenedos.
Unfortunately Andronicus IV, John's V eldest son, who replaced his
father during his absentee, refused to carry out the transaction, as a
result of the pressure of the Genoese of Pera.* In retrospective, the

% Bratianu’s view on the Ottomans refusal to cede Scutari to Venice is convincing: Bra-
TIANU, Les Vénitiens, cit., p. 168, in contrast to SETTON, The Papacy and the Levant, cit., 1, p. 312
and note 191. Regarding Venice’s assistance to Amadeus’ Crusade, in addition to ships, see
ibidem, pp. 294-295 and nos. 51, 52; In contrast to Zachariadou, who claims that Venice was
reluctant to join the Crusade, due to her good relations with the emir Murad I, E. ZacHa-
RIADOU, Trade and Crusade. Venetian Crete and The Emirates of Mentesche and Aydin (1300-1415),
Venice, Istituto Ellenico di Studi Bizantini e Post-Bizantini, 1983, p. 70.

% THIRIET, Una proposta, cit., p. 327; O. HaLecki, Un empereur de Byzance & Rome. Vingt
ans de travail pour Uunion des églises et pour la défense de ’Empire d’Orient, 1355-1375, London,
Variorum reprints, 1972, p. 146 and note 2.

® Ibidem, pp. 222-226; FaBRIs, From Adrianople to Constantinople, cit., p. 158. The Author,
however, does not indicate that the mission to Murad was eventually not accomplished.

 SeTTON, The Papacy and the Levant, cit., 1, pp. 312, 317-321; R.-J. LOENERTZ, Jean Paleolo-
gue d Venise (1370-1371), «Revue des Etudes Byzantines», XV1, 16, 1958, pp. 226-228.
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Genoese interference on this occasion predicted their interference in
1376 and pinpointed the feeble position of Venice due to its lack of
any strategic site to balance Genoese Pera, either Tenedos or Scutari.
Paradoxically, due exactly to this motive, the Venetians, on their side,
did not deteriorate their relations with the Byzantine Emperor fol-
lowing his son’s misconduct.

Nevertheless, the Venetians refused to assist John V to release him-
self from his subordination, since late 1372 or early 1373, to the Ot-
tomans, in spite of the Pope’s appeal in February 1374 to Venice, and
notwithstanding the emperor’s new promise to give the island of
Tenedos to Venice in return.” Venice’s suggestion, after rejecting the
emperor’s appeal, to pay for the island by abolishing, the afore-men-
tioned, Byzance’s debts to the Serenissima since 1343, also met John's V
refusal.® The Venetian Senate’s resolutions in 1374 pinpoint the strate-
gic significance of such a loss.

On 14, 17 and 18 July 1374, the captain of the Venetian fleet was in-
structed to dispatch one of the galleys to the island of Tenedos thence
to inspect the water zone inside the Dardanelles straits, if there was
any danger from the Ottoman-Byzantine vessels to the Venetian mer-
chant galleys sailing to Constantinople and the Black Sea. From the
straits the same galley had to proceed to Constantinople to track after
the Genoese galleys of Pera, to inspect if there was any danger to the

¥ BARKER, Manuel II Palaeologus, cit., pp. 11-14 and notes 28, 30. Regarding John’s V subor-
dination to the Ottomans, see above, note 3. On the significance and implications of John’s V
act, see N. NECIPOGLU, Bygantium between the Ottomans and the Latins Politics and Society in the
Later Empire, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 2009, p. 20. On the Pope’s appeal to Ve-
nice see HALECKI, Un empereur de Byzance d Rome, cit., pp. 290-291 and pp. 390-391, doc. 27.

% The emperor also refused in 1375 to renew his treaty with Venice that had run its five-
years course: BERTELE, I gioelli, cit., pp. 129-130 and p. 176, doc. 32. One should notice Ni-
col’s self contradicted arguments. At first he claims that due to Venice’s instruction to send
the jewels to Constantinople, Venice received the island of Tenedos: Nicov, Bygantium and
Venice, cit., p. 309 and note 4. On the other hand, Nicol argues that the Venetian Senate’s
instruction conditioned the dispatch of the jewels by the receipt of the island: ibidem, p. 316
and note 1; Balard also indicated that John V delivered the island to the Venetians in 1372:
BaLarp, La Romanie génoise, cit., 1, p. 87. Balard claims to rely on Thiriet, who himself does
not say this: THIRIET, Venice, cit., p. 225; Balard also claims that John’s donation of Tenedos
to the Venetians in 1372 motivated the Genoese of Pera to support Andronicus’ mutiny
against his father in 1373, although the few sources that relate to this event tell about a
treaty between Andronicus and Murad’s son, and the rebellion of the two sons against
their fathers: BALARD, La Romanie génoise, cit., 1, p. 87 and note 28s5; since the Venetians did
not get the island of Tenedos in 1372, Balard’s claim regarding the Genoese share in this
rebellion is speculative, let alone without any supportive documents.
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Venetian commercial convoy to Tana, and to look for the best way to
co-operate with the Bulgarian despot of Dubrovitce.*® These resolu-
tions undoubtedly point to Venice’s complete absence as an active
actor in this scene of occurrences. In fact, these resolutions, as we
shall see below, reflected a certain state of mind. To understand this
argument, a short background of the events they relate to is crucially
needed.

In 1374 Murad, the Ottoman emir, performed with John V, the Byz-
antine emperor, a joint Ottoman-Byzantine naval demonstration in
the Sea of Marmara.” Very likely this naval demonstration was aimed
to send a message to the Christian West headed by the Pope. Since
1372 the Pope made efforts to organize a Crusade against the Otto-
mans and discussed, in his letter to John V in June 1373, to free the
Byzantine emperor from his subordination to the Ottomans since late
1372 or early 1373. In the framework of these endeavours, the Pope
tried in vain in early 1374, as above-mentioned, to enroll Venice’s naval
aid.” Highly likely the Ottoman emir intended to dispatch a message
to the Christian West regarding the Byzantine emperor’s full collab-
oration, although undoubtedly enforced, with the Ottomans. Thus
Murad aimed to avoid Papal and Western expedition, like the one of
Amadeus of Savoy in 1366 that cost the Ottomans the loss of Gal-
lipoli in the N-w Dardanelles. One can safely claim that the Ottomans
must have been aware of Venice’s turn down of the Pope’s and the
byzantine emperor’s appeal to join the Crusade and the strategic loss
that Venice suffered due to its move. Having said that, how could one
explain the above-mentioned Venetian Senate’s resolutions?

The combined naval Ottoman-Byzantine demonstration must have
caught Venice by surprise. Deprived of a nearby strategic outpost in
the region, such as Tenedos, to follow developments close at hand,

% HaLEck1, Un empereur de Bygance d Rome, cit., p. 301 and note 4; DENN1s, The Reign of
Manuel II Palaeologus in Thessalonica, cit.; THIRIET, Venise, cit., p. 225; Thiriet’s claim that
only on that occasion did John V permit the Venetians to anchor at Tenedos is invalid.

7° HALECKI, Un empereur de Bygance a Rome, cit., p. 301; DENN1s, The Reign of Manuel IT
Palaeologus in Thessalonica, cit., p. 35; IMBER, The Ottoman Empire, cit., p. 32; ZACHARIADOU,
Trade and Crusade, cit., p. 70.

7 Regarding John's V subordination to the Ottomans, see BARKER, Manuel II Palaeologus,
cit., pp. 18-22 and notes 42, 46. On the Pope’s appeal to Venice see HALECKI, Un empereur
de Byzance d Rome, cit., pp. 290-291 and pp. 390-391, doc. 27. On the significance of John's V
offer to Venice see NEc1poGLU, Byzantium between the Ottomans and the Latins, cit., p. 29.
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the Venetians were short of constant reliable information. Time was
crucial; first of all, since the Venetian convoy, as above-mentioned,
was on its way to Constantinople and the Black Sea. Time was also
crucial for rapid reaction of all sorts to whatever event.

Furthermore, the Ottomans were not the only power that was
aware of Venice’s afore-mentioned moves in 1374 and lack of logisti-
cal base in the N-E Mediterranean; so were the Genoese. It is very
likely that Venice feared that the Genoese would take advantage of
the absence of any nearby Venetian logistic base to balance Genoese
Pera in order to pursue their goal and deprive the Venetians from any
possibility to trade in wider areas in the Black Sea than its northern
section, for example with Bulgary. Bulgary was an essential market
for the wheat trade in the western Black Sea.

On the morrow of the of the War of the Bosporus, the Third war
between Genoa and Venice (1351-1355), the Genoese had conquered
three former Byzantine ports in the mouth of the Danube, along the
sw shore of the Black Sea: Vicina, Kilia and Licostomo that were com-
mercial centres for wheat trade. The focal commercial activity moved
from Byzantine Vicina to Genoese Kilia, rich with vast fertile wheat
fields. The Genoese thus cut the Venice off an important source of
wheat in the Black Sea.” Taking over the Bulgarian despot Dubrodice’s
monopoly over the wheat trade between Europe and the Black Sea,
was the Genoese next target. Since the 1360s the Genoese of Pera and
of Caffa pushed further their violent conflicts against the Bulgarian
despot that evolved into a real war during the years 1372-1375. The des-
pot asked then for Venice’s help and the Serenissima willingly joined
alliance with him. If the Genoese had succeeded, Venice would have
been completely cut off the wheat trade in sw Black Sea.”

7> S. PAPACOSTEA, De Vicina d Kilia. Bygantins et Génois aux bouches du Danube au x1v° siecle,
«Revue des Etudes sud-est Européennes», Xvi1, 1, 1978, pp. 73-76; IDEM, Quod non iretur ad
Tanam: un aspect fondamental de la politique génoise dans la mer Noire au x1v* siécle, ibidem,
XVII, 2, 1979, pp. 215-216. See Niculescu’s discussion on Vicina, Kilia and Licostomo during
the Genoese period: A. NICULESCU, Vénitiens et Génois, acteurs de la colonisation dans les Pays
roumains et aux bouches du Danube aux x1ve-xv* siécles, in Le partage du monde, échanges et co-
lonisation dans la Méditerranée Médiévale, éd. par M. Balard, A. Ducellier, Paris, Publications
de la Sorbonne, 1998, pp. 237-241.

7 PAPACOSTEA, Quod non iretur ad Tanam, cit., p. 216; M. BALARD, Génes et la mer Noire
(x11r-xv* siecles), «Revue Historique», 270, 1, 1983, p. 50; G. I. BRATIANU, Les Vénitiens dans
la mer Noire au x1v* siécle apres la deuxiéme guerre des Détroits, «Echos d’Orient», XXXIII, 1934,
p- 159.
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Furthermore, if the Genoese had taken over the Bulgarian domin-
ion in the s-w Black Sea, the whole Venetian commerce in the N-w
Black Sea would have been at stake, since all these s-w Black Sea port
cities were, beyond their mercantile importance, also necessary ports
of call for the Venetian commercial convoys to Tana, due to the lo-
cal complex navigational conditions.” Thus the Genoese might have
achieved their goal that aimed at eliminating the Venetian commerce
in the Northern Black Sea according to a policy, which they had al-
ready formulated in 1270 to prevent the Venetians to reach Tana.”

In the 1370s, Tana in the Sea of Azov was the only commercial
centre where the Venetians could obtain the spices that reached the
Black Sea from the Indian Ocean, because of their failure to estab-
lish a regular trade route between Tabriz, in N-w Iran along the trade
route that lead from the Indian Ocean through the Persian Gulf, to
Trebizond, on the Southern Black Sea. Furthermore, problems that
burst out in 1372 between the Venetians and the emperor of Trebi-
zond led the Venetians to threat in 1375 to leave their local quarter.”
In order, therefore, to counteract Genoa’s efforts in the s-w Black Sea,
the above-mentioned ‘espionage’ galley was instructed in July 1374 to
find the best way to collaborate with the Bulgarian despot.

Based on the above-said, one could safely claim that the Senate’s
instructions in July 1374 demonstrated hysteric even paranoid Venice’s
state of mind. One has also to bear in mind that in 1374 the Venetians
had to quit the island of Cyprus as well and left it to the Genoese.”
In other words, in the mid-1370s the Venetians found themselves in
danger of being excluded by the Genoese from key ports of the in-
ternational commerce in the Eastern Mediterranean. The Venetian
Senate’s resolutions a year later prove Venice’s change of tactics by
employment of aggressive approach, as an ultimate move to prevent
the complete collapse of its commercial activity in the N-E Mediter-
ranean.

Due to John’s V refusal in 1375 to renew in time the treaty, which
had run its five-year course, and due to above-mentioned problems

7 The Black Sea Pilot, cit., V1, pp. 32-36, 48-51. 5 See above, note s.

76 Karpov, L'Impero di Trebizonda Venegia Genova e Roma, cit., pp. 93-95.

7 D. JacoBy, The Rise of a New Emporium in the Eastern Mediterranean: Famagusta in the
Late Thirteenth Century, in IDEM, Studies on the Crusader States and on Venetian Expansion,
Southampton, Variorum reprints, 1989, no. viii, pp. 167-171.
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with the emperor of Trebizond, the Venetian Senate appointed the
same year a special committee to check on Venice’s position in Roma-
nia, i.e., Constantinople and the Black Sea, more precisely Trebizond,
as well as in Ottoman Turkey. The committee, however, recommend-
ed different actions for each of the areas. Regarding the emperor of
Trebizond and the Byzantine emperor of Constantinople, all diplo-
matic gloves were removed. The galleys had to display a menacing na-
val demonstration until Venice achieved its purposes. The character
of this embassy was accordingly emphasized by the title of the per-
son, who stood at its head, that was ‘admiral’. The embassy reached
its goals both in Trebizond and Constantinople, and the Venetians
also won the island of Tenedos as a gift.”

At the same time the ‘admiral’ also negotiated with Murad to obtain
Scutari in return for presents that equaled 400 hyperpers. On this oc-
casion the ‘admiral’ wore the hat of a pure ambassador. The embassy,
however, failed in this mission, most probably, due to two merged Ot-
toman considerations. Letting the Venetians have two nearby bases,
Tenedos and Scutari, now that the ottomans gained power in this area,
would have increased too much Venice’s strength. Moreover, Scutari
could have been used by the Ottomans as a bargaining card with Ven-
ice, for whatever might happen in the future, as it indeed did in 1384.

It should, however, be stressed that the fact that the Venetian Senate
dared to dispatch a fleet of ten galleys into the Dardanelles that could
have been interpreted in a sensitive time, if there had been one, as
an act of aggression proves clearly that the Venetians eventually real-
ized that the Ottomans did not aim the demonstration in 1374 against
them. On the contrary, the fact that the Venetians were afforded the
opportunity to cross the Dardanelles with such a force proves the Ot-

78 Por another view regarding Venice’s difficulties to renew the Pact, see BARKER, Ma-
nuel IT Palacologus, cit., pp. 23-24; Nicol claims that the grant of the island of Tenedos to the
Venetians was a surprising act, since the island had not been included in the original Pact
between Venice and Byzantium; The fact that the head of the Venetian embassy had the
title of an admiral and not an ambassador proves that the delegation had the mandate to
negotiate the subject matter: Nicor, Byzantium and Venice, cit., p. 312; Nicol unfortunately
ignores the fact that the island had originally been, as above-mentioned, offered to the
Venetians in Venice in 1370, but that the agreement was not put into effect. The admiral
had to take care of realizing the crucial issue to Venice. Furthermore, Nicol’s inference to
the title of the head of the Venetian delegation contradicts the fact, indicated right below
in the text, that the same admiral had an ambassador’s mission to Murad. Regarding Tre-
bizond. See above, note 76.
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tomans’ welcome of Venetian presence, up to a certain point that
concerned Venetian possession of Scutari. It should be also noted that
the Ottomans did not exercise any action to protect, so to speak, the
Byzantine emperor, their vassal against the Venetian naval force. One
could, therefore, claim that the relations between the Ottomans and
the Venetians in the 1370s were good. Nevertheless, more often than
not, being manipulated by the Genoese, the Ottomans, although not
intentionally, eventually harmed the Venetians. A prominent example
is the incident that led to the war over Tenedos between the Genoese
and the Venetians. As above-mentioned, the Ottomans’ assisted An-
dronicus in 1376 to depose his father, John V the Byzantine emperor,
in return for Gallipoli. The Ottoman interference, however, eventu-
ally helped the Genoese to declare John’s V endowment of the Island
of Tenedos to the Venice as illegitimate.

The events we looked at that took place during twenty years, since
the early 1350s, prove the Venice’s persistent efforts to gain a foothold
in N-E Mediterranean primarily in the island of Tenedos, and if pos-
sible also in Scutari, as a defensive move against the Genoese. These
meddled through Pera in the political affairs in Constantinople and
in the Sea of Marmara. Holding a front base in the island of Tene-
dos would have facilitated the Venetians to deteriorate at close hand
any manipulative moves the Genoese of Pera might exercise on the
Byzantine emperor and mainly on the Ottomans that unintentionally
would have caused harm to Venice’s position and commerce in the
N-E Mediterranean.”

Another evidence to sustain this argument concerns an episode
that took place at the eve of the end of the war of Tenedos-Chioggia,
after Genoa’s defeat in 1380 at Chioggia that failed its endeavour to
devastate Venice at its threshold in the Adriatic. This event regards the
peace treaty signed in early May 1381 between Murad and the Genoese.
A month earlier, in April, the joined Ottoman-Venetian siege on Pera
had been removed, albeit a Venetian-Ottoman collaboration through
this war. The collaboration started in 1379 with the Ottomans’ help
to John V, the deposed emperor, to regain his throne. Signing a peace

7 In contrast to Thiriet, who wrongly claims that the Venetians took over the island of
Tenedos due to the dangerous situation in the Dardanelles, caused by both the Genoese
and the Ottomans: THIRIET, Venise, cit., p. 225. Thiriet completely ignores all the events in
1370s and their significance, described by the current paper.
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treaty with the Genoese in May 1381, it should be emphasized, was
not due to Murad’s change of attitude towards Venice. It was, very
likely, due to the realization that the Venetians failed to gain a clear
and cut victory over the Genoese in the Ligurian Sea, where naval
clashes between the two sides continued since the Genoese defeat in
Chioggia in June 1380 until Spring 1381. Furthermore, there was no
Venetian substantial presence in Constantinople, after the Venetian
naval fleet had left in 1380 for Chioggia, to persuade the Ottomans
not to make that move. In any event, on the morrow of the Genoese-
Ottoman peace treaty in early May 1381, the Genoese signed a peace
treaty with the emperor, John V; both sides declared loyalty to the
Ottomans that was reaffirmed with the ratification of the Byzantine-
Genoese Pact in 2 November 1382. The treaty between the Genoese
and John V paved the way for the peace to be signed at the end of May
1381 between John V and his rebellious son, Andronicus. The treaty
also paved the way to John’s V reluctant recognition of Andronicus,
the Genoese protégé, as well as Andronicus’ sons as legitimate heirs to
the throne, on expense of Manuel, his loyal son.*

These were the most important Genoese achievements. First, the
Genoese successfully removed the threat of the Ottomans as enemies
and deteriorated the Ottoman-Venetian alliance against them. Sec-
ond, the Genoese regained the previous prestigious status of their
quarter of Pera that enabled them to continue to interfere in the in-
ternal life of the Byzantine throne in Constantinople, as well as to
navigate for their own benefit the Byzantine external affairs, first of
all towards the Venetians. Equipped with excessive self-confidence,
the Genoese demanded Amadeus, while negotiating the Pact of Tori-
no, to deny the Venetians anchorage in Constantinople on the pretext
that they might stir conflicts between the Genoese and the Byzan-
tines. The request was denied.® Furthermore, the fact that the Pact
of Torino conditioned that the treaty signed between the Genoese
and John V, the Byzantine emperor, will respect the Venetians’ right
to move without any restrictions in the Byzantine territories without

% Dennis, The Reign of Manuel II Palaeologus in Thessalonica, cit., pp. 41-44; see also
NEcIPOGLU, Bygantium between the Ottomans and the Latins, cit., p. 127. The thorough effects
of these events will be discussed below.

8 Heyp, Histoire du commerce du Levant, cit., 1, p. 525.
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being harmed by the Genoese,* clearly illustrates that the Genoese
regained prestigious status in Constantinople, in contrast to the pre-
carious one of the Venetians.

Furthermore, one could safely argue that it is highly unlikely that
Murad would have taken any action against the Genoese of Pera, if
they might have occupied Tenedos albeit the Pact of Torino, all the
more so since the issue at the time was not of Ottoman interest. Cer-
tainly the Byzantines would not have interfered. The way for the Ge-
noese to take over the island, on account of the violation of the Pact
of Torino, was thus paved.

In light of these occurrences one should examine the Venetian Sen-
ate’s attitude towards Mudazzo, the Venetian bailo, while questioning
the sincerity of the above-mentioned suggestion, made by the Can-
celler Caresini and the doge Michele Morosini, to declare Mudazzo
as a mutineer.” A careful reading of the resolutions regarding the full
accomplishment of the articles of the Pact of Torino concerning the
island is, therefore, needed, if tiresome. While on the surface they
often seem identical, a careful perusal shows significant variations.
More often than not, scholars have intended to ignore these shifts and
erroneously treated Venice’s policy as constant.

VENICE’S POLICY REGARDING THE EXECUTION
OF PacT OF TORINO’S ARTICLES

The examination of the resolutions of 4 April 1382, 2 May 1382 and,
May 7 1382 reveal that the Venetian Senate was divided into two groups
of senators, who suggested different responses to Genoa’s accusation
a month earlier that Venice had not intend from the start to carry out
the Pact’s of Torino article concerning the island of Tenedos. The
responses also dealt with Genoa’s request from Florence to pay the
pledged money.*

On April 8 the group, led by Fantino Giorgi (Fantin Zorzi), suggested
to employ the aggressive tactic for defense. It, accordingly, suggested

%2 SETTON, The Papacy and the Levant, cit., 1, p. 332.

% See above, note 19.

8 On the circumstances see above, pp. 41-42 and notes 17, 18. It should be pointed out
that Thiriet ignored these resolutions and that related to the one of April 22 continuing
with August 1382, to all of which I'll refer below. He, therefore, failed to analyze Venice’s
policy: THIRIET, Venise, cit., pp. 232-233.
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to blame Genoa for accusing Venice on intentional and pre-planned
scheme not to deliver the island albeit Venice’s readiness, despite its
victory at the war, to hand over the island of Tenedos. The ambas-
sadors, who had to demand Genoa’s apology, had also to achieve the
Genoese consent to postpone the destruction of the island’s fortifi-
cations for another two years, without changing the amount of the
pledged money. In case of Genoese refusal, the ambassadors had to
demand to involve Amadeus, the count of Savoy, as an arbitrator. The
fact that these senators instructed the ambassadors to immediately
return to Venice, the moment they felt they were about to be arrested
by the government in Genoa,* clearly points to the Venetian trans-
parent final goal, to keep holding the island of Tenedos.

The other group, headed by Andrea Barbarigo, suggested only to
respond to Genoa’s intention to demand Florence to pay the pledged
money in six month. In addition, Barbarigo’s group suggested to em-
ploy conciliatory tongue, to point to Venice’s sincere intentions to
keep up the Pact of Torino and the peace treaty, while introducing
Venice, in the spirit of Caresini’s suggestion, as a helpless victim to
unexpected circumstances, i.e., Mudazzo’s mutiny. Indeed, this group
adapted Caresini’s suggestion to declare Mudazzo a mutineer.* By
employing such a tactic, these senators tried to reach twofold aims.
One to gain the sympathy of the various powers involved directly and
indirectly in the Pact, and thus to win the original goal to keep holding
the island. The other aim was to prevent Genoa to enforce Florence
to pay the pledged money. It turned out, post factum, that Florence
had given Venice back the pledged money as a token of its faith in
Venice’s sincere intentions to carry out all articles regarding the island
of Tenedos. Genoa’s request from Florence to pay the pledged money
will put it in a difficult financial situation, while publically exhibiting
Venice’s incredibility. *

Barbarigo’s group won after the second vote with, however, a small
majority. Two days later, on 10 April the Senate voted to send del-
egates to Florence to inform the local government on Venice’s dia-

% asve: Senato-Misti, Secreta, reg. 37, f. 717, 8 Apr. 1382.

% Ibidem, f. 72r, 8 Apr. 1382. Surdich, it should be indicated, completely ignored Bar-
barigo’s group, and at the same time referred to Fantino’s Giorgi without any relevant
authentic reference: SURDICH, Genova e Venegia, cit., p. 30.

¥ On Florence’s returning the pledged money to Venice, see ibidem, p. 27 and note 11.
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logue with Genoa, following Barbarigo’s group suggestion, and to ask
Florence not to declare that the pledged money was not at the Floren-
tines” hands.* Venice delegation to Florence must have successfully
accomplished its task, since only after the Genoese had confiscated
Florentines commodities in Genoa, in May and later, in August, did
the Florentine government confess in September on not having at its
possession the pledged money.®

Furthermore, following Barbarigo’s group suggestions, the Senate
discussed the instructions to Giovanni Memmo, the captain of the
Venetian naval fleet and to Carlo Zeno, the elected new bailo and cap-
tain of Negroponte. Both individuals had to command with addition-
al two provisores the naval expedition to Tenedos. The declared aim
of the expedition was to persuade Mudazzo to deliver to Venice the
island in return for pardon to him and to the local inhabitants, who
sided with him. In case Mudazzo refused to collaborate, the expedi-
tion had to take the island by force, including involvement of siege or
a violent attack. The expedition could use for its mission any required
budget, whose amount, however, was not indicated.*

On face value, one could claim the Venetian Senate indeed initi-
ated practical means to evacuate the island of Tenedos. On the other
hand, identical instructions had already been delivered to the captain
of the Venetian fleet and to Carlo Zeno, a month earlier, on 24 March
1382, the repetition, however, proves that they had not been carried
out. The fact that the repetition took place after the above-mentioned
Genoa’s accusation of Venice’s pre-planned violation of the Pact of
Torino, speaks for itself.

Furthermore, the fleet did not leave Venice a month later as well.
Two different sources of information that arrived at Ragusa in May
1382 reported on the delay. One was Andrea Contarini, who arrived

8 asve: Senato-Misti, Secreta, reg. 37, f. 68, 10 Apr. 1382.

8% On the confiscation of Florentine commodities in Genoa one could learn from Ve-
nice’s treatment of the issue at the end of May or early June: ibidem, f. 85r, 7 June 1382. T'll
refer below to the context. It should, however, only be pointed out, that Surdich argues
that at first Florence refused to discuss with Genoa the payment of the pledged money,
on pretext that Venice’s intentional violation of the Pact of Torino could not be proved:
SurDICH, Genova e Venegia, cit., p. 32 and note 27.

% asve: Senato-Misti, Secreta, reg. 37, f. 37r, 8 Apr. 1382. Surdich indicated a wrong date,
22 Apr. 1382: SURDICH, Genova e Venegia, cit., p. 30 and note 21.

' asve: Senato-Misti, Secreta, reg. 37, f. 647, 24 Mar. 1382.
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in Ragusa from Venice on May sixth. The second source of informa-
tion was provided by three Venetian nobles that reached Ragusa from
Crete two days later. Contarini claimed to have left Venice four days
before the departure of the naval fleet and that Carlo Zeno took sala-
ries to the Venetian garrison working with Mudazzo.** Contarini indi-
cated in addition that no new instructions were issued concerning the
departure of the merchant convoys to Constantinople and Trebizond,
due the piracy conducted by the people of the island of Tenedos.
These had captured a vessel of merchants of Ancona, redeemed later
by their Metropolis. On board of that ship were Genoese that were,
however, returned unharmed to Pera by the people of Tenedos.*

The above-mentioned three Venetian nobles that reached Ragu-
sa from Crete also reported on this piracy. According to them the
people of Tenedos had raided a Venetian vessel and the Venetians,
therefore, considered them enemies. The Venetian nobles also re-
ported that the Turks of Phocea assisted the people of Tenedos by
providing them with victuals.® Caresini’s chronicle, it should be
pointed out, also condemned Mudazzo because of his contacts with
the Turks.”

One, could safely argue, that the real purpose for Carlo Zeno’s de-
parture to Tenedos was to cut off the piracy. The Venetian Senate
justly feared that the piracy might provide Genoa with pretext to ini-
tiate reprisals that might have lead to a new war, although Mudazzo
and his men made efforts not to harm Genoese merchants. All the
more so, Venice denounced piracy against its own citizens. Death was
the penalty for piracy. It had to be abolished at any cost. Nevertheless
the Venetian senators hoped that the money, which Carlo Zeno had
to bring with him according to the resolution of April 8 would solve
the problem. In contrast to the original statement that the money was
for the operation to take the island by force, it was, in fact, aimed for
the salaries of Mudazzo’s garrison. As above-mentioned, Mudazzo

22 B. KrRek1¢, Dubrovnik (Raguse) et le Levant au Moyen Age, Paris, Mouton, 1961, pp. 42-43
and p. 222, note 358.

% Ibidem, pp. 222-223, note 360. % Ibidem.

% SETTON, The Papacy and the Levant, cit., 1, p. 235 and note 230; THIRIET, Venise, cit., p.
235, and note 2. The Codex Morosini that, among others, relies on Caresini laconically
indicated that Mudazzo’s rebellion lasted so long due to the Turks’ assistance, not necessa-
rily the Ottomans: The Morosini Codex, ed. by M. P. Ghezzo, J. R. Mellville-Jones, A. Rizzi,
Padova, Unipress, 2000, II, pp. 158-159.
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had already in January 1382 informed the Serenissima that his people
had not yet received their salaries.*°

One can safely assume that the Genoese knew that Carlo Zeno had
not left for Tenedos in April and that they also were suspicious of his
mission. Genoa was certainly informed on the piracy conducted from
Tenedos by their merchants that were victims as well as by the Ge-
noese of Chios and Pera. Mistrusting Zeno’s mission Venice’s sincer-
ity, Genoa requested Florence in April to deliver to Genoa the pledged
money.”

The Genoese move led to two motions in the Venetian Senate on
May 2 1382 for guidance of the Venetian ambassadors in Genoa con-
cerning the tactic to convince the local government to cancel the re-
quest of the pledged money. Barbarigo’s group suggested taking ac-
tion in two parallel spheres. One was in Genoa, where the Venetian
delegates had to insist on Venice’s major efforts to carry out its obliga-
tions according to the Pact of Torino. The fact that Carlo Zeno had
already left to Tenedos with the amount of money to get the island to
Venice’s possession proves the Venice’s sincerity. In case the Venetian
ambassadors in Genoa reached dead end, then another move should
be initiated without, however, informing the Genoese. Venice should
approach Amadeus count of Savoy, to implore him to arbitrate in this
matter and to sentence in favor of Venice. In case the count would
refuse, the ambassadors in Genoa had to persuade the local govern-
ment to plea to Amadeus’ arbitrage.®®

Fantino Giorgi’s group added to the previous suggestion a bold de-
mand from Genoa to give Venice extension of one to one and a half
year, beginning in May 1382, to take the island from Mudazzo. Since
the ban on sailing to Tana, imposed by the Pact of Torino, had to end
in August 1383, the motive behind this suggestion was too transparent
and, therefore, it failed in favor of the previous one.*

One could safely argue that albeit its direct and harsh tone, Fan-
tino Giorgi’s group shared identical aim to Andrea Barbarigo’s. Both
groups of Venetian senators, as proved by the so far resolutions and
evidence, thrived to detain as long as possible the evacuation of the
island of Tenedos, in order to eventually achieve a permanent hold

% See above, note 10. ¥ 'THIRIET, Venise, cit., p. 232, note 1.
98 asve: Senato-Misti, Secreta, reg. 37, f. 37v, 2 May 1382.
0 Ibidem, f. 761, 2 May 1382.
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on the island. The groups only varied in the tactics to be employed, in
the ways of response to Genoa’s protests and accusations, on the one
hand, and on the other, to Florence.

It should be pointed out that due to Amadeus’s rejection of Ven-
ice’s plea on the one hand, and on the other, the danger that Genoa
was about to take action either against Venice either against Florence,
Fantino’s group changed drastically its tactic. It suggested that the
Venetian ambassadors in Genoa should beg for winning Venice mini-
mum of one year to two years at the maximum for taking over the
Island from Mudazzo, and to persuade the Genoese to keep perma-
nently the pledged money.* In other words, if up till then the policy
was to keep the pledged money both with the island of Tenedos, this
group suggested to give away the 15,000 fiorini in return, so to speak,
for keeping the island.

In May 1382 Florence demanded Venice the pledged money for its
deliverance to Genoa, due to the above-mentioned confiscation of
Florentine commodities in Genoa. Genoa’s move that meant rejection
of the suggestion made by Fantino Giorgi’s group, led five members
of this group, however, without Fantinos Giorgi himself, to return to
the tough attitude. On May 4, the doge wrote a personal letter to the
Florentine Commune informing on the dispatch to Tenedos of armed
galleys with the provisores, headed by the above-mentioned Memmo
and Zeno, to solve the problems so that the island would be submit-
ted to Amadeus or to his delegate, according to Venice’s original in-
tention regarding the execution of the Pact of Torino.* Regarding,
however, the pledged money, three versions of response to Florence
were put to motion on June 7. One to denote Genoa for the confisca-
tion of Florentine commodities, which Venice considered illogical;
the second was to justify Venice’s acts up till then regarding the island
of Tenedos. The third version emphasized that the Venetian Senate
was expecting until the end of the month good news from Tenedos.
This suggestion must have referred to Memmo’s and Zeno’s declared
mission a month earlier, according to which the Serenissima expected
them to take over Tenedos from Mudazzo. Although, one has to bear
in mind that the resolution was issued in order to abolish the pirati-

100

Ibidem, f. 77, 7 May 1382.

" G. Miiller (a cura di), Documenti sulle relagioni delle cittd toscane coll’Oriente Christiano
e coi Turchi fino all’anno 1531, rist. anast., Roma, Societa Multigrafica Editrice, 1966, p. 127,
doc. LXXXIX.
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cal activity, not to deliver the island to Amadeus, the count of Savoy.
These senators, therefore, suggested calming down Florence by indi-
cating that following Memmo’s and Zeno’s successful mission Genoa
will give the Florentines back the confiscated commodities. In case
Memmo and Zeno should fail, these senators suggested compensat-
ing Florence without, however, indicating how."

A month later, on July 8, the Venetian Senate discussed for the first
time practical means to take over the island from Mudazzo. The sug-
gestion that won and was accepted as a resolution was made, among
others, by Fantino Giorgio and Carlo Zeno, following Zeno’s report
after his return from Tenedos. The resolution dealt with recruiting
of soldiers and, with the resources. Carlo Zeno was elected as the
leading person; due, however, to sickness, he was replaced by Fantino
Giorgio, whose mission was to take the island by force, and who was
endowed with civic and criminal jurisdiction on the soldiers coming
with him and on the Island’s inhabitants. ™

Giorgio’s election on July 9 as a substitute to Carlo Zeno to lead
the operation is intriguing, if one bears in mind that he had originally
been the head of the senators’ group that boldly stated their attitude
against the evacuation of the island. On the face of it, it looks like the
Serenissima has changed its attitude that meant verbally carrying out
the articles of the Pact of Torino. In reality, it is highly likely that Gior-
gio’s election was a smoke screen for Venice’s evasion to evacuate the
island of Tenedos.* Part of this Venetian tactic, one should see in the
resolution made the same day, August 9, to deprive Enrico Dandolo
of his commandment on the galley and to put him on trial. Enrico
Dandolo was the captain of a galley that had been recruited in Crete
and sent to Tenedos, according to the resolution of November 11 1381,
to join Pantaleone Barbo to help Mudazzo to deliver the island to the
count of Savoy and to return to Venice. Dandolo was accused of free-
ing Mudazzo, despite the explicit Senate’s instruction to bring him
in chains to Venice. The fact that originally there had not been any
resolution in 1381 concerning Mudazzo’s imprisonment, and that his
resolutions was, as indicated below, only issued in August 1382, sus-

1 Ibidem, f. 58r, 7 June 1382. Leonardo Dandolo, another member of the group, sugge-
sted a much more radical idea that failed.

1 Ibidem, . 93v, 8 July 1382; f. 947, 9 July 1382; f. 94v, 9 July 1382.

* In contrast to SURDICH, Genova e Venegia, cit., p. 3.
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tains our argument regarding Dandolo’s punishment. Furthermore,
when finally put on trial, Dandolo, as we shall see below, was accused
on a different charge.'”

Furthermore, although Fantino Giorgio had to leave for Tenedos
right after his election on the July 9, he only left on 17 August, i.e., five
weeks later.**® Four days before his departure, on August 13, the Col-
legio, headed by the doge Michele Morosini, suggested to take over
Tenedos at all costs, even if it meant a war and to start judicial proc-
ess against Mudazzo.'” The contrast to the general Venetian Senate’s
tactics up till then is striking. One has, however, to bear in mind that,
Morosini had been with Caresini the negotiators of the Pact of Torino
and later an ambassador in Genoa. Both of them feared the outcomes
of Venice’s evasion to carry out its obligations regarding the island of
Tenedos. The appearance in Venice of two ambassadors from Flor-
ence that declared that the Genoese had on 2 August confiscated once
again Florentine commodities in Genoa, since Florence had not given
Genoa the so called Venetian pledged money,**® must have influenced
the Collegio’s proposal. One could safely claim that knowing well the
Genoese mentality, Morosini, feared that Genoa will take concrete
actions against Venice itself. The Collegio’s, resolution, headed by the
doge Morosini, on 13 August, it should be pointed out, was put to five
motions and was only accepted after the fifth. During all the votes the
decrease of the number of the supporters and absentees was evident
in contrast to the increase of the numbers of the opponents. On the
fifth vote, however, a radical turnover occurred. The resolution was
approved by majority of fifty five against eleven dissentient votes and
nine abstentions. One could safely assume that after an inner fight,
the Collegio headed by the doge managed to lead Venice to initiate
sincere actions to carry out the Serenissima’s obligation regarding the
island of Tenedos, according to the Pact of Torino. As a result, the
Senate’s resolution, on August 14, changed Fantino Giorgi’s original
mission.

The new resolution, practically made three days before his delayed

% asve: Senato-Misti, Secreta, reg. 37, f. 95v, 9 July 1382.

¢ On Fantino Giorgi’s date of departure to Tenedos one can learn by the letter written
to Genoa, two days after his leaving: ibidem, f. 1037, 19 Aug. 1382.

7 Ibidem, ff. 1041-1057, 14 Aug. 1382.

8 Thidem, HEYD, Histoire du commerce du Levant, cit., 1, p. 523, note 5. On Morosini and
Caresini, see above, note 19.
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departure for Tenedos on August 17, forbade him to pardon Mudaz-
zo. Furthermore, Giorgi had to put on trial all those who had sided
with Mudazzo and, therefore, were considered traitors and mutineers
against Venice. Their sentence was to be used as a future lesson to
others. The resolution also left to Giorgi’s judgment if it was neces-
sary to send an embassy to Murad to appease him with presents.'”
The Venetian Senate also dispatched a letter to Genoa five days later,
on August 19, which detailed Fantino Giorgi’s date of departure, the
equipment, the recruited manpower and the war galleys going with
him on the one hand, and on the other, the dealing with Mudazzo’s
issue and the people that had assisted Mudazzo to be delivered in
chains to Venice to be put on trial.™

Interestingly, on 26 January 1383 the Senate responded to the Byz-
antine emperor about his request of the island. Given the fact, as
above-said, that the emperor had been overlooked by the Pact of
Torino, and that previous requests, made by the emperor in 1381 and
in 1382, were denied by Venice, the emperor’s request is intriguing.
As above-mentioned, it is highly likely that the Genoese initiated this
approach. One has to bear in mind that it was only on November 1382
that the Byzantine-Genoese Pact of May 1381 was ratified. As above-
mentioned, according to this Pact, John V had reluctantly recognized
Andronicus, the Genoese protégé, as well as Andronicus’ sons as legiti-
mate heirs.” The Venetian Senate response to the emperor sustains
the argument concerning the Genoese involvement, since it relates
directly to the Genoese. The Senate conditioned a positive response
on two terms. One that Genoa will cancel all Venice’s obligations
regarding the island. One could safely assume the senators meant the
destroying of the fortifications and the evacuation of the inhabitants.
Furthermore, the senators requested refunding Florence in case it
had already paid some amount as part of the pledged money. The
senators must have meant to the Florentine commodities in Genoa.*”
Why bothering to respond to the emperor? One could safely claim
to prevent as much as possible the jeopardizing of the renewal of

99 asve: Senato-Misti, Secreta, reg. 37, ff. 1-4r-1057.

" Ibidem, f. 110v, 19 Aug. 1382. " See above, note 8o.

"> Ibidem, f. 130v, 26 Jan. 1382. I am using the modern calendar not the Venetian, accor-
ding to which the new year started in March. Regarding the Florentine confiscated goods
by the Genoese, see above, note 89.
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the five years course Byzantine-Venetian. Furthermore, the Venetian
Senate must have considered that the Genoese would reject the pro-
posals, thus failing diplomatically the Genoese manipulation to get
the island.

If indeed the Genoese urged the Emperor to request the island
from the Venetians, it means they did not buy the sincerity of the
Collegio’s suggestion, headed by the doge Morosini, on 13 August and
of the Senate’s resolution a day later. It also meant that the Genoese
found the inner conflicts in the Senate, expressed by the number and
character of the votes, as phony. The Genoese might have considered
these resolutions as a smoke screen to appease both Genoa and Flor-
ence for the delay of Fantino Giorgi’s departure to Tenedos. One has
to bear in mind that originally Giorgi had to leave in July and finally,
he left a month later after the above-mentioned modification of his
original mission. In other words, Genoa was convinced that Venice’s
refusal to hand over the island of Tenedos was persistent. The follow-
ing will sustain this argument about Venice’s attitude.

On 20 February 1383, the Venetian Senate agreed with a majority
of 72, against nine dissentient votes and one abstention, to ratify, in
contrast to previous resolutions, Fantino Giorgi’s request to pardon
Zanachi Mudazzo, in excuse of diminishing the expenses required by
such an action and the dangerous complications that Mudazzo’s im-
prisonment might have caused to."” One cannot deny the feebleness
of these motives, since Mudazzo had lead the ‘mutiny’ against the
Metropolis, and Venice was very strict about mutineers. All the more
so, since his supporters were eventually put on trials. These included,
in addition to above-mentioned Pantaleone Barbo and Enrico Dan-
dolo also Mudazzo’s grandson with identical name of Zanachi Mu-
dazzo, and Giacobbe Vicerano, one of the Venetian galleys’ captains
that had been sent with Barbo to Tenedos. The resolution to pardon
Mudazzo, notwithstanding the suspicion that such a move might pro-
voke especially to the Genoese, undoubtedly proves the Venetian Sen-
ate’s support of Mudazzo during the whole time.

On 17 April 1383 three of Mudazzo’s supporters were put on trial:
Barbo, Dandolo and Vicerano. The causes for the charges won small
support and finally, the suggestions to the imprisonment of Dandolo

" asve: Senato-Misti, Secreta, f. 130v, 20 Febr. 1382.
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and Barbo were rejected. One should point to the low numbers of
voters regarding Barbo in comparison to the other accused persons.
Interestingly, no suggestion was made for Vicerino’s imprisonment,
in spite of the charge against him — submission at Tenedos of the gal-
ley he commanded to Mudazzo. Vicerino’s punishment was the dep-
rivation of commandment on any Venetian commercial galley." One
could safely claim that these were spectacle or staged trials. In other
words, since the Venetian Senate did not consider Mudazzo’s conduct
as a mutiny, there were no assistants to be punished for actions that
had not taken place.

Mudazzo’s grandson, bearing identical name, it should be indicated,
was never put on trial. Indeed, the Venetian Senate had instructed the
Venetian government of Crete, Mudazzo’s homeland, to confiscate
his possessions, to imprison him, his wife and children and to send
him to Venice, to put on trial for helping his grandfather’s mutiny at
Tenedos. Nevertheless, due to the Venetian rector’s of Hania in Crete
claim to Mudazzo’s innocence, the Venetian Senate retreated from
its previous resolution and instructed at the end of April to release
Mudazzo and his family and to give him back his possessions.”> One
could only wonder if the accusation and punishment of the grandson
was not a smoke screen for pardoning the original Mudazzo.

Genoa, it seems, did not buy all these declared trials. As it was evi-
dent, since September 1382, that Venice had not submitted to Florence
the pledge money, Genoa seized and confiscated in April Venetian ves-
sels as well. At the end of April or early May 1383 Venice dispatched
to Genoa a notary, Nicholas of «Clugia» (Chioggia), to negotiate the
release of a Venetian «galeazza» captured in April and the goods that
had been on board."*

This, however, was not the only mission of the Venetian delegate.
The Collegio informed him on the alliance (liga) negotiated by Genoa
and Hungary. The Venetian ambassador had to discuss this sensitive

"4 Ibidem, f. 48-48v. These pages contain separate discussions on the verdicts concerning
each of the accused.

> On the details of the charge against Mudazzo, the grandson, one can learn by the
claim to his innocence: ibidem, f. 47v, 31 June 1383.

6 The confiscation of the «galeazza» and the notary’s mission are indicated in the letter
of appointment given on 12 June and related to right below to additional two delegates
sent to Genoa: ibidem, ff. 43v and 44r, 4 June 1383. It should be pointed out that this volume
contains disorder in paging.
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subject with the Genoese regime emphasizing not only that Venice
desired sincere and peaceful relationships with Genoa, as the treaty
of Torino ordered, but also its willingness to enter into «brotherhood
alliance» («fraternal») with Genoa."” Genoa, it seems, started to make
efforts to revive the maritime branch of the league in the Adriatic that
it had headed against Venice to besiege Chioggia in 1380. Genoa’s and
Hungary’s collaboration, always against Venice it should be pointed
out, go back to the 1350s. The efforts to revive this league are not ac-
cidental. Since 1382, as I have discussed it at length elsewhere, Venice
and Genoa started, separately, negotiations to take over the island of
Corfu, at the Northern Ionian and Southern Adriatic Seas. Corfu was
an obligatory port of call along the sea lanes connecting both Medi-
terranean basins and along the sea lanes leading to and from Venice
to both basins. Since July 1382 the individual that held the island was
Carlo III of Durazzo, who had also joined forces with Genoa in the
war of Chioggia. Nevertheless, Carlo III evenly negotiated with each
of these sea powers. Venice, however, enjoyed an advantage, since it
had been invited by a major group of the Corfiot population to take
over the island. Realizing Venice did not intend to hand over the island
of Tenedos, the Genoese decided to open another front, to blockade
Venice’s sea lane either in the Adriatic with Hungary’s help, or by oc-
cupying the island of Corfu.

It should also be noted that on the same day 4 May 1383 that Venice
dispatched a notary to Genoa, the Venetian Senate also decided, for
the first time publicly, to send an armed galley to Corfu in response
to the original request by the pro-Venetian group in the island. The
galley was literally meant to prevent the fall of the island into ‘other
hands’. In addition to the alliance between Hungary and Genoa, it
also concerned the arrival of a Genoese fleet in the Eastern Medi-
terranean, discussed on the same meeting of the Venetian Senate."
Since, as above-said, Corfu was an obligatory port of call along the
popular sea lane connecting both Mediterranean basins, the Genoese
apparently believed that they would avoid suspicion that they were

"7 Ibidem: Liber Secretarum Collegii, 1382-1385, f. 497, 4 May 1383.

8 The subject matters of the 4 May 1383 were re-discussed in the Senate on 23 May
1383: ibidem: Senato-Misti, Secreta, reg. 38, f. 35v. On the struggles of Venice and Genoa over
the island of Corfu and the other political powers involved see R. GERTWAGEN, The Island
of Corfu in Venetian Policy in the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Century, «International Journal of
Maritime History», x1x, 1, 2007, pp. 181-210.
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planning aggression against the island. In the aftermath they could
have justified their action by claiming that they were forcing the Vene-
tians to honor the Pact of Torino. In other words, the Venetians had
every reason to believe that if the Genoese had occupied Corfu, Ven-
ice’s protests would have fallen on deaf ears, as it had not yet handed
over Tenedos. The Venetian galley was thus sent to deter the Genoese
threat. Considering the above-said, one could safely claim that the
afore-mentioned Collegio’s instruction to the Venetian delegate in
Genoa to declare Venice’s willingness to enter into «brotherhood alli-
ance» («fraterna») with Genoa, undoubtedly sounds cynic.

Genoa’s response is unknown. On 12 May, however, the Venetian
Senate ordered to dispatch another two ambassadors to Genoa. These
had to acquit both Venice and Florence of the fine and punishment
resulted from the delay of the evacuation of the island of Tenedos, to
demand all documents written by the Genoese government regard-
ing the pledged money during Mudazzo’s mutiny and afterwards, to
demand money restitution to Florence, in case it had already paid
the pledge or part of it, and to point to Venice’s readiness to pay for
tearing down the fortifications of the island, although that had been
Genoa’s obligations according to the Pact of Torino. The ambassa-
dors had to invite a Genoese overseer to be present during the de-
struction operations. If Genoa had rejected these suggestions, the
ambassadors had to point to Venice’s readiness to submit the island
to a third side, approved by Genoa, who would have to handle the
pulling down operations. These last suggestions that had in fact been
the original stipulations of the Pact of Torino were now conditioned
by releasing Venice and Florence from all Venice’s obligations accord-
ing to the Pact of Torino, the pledged money included, the moment
the destruction operations on the island had started. The Venetian
delegates had also to require three month period, starting with the
time of arrival of the third side in Venice, to complete the evacuation
operation of the island.™

These missions followed the suggestions made on the same day,
4 June, by the Collegio, headed by the doge Antonio Veniero.”* The
suggestions, in fact, are only with slight difference from the original

"9 Ibidem, f. 291, 12 May 1383. Due to disorganized paged volume, this document was put
later than the previous antedated: f. 43, 6 June 1383.
2% Ibidem: Liber Secretarum Collegii, 1382-1385, ff. 157-16v, 4 June 1383.
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article of the Pact of Torino regarding Tenedos. Practically these as-
signments demonstrated once again Venice’s scheming to gain time
without paying any fines for the delay; however, on the contrary, to
be refunded on what Genoa had already taken by confiscating both
Florentine and Venetian ships and goods on account of the pledged
money. One has only to bear in mind that in a three-month period the
probation to trade with Tana in the N-E Black Sea, according to the
Pact of Torino, was about to be expired. Venice wanted the island of
Tenedos at its hands at that moment. This argument is sustained by
the suggestion made independently by the doge during the last ses-
sion of the Senate on 4 June, and which he had not put for previous
discussion with the Collegio.

The whole doge’s new suggestion deals with three topics. One was
the arguments against destructions of the fortifications of the islands
and the evacuation of the local islanders: in order not to cause dissat-
isfaction to God and the whole world; in order to provide safe naviga-
tion to these areas against the Ottomans, who themselves might have
taken over the island and fortify it. The other topic of the suggestion
provided a so called creative solution: to deliver the island to the Byz-
antine emperor, providing that nor Genoa nor Venice would, eventu-
ally, take it from the emperor. In case of violation, both communes
would be doomed for heavy fines. The third topic was the idea that
if the Genoese declined his new suggestion, the ambassadors should
sign with them on the clauses included in the original suggestions
made by the Collegio and introduced to the Senate.” Since Antonio
Venier has been the second baiulus of Tenedos, nominated in June
1376, he must have had an experience of the navigation conditions in
the N-E Mediterranean and acknowledged the strategic location of
the island along them. Nevertheless, his statement that the Ottomans
were the threat to be beware of, albeit Venice’s good relations with
them, sounds suspicious. Let alone the involvement of the Byzantine
emperor, all the more so after Venice itself had turned down in 1381
and 1382, as above-mentioned, the emperor’s request to the island,
while risking the refurbishment of the traditional five-years course
treaty with him. The Genoese, who urged the emperor to make their
move, were very much aware of the motive behind Venice’s refusal.

2t Ibidem: Senato-Misti, Secreta, reg. 38, f. 471, 4 June 1383.
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The threat of fines, suggested by Venier, sounds cynic, since Venice
itself did not respect the payment of fines. One could only wonder
about Venier’s suggestion that he practically pulled out of his sleeve
the last moment as an addendum. It, however, reflected a transpar-
ent tactic to suspend the deliverance of the island by re-opening the
discussions on the subject. Venier’s third topic, i.e., to ensure Genoese
signature on the other suggestions made by the Collegio supports this
argument; such a signature would have formed a breakthrough for a
future pressure to get their signature on the Venetian doge’s adden-
dum. Venier must have pre-supposed the feebleness of his suggestion
and, therefore, proposed to open it with a religious slogan to gain the
Christian world’s support. Indeed, Venier was the first one suggest-
ing to put on table all cards of Venice’s sincere policy that denied its
obligation, according to the Pact of Torino, to evacuate and handing
over the island of Tenedos.

Nevertheless, Venier’s suggestion was dangerous. First, it could
jeopardize the afore-mentioned good relations with the Ottomans.
The Venetians could not afford such a risk, all the more so after the
Genoese-Ottomans treaties in 1381 and 1382. Second, the suggestion
would have insulted Genoese intellect. The senators ignored, there-
fore, the doge’s addendum and did not put it to discussion, when the
Senate’s resumed at the end of the month its meeting on the delega-
tion to Genoa.™

The meeting on 30 June discussed Genoa’s demand to see the writ-
ten assignment of the two Venetian ambassadors, according to the
above-mentioned resolution of 5 June 1383. The Venetian senators
pointed to the danger in submitting anything in writing.”® Such a
move, undoubtedly expressed Venice’s real policy to which it will be
liable to and eliminated its possibility for retreating or negotiation.
Turning down Genoa’s request meant Venice’s public statement not
to respect its own suggestions.

On 7 July the Senate discussed again the possibilities to gain six
month time, without paying any fine and getting refunds. The fail-
ure of the suggestions point to the Venetian Senate’s acknowledge-
ment that it was no more possible to try to fool Genoa.” Eventu-
ally at the end of August and early September, the Venetian Senate

22 Ibidem, f. 477, 6 June 1383. 3 Jbidem, f. 517, 30 June 1383.
24 Ibidem, f. 53v, 8 July 1383; f. 547, 8 July 1383 (two resolutions).
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approved for the first time the practical moves for tearing down the
island’s fortifications and the evacuation of its settlers.” The approval
was enacted after a contract had been signed in Genoa on 13 August,
between the Genoese and the Venetians.”® By April 1384 the whole
operation had been accomplished. On 14 April 1384 Venice requested
from Genoa an official document acknowledging Venice’s standing
up to its obligations according to the Pact of Torino at the presence
of a Genoese overseer. The Genoese document had also to include
Genoa’s obligation to refund Florence for what had been confiscated
from her on account of the pledged money by the Genoese, since the
time of Mudazzo’ mutiny.”” Genoa, however, did not provide Venice
with the document according to the Serenissima’s request in May and
June 1384.™*

Only in February 1385 Florence received a document that included
the Genoese overseer’s testimony on the accomplishment of the de-
molishing operation of all constructions on the island. The testimony
itself was written on the shore at the harbor of the island of Tene-
dos, where a warehouse had stood before its demolishing. The whole
Genoese document included all the events since the Pact of Torino,
beginning with Venice’s and Genoa’s obligations. The document re-
ferred explicitly to the Venetian Senate’s proposal of June 4 regarding
its ambassadors’ to Genoa mandate, which Genoa approved, clearly
acknowledging that the cause of the delay of Venice’s execution of
the Pact of Torino was Mudazzo’s mutiny.” On July 1384 according
to the Genoese calendar and 1385, according to the Pisan calendar,
Genoa submitted an official document to Florence regarding the re-
fund for all Florentine and Pisan confiscated goods on account of the
pledged money that Florence had to give Genoa, until Venice had ac-
complished its obligations according to the Pact of Torino.*

25 Ibidem, f. 651, 29 Aug. 1383; f. 671, 1st Sept. 1383; f. 671-v, 1st Sept. 1383.

26 One can learn on the contract from the official Genoese document to Florence, after
the accomplishment of the whole operation: Miiller (a cura di), Documenti, cit., pp. 128-135,
doc. xc, 12 Febr. 1385: here, p. 132; I'll refer below to the character of this document and
other issues it deals with.

7 asve: Senato-Misti, Secreta, reg. 38, f. 1131, 14 Apr. 1384. Three month earlier the island’s in-
habitants were transformed to Crete and Negroponte: THIRIET, Venise, cit., p. 236 and note 2.

28 asve: Senato-Misti, Secreta, reg. 38, f. 1301, 22 May 1384.

29 Miiller (a cura di), Documenti, cit., pp. 128-135, doc. xc.

% Ibidem, pp. 135-142; The editor only dated the document according to the Genoese
calendar i.e., 7 July 1384, whereas on p. 142, the document explicitly says that according
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It should be noted that the delay by Genoa in the deliverance of
the above documents to both Venice and Florence was not accidental.
In March 1384 an Ottoman delegation came to Venice, for the first
time one should add, to ask for Venice’s alliance against the Genoese,
in return for Scutari.” A mission that unfortunately failed, since the
Senate could not afford a new war against Genoa that might have
caused Venice, in addition to heavy financial burden, also the hostil-
ity of the Western powers and the loss of Tenedos.** Nevertheless all
these diplomatic contacts point to Venice’s good relations with the
Ottomans and that they were not the danger, whom Venice might
have faced by leaving the island of Tenedos, as claimed by Thiriet,
Cessi and Surdich.

As much as frustrating it must have been, the failure to win Scutari
did not entirely cloud Venice’s big achievement, i.e., officially holding
the island of Tenedos by the time of the resume of the trade with
Tana in August 1383 and for eight month later. One could safely claim
that in contrast to its diplomatic failure to Genoa on the morrow of
the war of Tenedos-Chioggia, expressed by the Pact of Torino, the
scheming policy of Venice for two years and five month has com-
pletely succeeded. Genoa failed to obstacle Venice’s trade in the N-E
Mediterranean and especially with Tana.

CONCLUSION

Tiny as it is, the island of Tenedos was the cause to the last bloodshed
wars between Venice and Genoa in the N-E Mediterranean. In late

to the Pisan calendar the year should be 1385. This dating is also logical according to the
sequence of events.
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asve: Senato-Misti, Secreta, reg. 38, f. 1077, 16 Mar. 1384.

Ibidem, f. 114v, 14 Apr. 1384 and f. 112v, 1st July 1384; reg. 39, f. 112v, 20 July 138s. See the
discussions of Heyd and Fabris on the subject matter: HEYD, Histoire du commerce du Levant,
cit., 11, p. 260; FaBR1s, From Adrianople to Constantinople, cit., pp. 159-160. The discussions in
April and July 1384 regarding Murad did not concern Turkish attacks on Negroponte and
customs concessions on grain and alum, as argued by Luttrell, since these were connected
to the Turkish emirates of Aydin and Menteshe: A. LUTTRELL, Latin Response to Ottoman
Expansion before 1389, in The Ottoman Empire (1300-1389) Halcyon Days in Crete A Symposium Held
in Rethymnon 1-13 January 1991, ed. by E. Zachariadou, Rethymnon, Crete University Press,
1993, p. 128 and note 52. On piracy from Aydin and Menteshe see Monumenta Peloponnesiaca:
Documents for the History of the Peloponnese in the 14™ and 15" Centuries, ed. by J. Chrysosto-
mides, Athens, Porphyrogenitus, 1995, p. 62, no. 29 and note 2: in this case the Turks were
commissioned by the duke of Athens and from them, Venice required compensations.
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medieval scale this war was unique in two aspects. First, by the ma-
rine and terrestrial zones it eventually occupied: N-E Mediterranean,
the Adriatic Sea and Venice’s hinterland; second, by the political pow-
ers it involved; beyond Venice and Genoa there were, the Ottomans,
even for a short time, in the N-E Mediterranean and in the Adriatic,
Hungary and Dalmatia as well as Ferrara and Aquileia on the Italian
mainland. Shifted to Chioggia, the front port town of Venice in the
Adriatic, this war almost cost Venice its physical existence.

The importance of the Island of Tenedos is derived from combina-
tion of factors: geographiclocation at the entrance to the Dardanelles,
the navigation conditions in the N-E Mediterranean, topographic as-
sets — protected anchorages — and abundance of running water. These
last two factors endowed the island much better advantages than the
island of Imbros to its N-E, which was an obligatory port of call before
entering the Dardanelles. Due to the favourable Genoese geopolitical
layout in the N-E ,Aegean since the 1350s, i.e., possession of the islands
of Chios and Lesbos as well as the independent quarter of Pera at
Constantinople, the Genoese enjoyed a considerable advantage over
the Venetian geopolitical layout, in which the island of Negroponte
was the most frontal post in the N-E Aegean. The island of Tenedos by
itself had, therefore, less importance to Genoa than to Venice. Nev-
ertheless, the fight over the island was not merely on the island itself
but over controlling the international commerce between the Black
Sea, Southern, Central and Western Europe, which was at the core of
existence of both Genoa and Venice, each thrived to be the sole Euro-
pean reloading port for this trade. A major part of achieving this goal
was by dominating the sea lanes to this area, along which the island of
Tenedos played a key role as an obligatory port of call.

It should be stressed that neither Genoa or Venice intended to actu-
ally blockade the entrance to the Dardanelles by positioning patrol-
ling galleys or overtly harassing each other vessels going by the is-
land of Tenedos. Such a situation could have caused permanent wars.
Genoa and Venice alike could not economically afford it. Nor would
the Christian world have allowed a constant war in this area with the
growing threat of the Ottomans.

One could safely claim that by holding the island of Tenedos and
only by denying the Venetians the anchorage, Genoa would have
achieved with ‘nature’s help” similar results in blockading the straits.
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The contrary winds and currents and the thirst would have enforced
the war galleys to stay at Negroponte until favourable navigation
conditions. Contrary winds and currents and the thirst would have
slowed down the advancement of commercial convoys or might have
forced them to turn back to Negroponte. In other words, losing Ten-
edos would have prevent the Serenissima to effectively react to the
abuse of its both status and commercial activities in Constantinople
and mainly, in the Black Sea.

Such a situation might eventually have enforced the Venetians to
accept Genoa’s stipulations in return for anchoring permits to anchor
at Tenedos. One only has to bear in mind that in the late 1340s Venice
suffered a similar experience: in 1348 the Genoese took over from the
Byzantines the straits of Hieron at the north of Bosporus straits, and
allowed both Venetian and Byzantine ships to enter the Black Sea only
with special permits. Moreover, the Venetians and Byzantines had to
pay for those permits. This incident was one of the motives for the
Byzantine emperor to join forces with the Venetians against the Ge-
noese in the third genoese war, the war of the Bosporus (1351-1355).

Historians are not allowed to rely on ‘what if". Nevertheless, one
could safely presume that the past experience of Hieron straits anec-
dote, after the Genoese ‘robbing’ the island of Chios, only two years
earlier, in 1346, as above-mentioned, left the Venetians with fresh
memory. These events along with other facts detailed by the current
paper certainly highlight the motives behind Venice’s efforts to hold
the island of Tenedos. For the Serenissima it meant preventing Genoa
from achieving its goals, i.e., depriving Venice’s access to Constantino-
ple and mainly to the Black Sea, otherwise Venice would have shrunk
into a Mediterranean marginal commercial power.

The political negotiation that followed the end of the war proved
that eventually victory lies not at military success, especially if it was
not a clear and a cut one. Furthermore, peace treaties” stipulations
could have been bypassed and cancelled by diplomatic craftiness.
With brilliant scheming diplomatic manceuvres Venice succeeded to

' Heyp, Histoire du commerce du Levant, cit., 11, p. 198. In fact combination of violent
actions made by the Genoese of Pera, the last of which were their destruction of the fleet
built by the emperor and their attack on Constantinople in 1349, to prevent the emperor to
regain possession of both Hieorn straits and the island of Chios and Phocea, stimulated the
emperor to join forces with the Venetians: BALARD, La Romanie génoise, cit., 1, pp. 76-80.
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officially keep the island of Tenedos a considerably period after the
resume in August 1383 of the trade with Tana, the important inter-
national commercial centre at the N-E Black Sea, that was at the core
of the fights between Venice and Genoa since the 1270s. Venice also
cunningly succeeded to detain the destruction of all buildings and
fortifications on the Island, as well as the evacuation of its inhabitants
for one year and eight month.

Furthermore, the Venetian documents of the late fourteenth cen-
tury and early fifteenth refer to Tenedos, a bare island of construc-
tions and local population, as an anchorage for Venetian commercial
convoys naval fleets bound to Constantinople and the Black Sea, since
at least 1387, albeit the probation of the Pact of Torino imposed on
both Genoa and Venice. In March 1397 Venice tried an audacious
move and applied to Genoa to accept its suggestion to fortify Tenedos
against the Ottomans, in order to prevent them from conquering the
island. Such a move points to Venice’s possession of the island and to
the Serenissima’s trial of a scheming policy to overtly declare it. The
use of the Ottomans’ threat was logical, especially after the defeat of
the Crusade at Nicopolis in 1396. Indeed Venice renewed its relation-
ships with Bayezid, the new Sultan in 1390. Nevertheless the Sultan
did not keep up with his promises and no exchange of embassies be-
tween the two powers took place between 1392 and 1402.” Although
no belligerent situation prevailed between the two powers, the re-
newal of close relationships between the Genoese of Pera and Bayez-
id, already in 1389, worried the Venetians. Let alone the Genoese of
Pera insistence to pursue these contacts albeit the contradiction with
Genoa’s formal policy that became extreme towards the Ottomans,
after Genoa’s subordination to France in 1397. Venice’s effort to take
advantage of the internal unstable political situation in Genoa that
lead to Genoa’s subordination to France, to get formal recognition of
the Serenissima’s hold of Tenedos, by getting the permit to re-fortify
it in 1397, failed.”*

4 STOCKLY, Le systéme de U'incanto, cit., pp. 109, 111, who only refers to 1387 and wrongly
indicates it was an exception. Surprisingly she claims that the island was marginal along
the navigation route.

% FaBris, From Adrianople to Constantinople, cit., pp. 163-165.

6 THIRIET, Venise, cit., p. 241 and note 3. My interpretation differs from that of Thiriet
and from that of A. D. ZakyTHINOS, L'attitude de Venise face au declin et a la chute de Constan-
tinople, in Venegia centro di Mediagione tra Oriente e Occidente (secoli xv-xv1), Aspetti e problemi
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At the end of the fourteenth century and early fifteenth, the strug-
gles between the Venetians and the Genoese over sea lanes in the
Eastern Mediterranean reached a high level, and they became overt
also in the Ionian (on Corfu at the north-east and on Zonchio-Nava-
rino, in the south-east) and in the Southern Adriatic (on Durazzo).
By winning these places, Genoa would have blocked Venice’s exit
to the Eastern Mediterranean and would have enforce the Serenis-
sima to deliver the island of Tenedos. Venice who faced once again
a danger for its survival, succeeded in failing Genoa in 1387 to obtain
Durazzo and won the place for itself in 1392. Four years later, at the
end of 1402 early 1403, Venice officially purchased also the island of
Corfu.”

Atthe same year, the Venetian Senates discussed the purchase of Gal-
lipoli in the N-w Dardanelles, profiting of Bayezid’s defeat to the Mon-
gols in late 1402. By the possession of Gallipoli in addition to Tenedos
on the one hand, and on the other, the defeat of the Ottomans, Ven-
ice could achieve for the first time a complete control on the sea lanes
leading from the N-E Aegean to Constantinople and the Black Sea.
Eventually such a step was never realized. Nevertheless the Venetians
successfully and cunningly failed the Genoese fleet’s scheme move to
take over Gallipoli in 1403. On its way to the s-e Mediterranean, the
Genoese, head by Marshal Boucicault, offered the Byzantine emperor
to escort him from Italy to Constantinople. Shortly later the Venetian
tailed the Genoese attack on the Mameluck Levant. The embittered
Genoese failures culminated in the Venetian victorious attack in late
1403 on the Genoese fleet at Sapienza, south-west of Methoni, thus
tailing the Genoese to take over Zonchio-Navarino north to Methoni,
in the s-w Peloponnese. It was the first violent confrontation between
the two powers since the end of the war of Tenedos-Chioggia. Nev-

a cura di H.-G. Beck, M. Manoussacas, A. Pertusi, Firenze, Olschki, 1977, 1, p. 67. Surdich
rightly claims that Venice deliberately ignored the logical Genoa’s counter offer to deliver
the island of Tenedos to the Pope; he, however, did not explain why: SUrDICH, Genova e
Venegia, cit., p. 41, note 46. On Pera, the Ottomans and the tough attitude of ‘French’ Ge-
noa towards Pera see BALARD, La Romanie génoise, cit., 1, pp. 96-100.

7 R. GERTWAGEN, The Contribution of Venice’s colonies to its naval warfare in the Eastern
Mediterranean in the Fifteenth century, in Mediterraneo in Armi (secc. xv-xvii), ed. by R. Can-
cilla, special issue of «La Rivista Mediterranea», 2007 («Quaderni Mediterranei Ricerche
Storiche», 4), pp. 122-130. In 1386 the Venetians only gained the town of Corfu and strategic
sections in the north of the island: Eapgwm, Corfu, cit., pp. 181-210.
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ertheless the Pact of Torino was renewed between the two powers in
March 1404.%

The Genoese, who did not give up, involved other political entities
to achieve their aims regarding Zonchio and Tenedos. In the Ionian
they enlisted to their side local forces of Genoese origin in the Morea
and in N-E Aegean, the Genoese were assisted by the Order of St.
John (the Hospitallers), who tried cunningly to take over the island of
Tenedos in 1403. All these efforts failed.® Furthermore, due to rumors
in March 1405, that turned to be false, that the Byzantine Emperor
had intended to fortify Tenedos in collaboration with the Genoese of
Pera, the Venetian Senate ordered to send the captain of the Adriatic
with the fleet of the Adriatic to take over the island overtly. Eventu-
ally, Venice’s determination won, and the treaty with Byzantium that
was renewed in 1406 included a clause that said: «regarding the island
of Tenedos, nothing will be said at present, but the issue will be de-
tained as long as the treaties between us persist». ™

One could safely claim that the above-clause was a silent admission
of Venice’s possession of the island of Tenedos. In 1415 the captain of
the convoy returning from Tana wrote in Tenedos to the Metropolis
on the Ottomans’ preparations of a big fleet in Gallipoli in the Dar-
danelles for attacking Venetian ships. Two copies of the letters were
sent to Venice, carried by two commercial ships of navis type, one
of which arrived at Candia, Crete.™ In 1425 the island of Tenedos
was mentioned explicitly in relation to Genoese threat. The Venetian
naves sailing to Romania had to sail to Methoni or Corone in s-w Pelo-
ponnese, to wait there for the instructions of the captain general of
the Venetian fleet. Then they had to sail in a convoy, accompanied by
a special navis armed against pirates, due to the presence of Genoese
galleys in the N-E Mediterranean, to Tenedos thence, to Gallipoli.*
One could only assume that the acquisition of Zonchio-Navarino by
the Venetians in 1423 had a direct impact to this hostility on sea. Six
years later, the island of Tenedos was mentioned again in a direct re-
lation to the Genoese, during the Venetian naval fleet’s attack in 1431

% My interpretation of the battle at Sapienza is different from the conventional: see
EapewM, The Contributions, cit., pp. 131-136. % Jbidem, p. 136.

" THIRIET, Venise, cit. (the English translation is mine).

Mt asve: Duca di Candia Lettere Ricevute, b. 1, no. 6, ff. 27v-287, 28 Nov. 1415. STOCKLY, Le
systéme de incanto, cit., p. 111.

“* Ibidem: Senato-Misti, Secreta, reg. 55, f. 1077, 2 Apr. 1425.
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on the island of Chios, in the frame of the war between Venice and
the duke of Milan. Genoa, at that time was subordinate to Milan. The
Genoese government of Chios, the Mahonesi, had to prevent Venice
from taking advantage of this new situation to build any fortified con-
struction on the island of Tenedos that would be an overt declaration
of Venetian occupation of the island. The Genoese naval retaliation
on Venice’s Stato da Mar in the Aegean eventually ended successfully
and, a peace was signed between the two rivals in 1435."

By keeping the island of Tenedos, until its fall in 1453 to the
Ottomans,* as well by the acquisitions of strategic locations in the
Southern Adriatic and the Eastern Ionian, Venice turned to be, at the
end of the day, the ultimate winner over Genoa, while the Serenis-
sima, retained, in contrast to its hereditary rival, its political and stable
independence.

“ The Signoria of Genoa wrote to Murad II, the Ottoman Sultan, on 31st October 1431,
a letter, asking for his help to achieve this aim: ARGENTI, The Occupation of Chios by the
Genoese, cit., 1, p. 181 and n. 2; on the maritime confrontations and the peace agreement
see Ibidem, pp. 174-188; L. BALLETTO, Chio dei Genovesi tra rivolta Maonese, corsari catalani ed
attacchi venegiani, « Annuario de Estudios Medievales», XX1v, 1994, pp. 485-489.

4 THIRIET, Venise, cit., p. 238.



SELLING AND BUYING PROTECTION.
DUTCH WAR FLEETS
AT THE SERVICE OF VENICE
(1617-1667)*

Louis SickING

For money the Dutch would serve the devil.
MauRrTs vaN Nassau, prince of Orange*

INTRODUCTION

IT is well known that the introduction of heavy artillery at sea
played a major role in the transformation of warfare at sea roughly
between 1500 and 1650. Whereas galleys were the first ships to take
advantage of the use of heavy artillery, in the long run sailing ships
became the preferred ships for maritime warfare. Perhaps the most
spectacular consequence of the slow and difficult but eventually suc-
cessful adoption of broadside artillery on sailing ships was the return
of the sailing vessel for warfare in the galley-dominated Mediterra-
nean in the early modern era.?

Venice well represents this development. In 1499 the government-

* This paper was originally presented at the third Mediterranean Maritime History Net-
work Conference at Izmir, 4-7 May, 2010. I am indebted to Hielke van Nieuwenhuize for
his comments on an earlier version of the article published here.

' Expression by prince Maurits van Nassau, stadholder of Holland and Zeeland: «en
de Hollanders zouden voor geld den duivel dienen» (P. Geyr, Christofforo Suriano: resident
van de Serenissime Republiek van Venetié in Den Haag, 1616-1623, The Hague, 1913, pp. 232-233,
note 4).

* Between around 1500 and 1580 galleys had gained a major advantage relative to sail-
ing ships: N. A. M. RODGER, The Safeguard of the Sea. A Naval History of Britain, 1, 660-1649,
London, 1997, pp. 207-208; J. F. GUILMARTIN, Gunpowder and Galleys: changing Technology
and War at Sea in the Sixteenth Century, New York, 1974, p. 59; IDEM, Guns and Gunnery, in R.
Gardiner, R. W. Unger (eds.), Cogs, Caravels and Galleons. The Sailing Ship 1000-1650, London,
1994, pp. 139-150; J. F. GUILMARTIN, Galleons and galleys, London, 2002, pp. 114, 118; J. GLETE,
Warfare at Sea, 1500-1650. Maritime Conflicts and the Transformation of Europe, London-New
York, 2000, pp. 22, 27-28; R. Gardiner, J. Morrison (eds.), The Age of the Galley. Mediterranean
Oared Vessels since Pre-Classical Times, London, 2004; P. C. RaHN, The Galleon, in Gardiner,
Unger (eds.), Cogs, Caravels and Galleons, cit., pp. 98-114.
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owned war fleet of Venice, which was maintained by the State in times
of peace, had included a few very large sailing ships designed for war
by shipwrights of the Venetian arsenal. But in the sixteenth century
the building of such vessels had stopped. The arsenal then built only
galleys. Next to its own galleys Venice also hired converted merchant-
men. In 1617 they hired them for the first time from the Dutch and
the English, who since the end of the sixteenth century entered the
Mediterranean for commercial ends.? It soon became routine for both
Venice and other powers to lease Dutch and English ships for their
wars — a clear indication that these ships were now considered suffi-
ciently effective for warfare next to galleys in the Mediterranean.
Historians as Fernand Braudel and Frederic Lane have recognized
the role of the Dutch and the English in the re-introduction of the
sailing ship for Mediterranean warfare in the early modern era.* From
1617 until 1667, when the Venetian arsenal built its first ship-of-the-
line, Venice regularly hired converted merchantmen for warfare from
the Dutch and the English. How were the Dutch able to sell or rent
out entire war fleets to foreign powers like Venice and why were they
willing to do so? Of what importance was this possibility for Venice?
The aim of this paper is to put the Dutch contribution to Venetian
warfare at sea in the Mediterranean in the seventeenth century in a
broader perspective and to emphasize the continuing role of convert-
ed merchantmen for warfare beyond the Middle Ages into the Early
Modern Era, even after the introduction of the gun port. More im-
portantly, it will be argued that the rise of the State did neither in all
cases nor immediately give rise to a domination of naval warfare by
permanent navies consisting of purpose-built warships. Thus a con-

3 E. C. LANE, Venice. A maritime Republic, Baltimore-London, 1973, p. 412; J. R. BRUTJN,
Varend verleden. De Nederlandse oorlogsvloot in de geventiende en achttiende eeuw, Amsterdam,
1998, p. 31; GEYL, Christofforo Suriano, cit., pp. 224-269. On the Dutch and English presence
in the Mediterranean see F. BRAUDEL, La Méditerranée et le monde méditerranéen a I'époque
de Philippe 11, oth imprint, Paris, 1990, vol. 2, pp. 315-320, 325-329, 341. More recently for the
Netherlands: M. C. ENGELS, Merchants, Interlopers, Seamen and Corsairs. The ‘Flemish’ Com-
munity in Livorno and Genoa (1615-1635), Hilversum, 1997; M. vaAN GELDER, Trading Places.
The Netherlandish Merchants in Early Modern Venice, Leiden-Boston, 2009.

4 BRAUDEL, Méditerranée, cit., vol. 2, pp. 334-347; J. 1. ISRaEL, Dutch Primacy in World
Trade, 1585-1740, Oxford, 1989 (repr. 1992, pp. 100-101), revised Braudel on Dutch commercial
expansion in the Mediterranean; LANE, Venice, cit., pp. 385-386, 407-408 ; ENGELS, Merchants,
cit.,, and VAN GELDER, Trading Places, cit., pp. 73-74 hardly paid any attention to the deliv-
eries of war supplies and war ships from the Dutch Republic to Venice.
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tribution can be made to the much-debated question of the extent of
efficiency and effectiveness of the Dutch admiralties, responsible for
transforming merchant vessels into warships.*> Furthermore this arti-
cle will hopefully contribute to bridge two existing historiographical
gaps: the one between medieval and early modern naval historiogra-
phy and the other between Mediterranean maritime history and the
history of the Atlantic and North Sea.

THE IMPORTANCE OF ARMED MERCHANTMEN
FOR NAVAL WARFARE

In spite of the development of purpose-built sailing warships, the
practise of converting merchant vessels for war, which had been an
important characteristic of medieval naval warfare in the Atlantic and
North Sea, remained important until around the middle of the sev-
enteenth century.® The introduction of the heavy gun at sea did not
end the phenomenon of the flexible fleets, that is merchant fleets that
could be used as war fleets, in the case of sailing vessels. On the con-
trary, the development of the sailing ship from the full-rigged ship of
the fifteenth century — the three master which combined the Atlantic
and northern square sail with the triangular lateen sail of the Mediter-
ranean — to the ‘relatively homogeneous type of seventeenth century
sailing gun-armed ship’, gave new opportunities for combinations of
cargo-carrying and fighting power.” The merchant fleet of the Neth-
erlands remained therefore a major tool for naval warfare.

Although several initiatives were taken in the Dutch Republic to
develop new ship types suitable for naval warfare in the shoal-filled
home waters, essential during the Dutch Revolt, as well as for the
open sea, which resulted in a nucleus of specialized warships around

> The best recent discussion is to be found in J. GLETE, War and the State in Early Modern
Europe. Spain, the Dutch Republic and Sweden as Fiscal-Military States, 1500-1660, London-New
York, 2002, pp. 162-171.

¢ E.g., R. A. STRADLING, The Armada of Flanders. Spanish Maritime Policy and European
War, 1568-1668, Cambridge, 1992, p. 165; K. FriTZE, G. KRAUSE, Seekriege der Hanse, Berlin,
1989, p. 54; L. SICKING, Neptune and the Netherlands. State, Economy, and War at Sea in the
Renaissance, Leiden-Boston, 2004, pp. 370-373, 378-381. It is revealing in this connection that
in the late Middle Ages the French word ‘navy’ referred to a body of ships. Depending on
the context it might mean the whole merchant fleet of a country: RoDpGER, The Safeguard,
cit., p. 117.

7 For a description of this development see GLETE, War and the state, cit., pp. 28-31.
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1621, the majority of ships in Dutch war fleets continued to be trans-
formed merchant vessels until shortly after the middle of the seven-
teenth century.® The Dutch could boast upon a long tradition in this
respect. Their large merchant fleet represented an enormous naval
potential. In 1536 the States of Holland claimed explicitly that it was
thanks to the large merchant fleet of Holland that emperor Charles V
had more ships available than the kings of Portugal, France and Eng-
land put together.” Holland’s fleet expanded rapidly in the remainder
of the sixteenth to become the largest merchant fleet in Europe and
possibly in the world in the seventeenth century, surpassing that of
Spain.*

But this was not the only element of importance to explain the con-
tinuing importance of merchantmen for naval warfare in the early
modern era. The introduction of cast-iron guns around the middle of
the sixteenth century, made it economically possible to arm ships on
an unprecedented scale as guns of cast iron were much cheaper than
bronze. At the same time important improvements were made in
truck carriage design and foundry practice. Cast-iron guns were con-
siderably heavier than bronze pieces which threw the same weight of
ball but cost only about a third or a fourth as much. The disparity in-
creased in time until the cost of iron ordnance had fallen to an eighth
of that of bronze in England in the 1670s.*

A massive international trade in cast-irons guns developed, in which
the Dutch played a particularly important role. In the words of con-
temporaries, the United Provinces became ‘the arsenal of the world’
thanks to the development of an important arms industry which man-

# L. V. Morr, Iberian Naval Power, 1000-1650, in J. B. Hattendorf, R. W. Unger (eds.), War
at Sea in the Middle Ages and the Renaissance, Woodbridge-Rochester, 2003, p. 114; D. Goop-
MAN, Spanish Naval Power, 1589-1665. Reconstruction and Defeat, Cambridge, 1997; M. DE JONG,
«Staat van oorlog». Wapenbedrijf en militaire hervorming in de Republiek der Verenigde Neder-
landen, 1585-1621, Hilversum, 2005, pp. 64-70.

° J. R. BRUYN, Mars en Mercurius uiteen. De uitrusting van de oorlogsvloot in de geventiende
eeuw, in S. Groenveld et alii (eds.), Bestuurders en geleerden. Opstellen over onderwerpen uit de
Nederlandse geschiedenis van de 16de, 17de en 18de eeuw, aangeboden aan prof.dr J.J. Woltjer bij gijn
afscheid als hoogleraar aan de Rijksuniversiteit Leiden, Amsterdam, 1985, pp. 97-106; BRUIJN,
Varend verleden, cit., p. 97; F. SNAPPER, Oorlogsinvloeden op de overgeese handel van Holland,
1551-1719, Amsterdam, 1959, p. 38. ° SICKING, Neptune, cit., pp. 359-360.

" R. W. UNGER, The Tonnage of Europe’s Merchant Fleets 1300-1800, « The American Nep-
tune», 52-54, 1992, pp. 255-257, 260-261.

* RODGER, The Safeguard of the Sea, cit., pp. 213-214; GUILMARTIN, Guns, cit., p. 149.
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aged to assure and regulate the supply of raw materials, like iron from
Sweden and saltpetre from the Indies, and which produced not only
for the Dutch market but also for export. By 1650, cast-iron ordnance
had become the standard means of defence afloat, although bronze
ordnance did not entirely disappear.*

Thanks to broadside gun ports and cast-iron guns a ship could carry
much more guns. Depending on its size the sailing gun-armed ship
which developed in the seventeenth century had one or two and ex-
ceptionally three complete battery decks. Besides, guns continued to
be mounted under the quarter-deck and in the forecastle. When guns
became cheaper gun ports were placed closer to each other so that
even more artillery could be mounted on sailing ships. This stimu-
lated the trend towards big and heavy ships.

Thanks to their enormous maritime potential and the establish-
ment of an inland arms industry, the Dutch were not only able to
equip war fleets for the defence of their territory, their maritime com-
merce and their fisheries in Europe, but also to effect overseas ex-
pansion despite having to compete with larger powers such as Spain,
England and France. Furthermore, the Dutch potential for turning
merchant ships into warships was not limited to Dutch naval warfare
but also advantageous for the naval warfare of foreign powers. Be-
tween the 1610s and the 1660s the Dutch, and to some extent the Eng-
lish, hired out armed merchantmen with guns and crews to Venice,
France, Portugal, Denmark-Norway and Sweden. One of the most
well known examples is the war fleet which the Dutch arms trader
Louis de Geer hired on behalf of Sweden to strengthen its navy in
1643 for an attack against Denmark. More occasionally the Dutch also
delivered warships to the Ottoman Empire, Tuscany, Malta and the
king of Morocco. This happened mostly in periods of war when it
was crucial to mobilize as much naval power as possible. Thus con-
verted merchantmen continued to be of importance for these States.
They were often used as a temporary extra-force in combination with
permanent navies.*

 GUILMARTIN, Guns, cit., pp. 149-150; DE JONG, «Staat van oorlog», cit.

“ GLETE, Warfare, cit., pp. 31, 109, 128; BRUTJN, Verleden, cit., p. 31; DE JONG, «Staat van
oorlog», cit., p. 123. On the Dutch fleet for Sweden F. BREEDVELT-VAN VEEN, Louis de Geer,
1587-1652, Amsterdam, 1935, pp. 153-197; and most recently J. GLETE, Swedish Naval Admin-
istration, 1521-1721. Resoutrce Flows and Organisational Capabilities, Leiden-Boston, 2010, pp.
439-440.
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THE POLITICAL CONTEXT:
THE RAPPROCHEMENT OF TWO REPUBLICS

At the beginning of the seventeenth century Venice, one of the flour-
ishing maritime Empires of the medieval Mediterranean, had been re-
duced to a regional power under military threat from different sides.
The Habsburgs were their main opponents. The Serenissima had to de-
fend itself against archduke Ferdinand of Austria in a war fought over
the commercial monopoly in the Adriatic Sea in 1615. Shipping from
and to Venice was attacked by the Uskoks, enterprising pirates around
Senj in the archipelago belonging to the Austrian Habsburgs.” Fur-
thermore Venice faced increasing hostility from the Spanish viceroys
of Naples and Sicily who supported privateering. Most threatening
were the reigns of the independently operating duke of Osuna, vice-
roy of Sicily (1611-1616) and subsequently of Naples (1616-1620), who
challenged Venice’s pretended control of the Adriatic. Osuna assem-
bled a fleet of sailing ships cooperating on several occasions together
with royal Italian galleys, against Venice. Finally Venice had to defend
itself against attacks at sea from the great centres of privateering and
piracy like Algiers, many other North-African ports, and Malta.*

It was therefore no surprise that Venice sought rapprochement to
other opponents of the Spanish-Austrian Habsburgs, like the Dutch
Republic. Since the 1590s, when Venice had started buying grain in
the Netherlands because of shortages due to bad harvests in Italy,
friendship had grown between the two Republics. The States-General
had assigned a consul in Venice in 1614. Two years later the Venetian
resident Christoforo Suriano arrived in The Hague. The relations be-
tween the old and the new Republic had culminated in an alliance
in 1619. But already before the conclusion of the treaty the States-
General had given permission to levy troops to fight in the service
of Venice and to export gunpowder, fuses, and cannonballs to the
threatened Republic.”

5 C. W. BRACEWELL, The Uskoks of Senj. Piracy, banditry, and holy war in the sixteenth-
century Adriatic, Ithaca-London, 1992, pp. 4-5, 199-209.

' P.'W. KLEIN, De Trippen in de 17 eeuw. Een studie over het ondernemersge-drag op de Hol-
landse stapelmarkt, Assen, 1965, p. 283; GLETE, Warfare, cit., pp. 107-109; LANE, Venice, cit., pp.
398-399; GEYL, Christofforo Suriano, cit., pp. 1, 73.

7 KLEIN, De Trippen, cit., p. 284; M. VAN TIELHOF, The «Mother of all trades». The Baltic
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After the conclusion of the Twelve Years Truce with Spain in 1609
the States-General ordered the Dutch admiralties, especially the one
at Amsterdam, to support the construction of fleets of several allies
or potential allies by selling and renting out ships and by offering
loans. This was a new kind of activity. It became possible because the
admiralties did not need all their warships anymore and reduced their
fleets. Dozens of ships were sold to merchants. Enormous amounts of
ordnance returned to the arsenals which were no longer used for the
maintenance of the reduced fleets. During the Twelve Years Truce,
the admiralties, next to their regular activities like the maintenance
of the blockade of the Flemish coast and the convoying of merchant-
men against piracy, supported Dutch entrepreneurs with artillery and
crew members to acquire new and permanent positions at the mar-
kets around the Eastern Mediterranean. This contributed importantly
to Dutch commercial expansion in the Mediterranean, especially the
trade in valuable goods, the so-called rich trade. This trade needed
protection, which could be delivered by the admiralties.*

The admiralties needed permanent suppliers to guarantee a regular
deliverance of war materials. These merchants in arms not only had
good contacts with the regions from which the raw materials came for
the manufacturing of arms. They also managed to consolidate their
positions as deliverers of arms, gunpowder, cannonballs and other am-
munition. These permanent suppliers could count on support of the
admiralties, which enabled them to develop new businesses in new
markets. Some of them organised, in close cooperation with the ad-
miralties and the States-General, the selling and renting of ships to
foreign powers. A good example of this phenomenon was the con-
sortium of merchants, amongst whom Elias Trip and Louis de Geer,
which rented out ships that were to support Venice in 1617 and 1618."

Grain Trade in Amsterdam from the Late 16™ to the Early 19" Century, Leiden-Boston-Cologne,
2002, p. 37; GEYL, Christofforo Suriano, cit., pp. 5, 188-189; VAN GELDER, Trading Places, cit.,
Pp. 48-65; ENGELS, Merchants, cit., pp. 50, 55; R. E. J. WEBER, De beveiliging van de gee tegen
Europeesche en Barbarijsche geeroovers, 1609-1621, Amsterdam, 1936, pp. 121, 157-158; J. C. DE
JonNGE, Nederland en Venetié, Den Haag, 1852, p. 61.

¥ GLETE, Warfare, cit., p. 109; DE JONG, «Staat van oorlog», cit., pp. 122-123, 125-126; ISRAEL,
Dutch primacy, cit., pp. 96-98.

' DE JONG, «Staat van oorlog», cit., pp. 89-90. See also H. VOGEL, Arms production and
exports in the Dutch Republic, 1600-1650, in M. van der Hoeven (ed.), Exercise of Arms. Warfare
in the Netherlands, 1568-1648, Leiden-Boston-Cologne, 1998, pp. 200, 208.
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DuTcCH SHIPS FOR VENICE (1617-1619)

In 1616-1618 three Dutch fleets were equipped to support Venice: two
fleets transported troops from the Netherlands to the Serenissima, a
third fleet was equipped as a war fleet to serve Venice, although it
transported troops as well.*

Lacking troops of their own the Venetians had turned to the Dutch
for help in 1616. One of the practical considerations to turn to the
Netherlands being that transport of troops over sea was possible. This
may have contributed to the decision of the Venetian Senate to send
an envoy to The Hague.* The States-General approved an agreement
between Johan Ernst, count of Nassau-Siegen (1582-1617),>* and Ven-
ice in whose service the count, thus acting as a condottiero, was to raise
a force of 3,250 men in the United Provinces and Germany and trans-
port them to Venice in Dutch ships hired for the purpose.*

By the end of November 1616 these troops had embarked in a fleet
of 16 hired merchantmen and were waiting for a fair wind to sail.
In December the king of Spain wrote to Osuna to intercept this re-
inforcement but this came to nothing, for although unfavourable
weather kept the Dutch ships from sailing until 2 March 1617, which
gave the Spaniards plenty of time to get ready, the ships met no op-
position either in the Straits of Gibraltar or at the mouth of the Adri-
atic. The first ships reached Venice on 4 April, the rest followed soon
after.> This could not prevent that a Neapolitan fleet crossed the Adri-
atic, capturing ships and cutting the vital lines of supply and commu-
nication between the Venetian lagoon and its army in Istria, including
the troops of the count of Nassau-Siegen.

The second Dutch fleet, of eleven ships transported a force of 3,000

** They can be followed in R. C. ANDERSON, Naval wars in the Levant, Liverpool, 1952, pp.
89-91, 95-96, 101, and, in more detail, in GeyL, Christofforo Suriano, cit.

* GEvw, Christofforo Suriano, cit., p. 12.

** Stadholder Maurits van Nassau was his uncle and godfather. His brother, Johan Mau-
rits, was governor of Dutch Brasil. The text of the States-General’s approvement: DE
JoNGE, Nederland, cit., pp. 412-414.

» GEvL, Christofforo Suriano, cit., pp. 18, 21; ANDERSON, Naval wars, cit., pp. 89-01; P.
BURKE, Venetié en Amsterdam. Een ondergoek naar elites in de geventiende eeuw, Amsterdam,
1991, p. 46; DE JONGE, Nederland, cit., pp. 65-68.

* GEvw, Christofforo Suriano, cit., pp. 35-41, 46-47, 60-61; ANDERSON, Naval wars, cit., pp.
89-91; DE JONGE, Nederland, cit., p. 69.
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men recruited in Germany under command of count George Lode-
wijk van Levenstein for the Venetian service to assemble at Delfzijl. It
set sail on 30 October 1617. This fleet too seems to have reached Venice
without opposition half January 1618, with about 200 soldiers having
died on the way of diseases.”

For the third fleet preparations started in 1617. It was to be a fully
equipped war fleet that was to oppose Osuna’s. It consisted of twelve
tully armed and manned converted merchantmen, which varied in
size between 340 and 720 tons. These were really big ships, belong-
ing to the segment of greatest possible merchant ships available in
the Dutch Republic. This makes perfectly sense in the Mediterranean
context where big and heavily armed ships were needed. A regiment
of 1,080 soldiers under command of colonel Carel Huyn van Amsten-
raedt was also on board. Melchior van Kerkhoven became the admiral
of the fleet thanks to his ability to speak French, Spanish and Italian.
The ships were supplied for ten months. They left the Texel roadstead
in May 1618. They had been equipped in a period of five months time.
The total rental price of the fleet was 840,000 guilders. On its way to
Venice, on 24 June, near Gibraltar, a Spanish fleet tried to hold the
Dutch squadron which had been joined by eight merchantmen. The
Spanish suffered heavy losses and had to give up. Five ships were kept
in Venetian service until July 1619, the other seven until October. Ex-
cept for the encounter with Spain, the fleet’s actions were limited to
crossing the gulf.*

How TO GET SHIPS FOR WAR: ARREST, RENT, ACQUISITION

It does not seem to have been easy for clients with military goals on
the market of ships to get them for a good price. This was at least the
experience of Johan Ernst van Nassau, in spite of his good relations,
when he approached the Amsterdam ship owners for the transport of
his troops to Venice. The ship owners in Holland’s major city formed
a closed front offering him ‘as one man’ to rent out ships for 8,000 to
9,000 guilders per ship whereas the count had expected to rent them

» ANDERSON, Naval wars, cit., pp. 95-96, 100; GEYL, Christofforo Suriano, cit., pp. 201, 203,
217-218, 220, 224.

** BruyN, Varend verleden, cit., p. 31 incorrectly states that the fleet was meant to fight
the Ottomans. GeYL, Christofforo Suriano, cit., pp. 252, 260-261, 268, 273, 283, 286. DE JONGE,
Nederland, cit., pp. 85-87.
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for 6,000 guilders. It was only thanks to support of government insti-
tutions and by addressing ship owners in Rotterdam and Enkhuizen
that Nassau succeeded to go around the Amsterdam consortium. The
cartel seems to have been an important characteristic of the Dutch
market for armed merchantmen. In 1645 when Venice wished to hire
such ships again, Amsterdam ship owners again offered their ships
together, with one person, Pieter Trip, as their spokesman.?”

In order to get ships public authorities could arrest them. This is
exactly what Venice did when Osuna’s fleet disrupted the city-State’s
vital maritime connections. In these circumstances, Venice’s own
warships being too few to suffice for operations against Osuna, the
city-State had decided in March 1617 to seizure all ships present in its
harbour including all Dutch merchantmen present. In spite of a for-
mal protest by Gillis Ouwerx, the Dutch consul, he acted as a middle-
man which resulted in contracts between the skippers of five Dutch
ships and the Venetian government concerning the conditions of the
use the vessels. These conditions were favourable for the Dutch. The
booty to be gained would be equally shared between the skippers and
the crew on the one hand and the Venetian Republic and the soldiers
on the other. The skippers would receive the rent in periods of two
months beforehand. Artillery and ammunition would be delivered for
free. The skippers had to deliver a security bond in return. Ships and
victuals would be exempted from taxes. The contract would last for
six months with a possibility for Venice to prolong it for two more
months.” In June 1617 another general arrest of ships in Venice fol-
lowed, this time including eleven ships of the third fleet. Again, after
pressure from the Dutch consul, Venice accepted to contract two of
the arrested ships, stating that the others were not fit for war. The ar-
rest of the ships that were not contracted was lifted only after Osuna’s
fleet had left the gulf. All the time Venice had not dared to confront
its opponent, which managed to capture two richly loaded galleys
whose losses were estimated at 1,200,000 ducats.?

¥ KLEIN, Trippen, cit., pp. 285-286; GEYL, Christofforo Suriano, cit., pp. 25-26; IDEM, Tro-
epen lichten en schepen huren in de dagen van Frederik Hendrik, «Bijdragen voor vaderlandsche
geschiedenis en oudheidkunde», 5th ser., 5, 1918, pp. 173-218.

¥ GeyL, Christofforo Suriano, cit., pp. 74-76; LANE, Venice, cit., p. 412; KLEIN, De Trippen,
cit., p. 286.

* GEyL, Christofforo Suriano, cit., pp. 74-77, 81-82; LANE, Venice, cit., p. 412; KLEIN, De
Trippen, cit., p. 286.
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These arrests of merchantmen were quite common.* Genoa, Na-
ples and Livorno also made use of the services of Dutch ship owners
in this way. If the conditions were favourable the ship owners did not
necessarily protest. It could be a profitable business. More than that,
some ship owners equipped their merchantmen for war hoping for
some power to rent them. As long as they were paid they did not care
against whom their ships had to fight. This became apparent with the
preparation of the third Dutch fleet for which the Venetian govern-
ment had ordered its resident in the Netherlands to organize in 1617.
The States-General had promised him their support in his negotiations
to rent ships from Amsterdam ship owners. This was crucial as these
ship owners had also been approached by a representative of Osuna
who wished to equip a Dutch war fleet as well. This put the ship own-
ers in an excellent position to play off the two opponents against one
another. This situation was only avoided because the States-General
demanded the admiralties to issue a ban on the delivery of ships to
foreign powers without their prior knowledge.*

Whether or not it came to a contract or whether or not damages
were paid when ships were arrested by public authorities who need-
ed them, depended on the circumstances. After the Venetian arrest
of the ships for the troops under Nassau-Siegen, the ship owners in
Holland, amongst whom government officials, addressed a protest
to the States-General. Pressure was put on the Venetian resident Su-
riano, who was told that government officials had shares in the ar-
rested ships. All this was to no avail. This is hardly surprising. In fact,
when the ships for Nassau’s troops were equipped in the Netherlands,
Suriano had already informed the Venetian government that some
of them were fit to be converted for warfare. He mentioned captain
Pack, a former pirate, pardoned like many others by the States-Gen-
eral, who was well experienced on how to convert merchantmen for
war. When a letter of protest of the States-General arrived in Venice,
the arrest of the remaining ships had already been lifted, and they had

% Since the Middle Ages. For an interesting case-study on the possibilities this offered
for skippers see M. KowaLesk1, Warfare, shipping and crown patronage. The economic im-
pact of the Hundred Years War on the English Port Towns, in L. Armstrong, 1. EIbl, M. M.
Elbl (eds.), Money, Markets, and Trade in Late Medieval Europe. Essays in Honour of John H.A.
Munro, Leiden-Boston, 2007, pp. 233-254.

3 KLEIN, De Trippen, cit., pp. 286-287; GEYL, Christofforo Suriano, cit., pp. 74-75, 232-233; DE
JoNGE, Nederland, cit., p. 88.
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left the port without any compensation being paid.* In risky business
one sometimes had to take a loss.

Previously, the alternative of buying ships had been considered.
Already in November 1616 a ship owner from Amsterdam had ap-
proached the Venetian resident in The Hague and advised him not
to rent the ships he needed but to buy them and to insure them. The
States-General also gave this advise in 1617 when Suriano was preparing
the war fleet of twelve ships. According to the mentioned ship owner
it would be an even better solution for Venice to officially declare war
to Spain and to give out commissions for privateering to Dutch skip-
pers. But such an adventurous line of thought, fitting well in the busi-
ness mentality of the young Republic at the North Sea which very
creation had been triggered by a bunch of privateers — the Seabeggars,
was no option for the cautious Mediterranean city-State.”

Interestingly, in 1617, when Suriano had been commissioned by his
government to acquire a Dutch war fleet of twelve heavily armed
ships, he first tried to get war ships directly from the admiralties. This
plan did not materialize as the States-General had just decided to
equip a war fleet against North-African privateers and pirates.* The
admiralties did play a crucial role however for Suriano’s war fleet. The
States General commissioned them to hire the twelve ships for Suria-
no. The admiralties of Amsterdam, West-Friesland, and Rotterdam
had to equip five, four, and three ships respectively. As in Rotterdam
and West-Friesland not enough ships were found to be fit for the task
the admiralties here had to acquire some ships in Amsterdam like the
Amsterdam admiralty. Both the ship owners and the three admiral-
ties acted in close cooperation which resulted in uniform contracts
except that the required rent per ship varied depending on its size, the
number of canon and the size of the crew.”

The States-General had to stand surety for both ship owners and
crews. One of the ships, the Emaus, belonged to Elias Trip. The ship
of 200 last (or 400 tons), and armed with 24 iron and 4 stone pieces
of artillery was estimated at a value of 37,000 guilders. The monthly
rent would be 2,400 guilders. After 22 months of service Trip received

* GevL, Christofforo Suriano, cit., pp. 75, 78-81.

% Ibidem, pp. 75, 225, 229; KLEIN, De Trippen, cit., p. 286.

3 KLEIN, De Trippen, cit., pp. 286-287; GEYL, Christofforo Suriano, cit., pp. 227-228.
* GevyL, Christofforo Suriano, cit., pp. 231, 232.
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52,800 guilders freightage. This was not a bad result indeed for a ship
valued at 37,000 guilders!* The advice to Venice to buy ships instead
of renting them made sense in this respect. It should be kept in mind
however that a period of rent of nearly two years was highly excep-
tional. In 1619, Suriano rented one more ship, the Gulden Leeuw, with-
out interference of the admiralties. In a letter to his government he
wrote that if he were to rent another fleet in the future he would do
so without the admiralties as it was faster, easier and cheaper. In spite
of this criticism, Suriano would never have been able to conclude his
deal concerning an entire fleet without support from the States-Gen-
eral and the admiralties. As we have seen, the States-General had to
stand surety for payments by Venice to the ship owners. The admiral-
ties had to provide for artillery, which amounted to a total value of
125.000 guilders. This institutional support was essential not only to
guarantee deliveries of ordnance but also to get round trusts of ship
owners or at least to get lower freight rates.”

The Dutch economic historian Peter Klein was right in his conclu-
sion that the Dutch ship owners were the real winners of the third
fleet. Venice did not really take advantage from the war fleet of
twelve ships as its actions remained limited to crossing the Adriatic
without purpose until the ships were dismissed, partly in July, the rest
in October 1619. He is too pessimistic however when asserting that
generally these converted merchantmen did not perform well as war-
ships as the skippers, often co-owners, did try to avoid the risk of
being molested as much as possible.* Contemporaries were aware of
risk avoiding ship owners. To avoid this defensive behaviour contracts
could be adapted or independent captains could be put in command
of ships. This was the case with the fleet equipped by Louis de Geer
for Sweden in 1643.

The use by Venice of sailing vessels from the Dutch (and the Eng-
lish) for warfare in the Mediterranean was an innovation in 1617.% The
late naval historian Jan Glete even gives Dutch (and English) ships
hired by Venice the honour to have fought in the Adriatic in Venetian
service to fight Osuna’s fleet, which he considers to be «the first Medi-

3 KLEIN, De Trippen, cit., p. 288.

¥ GEYL, Christofforo Suriano, cit., pp. 26, 232, 239, 244, 257-258.

% KLEIN, De Trippen, cit., pp. 286, 288; compare GEyL, Christofforo Suriano, cit., pp. 240-
242. % LANE, Venice, cit., p. 412.



102 LOUIS SICKING

terranean contest where gun-armed sailing ships were the main com-
batants».* The Spaniards and Papalists considered it outrageous and
being likely to spread heresy. It nevertheless soon became routine.
In the later Turkish wars for instance both sides rented such ships.*
Around the Mediterranean, as along the Atlantic and Baltic shores,
the Dutch Republic built up a reputation as supplier of warships —
that is converted merchantmen for war — to other countries.

Generally it is well accepted in recent research that using converted
merchantmen for warfare at sea remained very common in the Atlan-
tic until the 1650s and could be both efficient and effective.# In this
respect a distinction may be made between the Mediterranean on the
one hand and the Atlantic and the Baltic on the other. During the war
between Sweden and Denmark in the 1640s it became clear that con-
verted merchantmen could no longer effectively fight big purpose built
war ships. At the battle of Listerdyb at the west coast of Jutland in May
1644 Dutch armed merchantmen hired by Louis de Geer were severely
damaged by the heavy artillery of purpose-built Danish war ships. The
actions at Listerdyb foreshadowed the demise of converted merchant-
men in battles against specialised war ships. The so-called separation of
Mars and Mercury indicating that merchant vessels could no longer be
effectively used for warfare was one of the main lessons of the first An-
glo-Dutch war of 1652-1654.% As the Dutch armed merchantmen used
in the Mediterranean were much bigger than those of de Geer’s fleet
at Listerdyb — this was the case for both the ships Venice hired in 1617 as
again in 1645, the converted merchantmen in Venetian service may still
have been effective for warfare against purpose built ships.

ANALYSIS AND CONCLUSIONS

Galleys remained in use in the Mediterranean in the seventeenth cen-
tury. They retained their tactical utility, they continued to grow larger

4 GLETE, Warfare, cit., p. 109 refers to the battle of Ragusa that took place in November
1617. I have not found any evidence that Dutch ships from the fleets discussed in this article
participated in that encounter. In fact, the second and third fleet only arrived in Venice in
1618.

4 LANE, Venice, cit., p. 412. For more details KLEIN, Trippen, cit., pp. 289-291.

# See for instance GLETE, Warfare, or L. S1ckING, Naval watfare in Europe, c. 1330-c. 1680,
in E Tallett, D. J. B. Trim (eds.), European warfare, 1350-1750, Cambridge, 2010. For an old
reference DE JONGE, Nederland en Venetié, cit., p. 85, note 2.

“ GLETE, Warfare, cit., p. 128; IDEM, Swedish naval administration, cit., p. 167.
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and more powerful but the number of galley fleets declined, as well as
the number of galleys per fleet.* Venice hiring converted merchant-
men for warfare in the Mediterranean in 1617, was a first indication
that these ships were now considered sufficiently effective for warfare
next to galleys. This had become evident during the Venetian-Otto-
man war over Crete (1645-1669). Venice, a regional power, was able
to fight this very long war with the Ottomans, thanks to its ability to
hire armed merchantmen from the Netherlands, including crews and
officers. To counter Northern European sailing ships the Ottomans
hired Dutch and English armed merchantmen themselves, although
with less success than Venice.®* Thus new technology for naval war-
fare found its way from Northern Europe to the Mediterranean.

Between 1617 and 1667, when Venice built its first ship-of-the-line
using an English warship as a model, armed merchantmen repre-
sented an important element of a transition in naval warfare in the
Mediterranean. Venice having armed merchantmen at its disposal in
this period was the result of combinations of diplomatic cooperation
between the Venetian and Dutch Republics and cooperation between
private parties, like Elias Trip, and public institutions, especially the
admiralties. Dutch condottieri in Venetian service, like Johan Ernst van
Nassau-Siegen, played a crucial role both in the complex process of
military preparations as in assuring cooperation with Venetian forces
once in the Serenissima.

All parties involved took advantage of this kind of business of buy-
ing and selling protection. For Venice it offered the opportunity to get
a new means for naval warfare in the Mediterranean at its disposal
when it was not yet able to build sailing war ships itself. In spite of
all the difficulties experienced in 1617-1619 Venice returned to hiring
armed merchantmen in 1645.* By then it had become a usual business
in the middle sea to hire and use such ships with guns and crews for
waging war next to galleys. For Dutch ship owners it must have been
a profitable business being in line with the risky seafaring commerce
in valuable goods in the Mediterranean. For the Dutch admiralties
it offered a welcome opportunity to use the weapons in their stores,
that had become redundant after the conclusion of the Twelve Years

4 GUILMARTIN, Galleons, cit., pp. 125, 211. “ GLETE, Warfare, cit., p. 109.
4 G. HaNLON, The Twilight of a Military Tradition. Italian Aristocrats and European Con-
flicts, 1560-1800, London-New York, 1998 (repr. 2003, pp. 154-155).



104 LOUIS SICKING

Truce. It is clear that private and public interests in the Dutch Re-
public working closely together, encouraged and strengthened by the
fact that several individuals combined business activities with public
functions, greatly facilitated the equipping of armed merchantmen
for Venice.

Retrospectively the hiring of armed merchantmen between 1617
and 1667 allowed Venice to survive the last phase of its transition from
a medieval maritime empire to a regional power facing threats from
both the Habsburg and Ottoman Empires and all kinds of private
violence from North African and other privateers and pirates, like the
Uskoks.

How are the Dutch war fleets in Venetian service to be considered
vis-d-vis Charles Tilly’s model on the role of coercion and capital in
the development of European States which classifies Venice and the
Dutch Republic as mercantile Republics which followed the ‘capital-
intensive trajectory’ with substantial concentrations of capital but
with weak, intermittent armed force? Jan Glete has rightly criticized
this model indicating that the Dutch Republic invested large amounts
of capital both in warfare on land and at sea, and created complex
institutions and organizations like the admiralties and its naval stores.
Therefore the ‘capitalized-coercion trajectory’ in Tilly’s model seems
more fitting with Dutch historical reality.# In his study of the Dutch
arms trade Michiel de Jong has shown that the admiralties during the
Twelve Years Truce did have the opportunity to support all branches
of Dutch merchant shipping massively with the enormous quantities
of redundant ordnance and thus to reduce protection costs of mer-
chants and skippers considerably. Instead the admiralties used their
means to recover financially, to continue the blockade of Flanders,
the usual convoy activities and some specific branches of merchant
shipping like the Levant trade.* In other words the violent activities
of the admiralties were not exclusively motivated according to a capi-
talist logic, that is by profit. This evidence supports Glete’s criticism
of Tilly.

However, apart from raison d’Etat, that is supporting Venice against
a common enemy, the support for the Serenissima must be seen in

4 CH. TiLLy, Coercion, Capital, and European States, AD 990-1992, Cambridge (Ma)-Oxford,
rev. edn. 1992 (repr. 1993, pp. 53-54, 56, 59-60); GLETE, Warfare, cit., pp. 62-63.
® DE JONG, «Staat van oorlog», cit., p. 126.
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close connection to Dutch commercial interests in the Mediterranean
of which ships, arms and other war materials formed an integrated
part. If one thing has become clear from the Dutch fleets support-
ing Venice in 1617-1619 it is that public and private parties and means
were completely tied together. Dutch condottieri in Venetian service
used private and public military means from the Netherlands partly
financed or backed by Dutch public institutions like the States-Gen-
eral or the admiralties. This not only leads to the evident conclusion
that the concept of ‘State monopoly of violence’, so often used in
connection with State formation, does not represent early modern
historical reality. It also shows that the Dutch Republic and Venice
were capable of enhancing their state power thanks to private means
like merchantmen that were converted for war. This was the usual
business in the young Republic of Northern Europe continuing a me-
dieval tradition. It was not unknown to the old Republic of Southern
Europe either. In fact, Venice had had its own flexible fleet of mer-
chant galleys which could be converted for war becoming so-called
great galleys. For two centuries these had enabled Venice to maintain
a vast maritime Empire, but with the introduction of the heavy gun
around 1500 their importance for warfare was reduced to the advan-
tage of the speedy war galley. This separation of Mars and Mercury
concerning galleys in the Mediterranean, announced the end of Ven-
ice as a maritime Empire. It gave an advantage to great powers like
the Ottoman Empire and Spain, which could eventually concentrate
more purpose-built war galleys than Venice, although the Republic
managed to seriously enhancing its fleet of war galleys.* Before the
separation of Mars and Mercury concerning sailing vessels took place
almost one-and-half century later, Venice took advantage of the fle-
xible fleets of sailing ships of Northern Europe. This phenomenon
of hiring converted merchantmen from the North for warfare in the
Mediterranean may have lasted only for a few decades, it is an impor-
tant expression of the fact that know how of warfare at sea had by
the seventeenth century reached a superior level in Atlantic Europe.
If the possession of a standing navy is a sign of modernity, Venice had
one of the first modern navies of Europe, since 1301 to be precise.
By occasionally enhancing its fleet with converted merchantmen be-

4 LANE, Venice, cit., pp. 362-364.
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tween 1617 and 1667, it could be said, Venice temporarily returned to
a medieval way of equipping war fleets. Thus the Venetian example
illustrates that the distinction between medieval and early modern
naval history hides more than it explains.

Thanks to their huge merchant fleet the Dutch had an enormous
military potential available which allowed them in combination with
the possibility to raise capital, men and arms to equip entire war fleets
both for proper use and for use by others willing to pay for them.
These fleets of converted merchantmen were both efficient, that is
cheaper than purpose-built ships, and effective during the first half
of the seventeenth century.® With these flexible fleets of armed mer-
chantmen the Dutch Republic realized its rapid maritime commer-
cial growth and overseas expansion, while it allowed Venice to op-
pose both the Habsburg and Ottoman powers in the Mediterranean.
The one selling protection, the other buying, both thought they were
gaining in doing business in war fleets.

>° In this respect, GLETE, War and the state, cit., p. 166 puts too much emphasis on the
role of permanent navies and purpose-built war ships. Compare SickING, Naval warfare,
cit., pp. 257, 262-263.
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contains a copy of payment receipts issued by the merchants to the
person responsible at the priory of the Order.

The purchase of timber was one of the most important jobs of
the receiver as is also documented in an instruction dating from the
1670s.> Although for the large construction ship works the order of
Malta made use of different European arsenals (most importantly
the arsenals of Syracuse, Messina and Naples), ever since medieval
times, the island had had an active arsenal at Birgi, where during the
15th century, it produced galleys. These works absorbed raw materials
both for new ships as well as for repairs, the latter of which required
extensive quantities as a result of the dangers of war and other mari-
time activities of the period. In order to cope with the demands of the
fleet, the Congregagione delle galere (Congregation of the galleys) and
the Fondagione per le galere (Foundation for the galleys) were founded
in 15906. Their task was to raise capital from the incomes of the com-
mands to maintain the ships and naval equipment. From the 16th cen-
tury onwards, the order progressively imposed also on the Cavalieri at
least once during their lifetime the expense of the construction of a
galley, which would be built in a shipyard of their choice.

We already know that for the supply of timber, Malta was entirely
dependent on imports, mostly from Sicily and Calabria, from where

* The years looked at correspond to the management of Leonida Loschi (1597-1598),
Orazio Langosco (1599-1602), Giovanni Malvicini (1602-1605), once again Leonida Loschi
(1605-1610), Baldissera Guinigi (1611-1618) and Antonio Scalamonte (1620-1621). For this his-
tory of the order of Malta and its role in the Mediterranean cf. A. BRoGIN1, Malte, frontiére
de Chrétienté (1530-1670), Rome, Ecole francaise de Rome, 2006 («Bibliothéque des Ecoles
francaises d’Athénes et de Rome», 325), to which I refer also for its vast bibliography on the
subject. For the priory of the order of St. John in Venice see V. MALLIA-MILANES, « Guardan-
do la loro uscita dalla storia»: Venegia e 'Ordine ospedaliero di S. Giovanni alla fine del Settecento,
«Studi Veneziani», n.s., XLIII, 2002, pp. 389-308; IDEM, The Hospitaller Receiver in Venice. A
Late Seventeenth-Century Document, «Studi Veneziani», n.s., XLIV, 2002, pp. 309-326. For the
role of the order in the Mediterranean wars cf. IpeEm, L'Ordine dell’Ospedale e le spedigioni
antislamiche della Spagna nel Mediterraneo. Dal primo assedio di Rodi (1480) all’assedio di Malta
(1565), in B. Anatra, G. Murgia (eds.), Sardegna, Spagna e Mediterraneo. Dai Re Cattolici al
Secolo d’Oro, Roma, Carocci, 2004, pp. 111-124.

3 MaLLiA-MiLANES, The Hospitaller Receiver in Venice, cit., p. 326 publishes the instruc-
tions by a receiver of the order to his successors, whom he invites to pay attention to meas-
ures, weights and prices because the merchants «obligano a pigliare quello che vogliono
dare, nel prezzo poi dimandano spropositi massi [sic] ne” bordonali di larese di circa piedi
50 e di once 12, che sono li pit desiderati in Malta e scarsi da trovarsi in Venetia» («[are]
obliged to take what they want to give, but they demand very high prices especially for
larch beams of about 50 feet and 12 ounces, which have the greatest demand in Malta and
are difficult to find in Venice.»).
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both raw and finished timber was imported. Delivery was made either
directly to Malta or alternatively to the port of Messina, where the Mal-
tese ships had direct access to the timber. Messina was also a point of
reference for the purchase of wood charcoal used for burning. Between
1570 and 1600, Sicily covered 80% of commercial relationships with
Malta, but also Venice had its own role, most importantly with regard
to construction materials for naval ships. Between 1574 and 1580 Vene-
tian timber and iron suppliers covered 29.7% of the total imports. Start-
ing in the 1620s, the role previously played by Venice was overtaken by
the north-western European markets and Malta followed the general
developments in the Mediterranean, where the invasion by northern
European commerce disturbed the equilibrium of markets on either
side of the Mediterranean which had existed for centuries, and acceler-
ated the downfall of the traditional powers of Southern Europe.*

The protocols of the notary Fabrizio Beacian are particularly rich in
information on the priory of St. John of Jerusalem in Venice, because
he was «nodaro di questa citta et cancelliero in esso priorato».> From
this data we can deduce information about the number of timber mer-
chants operating in Venice, their geographic origins, the dimensions
of the export trade in timber towards one of the main destinations
of the Mediterranean about which we currently only know thanks to
brief information.® In addition to timber, the purchases made by the
priory also refer to wax, iron, nails, silver, red lead (lead oxide), white
lead, turpentine, copper, reams of paper, glass and sugar. But the larg-
est part of the supplies was building timber which, for example in 1599
constituted 46% of the expenses of the priory (2799 ducats against
5987 ducats, including customs, loading and insurance expenses).” To
undertake these journeys, the receivers hired entire ships, sometimes
paying in advance, sometimes paying a deposit as stipulated by the

4 BROGINI, op. cit., pp. 82-87, 146-148, 350-356.

5 Asve: NA, notaio Fabrizio Beacian, b. 561, cc. 455v-456v, Venezia, 31 Oct. 1597.

¢ For a further discussion on the Venetian body of notaries cf. M. P. PEpANI FABRIS,
Veneta auctoritate notarius. Storia del notariato venegiano (1514-1797), Milano, Giuffré, 1996. For
the use of notary sources, see L. FONTAINE, L'activité notariale (note critique), «Annales ESC»,
48, 1993, pp. 475-483, and the monograph Nouvelle approches de la documentation notariale et
histoire urbaine. Le cas italien (xvir-xix‘ siécle), «Mélanges de I'Ecole francaise de Rome»,
CXII, 1, 2000, [talie et Méditerranée; as well as L. Faggion, A. Mailloux, L. Verdon (éds.), Le
notaire, entre métier et espace public en Europe viir-xvinr siécle, Aix-en-Provence, Publications
de I'Université de Provence, 2008 («Collection le temps de I'histoire»).

7 Asve: NA, notaio Fabrizio Beacian, b. 564, cc. 222v-224v, Venezia, 13 Apr. 599; b. 565,
1599/11, cc. 311-32v, Venezia, 16 Aug. 1599.



110 KATIA OCCHI

agreement, at other times paying upon receipt in Malta. The costs for
hiring the ships vary between 350 and 1,300 Venetian ducats. From the
year 1609 onwards, the captains were all Flemish or Dutch (from the
Netherlands).

But before going any further into the analysis of the data pertain-
ing to timber, it is befitting to make a few preliminary remarks about
the timber market in Venice in the modern period. In the Republic
many interests were centred on wood (either for construction or fire-
wood) and their derivatives (charcoal), not only because of the envi-
ronmental characteristics of the Capital, but also because it was the
manufacturing centre for many trades (weaponry, furnaces, forges,
glass-makers and mints).

At the beginning of the 1600s, the Stato da Terra counted a population
of more than 1,750,000 inhabitants including Istria and Dogado (two
territories of Stato da Mar), with a very high energy demand. In the
city, the timber needs were not only sustained, but also differentiated:
in a similar manner to the Arsenal (for which a number of woodlands
were reserved) and the private shipyards, broken down into domestic
needs, building, artisan’s workshops and industry: oak for the ships,
larch and fir for construction, beech and other types for firewood.*

In addition to the needs of Venice, there were also those of the city
and the districts of the Terraferma. Thanks to the waterways which
connected it to the Republic of Venice in a swift and competitive man-
ner, the Alpine hinterland constituted an important reserve for these
raw materials from the Middle Ages to the 19th century.®

® PH. BRAUNSTEIN, De la montagne d Venise. Les réseaux du bois au xv* siécle, «Mélanges de
I'Ecole francaise de Rome», c, 1988, pp. 761-799. G. Caniato, M. Dal Borgo (a cura di), Dai
monti alla laguna. Produgione artigianale e artistica del Bellunese per la cantieristica venegiana,
Venezia, La Stamperia di Venezia, 1988; D. Perco (a cura di), Zattere, gattieri e menadds. La
fluitagione del legname lungo il Piave, Feltre, Castaldi, 1088; G. Caniato (a cura di), La via del
Fiume. Dalle Dolomiti a Venegia, Sommacampagna (VR), Cierre, 1993; K. APPUHN, A For-
est on the Sea. Environmental Expertise in Renaissance Venice, Baltimore, The Johns Hopkins
University Press, 2009.

® G. M. VARANINI, Richter tirolese, mercante di legname, patrigio veronese. L'affermagione
socio-economica di Nicola Saibante da Egna, «Geschichte und Region/Storia e regione», 1v,
1995, pp. 191-219; F. Bianco, Nel bosco. Comunitd e risorse forestali nel Friuli di etd moderna
(secoli xv-xx), Udine, Forum, 2001; A. PETIZIOL, Mercanti e traffici del porto di Latisana tra
1560 e 1630. Evidenge notarili, tesi di Laurea, rel. Prof. G. Corazzol, Universita degli Studi di
Venezia, a.a. 2001-2002; G. Caniaro, Commerci e navigagione lungo il Brenta, in A. Bondesan
et alii (a cura di), Il Brenta, Sommacampagna (VR), Cierre, 2003, pp. 255-272; C. LORENZINT,
Scambi di frontiere. Comunitd di villaggio, mercanti e risorse forestali nell’alta valle del Taglia-
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At the beginning, Venice had ample forestry estates at its disposal,
divided into State, communal or private woodlands. These were of
greater dimensions than other Mediterranean cities, but the pressure
exerted upon them resulted in impoverishment of these woodlands,
which caused the authorities to turn to the Alps and Pre-Alps: the
woods of Cadore, of the Patria of Friuli, and the Venetian foothills.
Already in the times of the 1440s, the conditions of the areas of prove-
nance showed themselves to be extremely grave, so grave as to induce
the Venetian authorities to adopt various administrative and legal me-
asures, culminating in the years 1568-1569 with the registration of all
the oaks on the nearside of the Mincio, and to extend this later to be-
eches and conifers.” In addition to the development of an abundant
and varied legislation, and an administration which was in certain
aspects very innovative, (registration of woodlands, notwithstanding
the limits of their being kept up-to-date, and technical-administrative
structure which was reformed after the event in 1797), Venice had con-
structed a vast supply system for the city, differentiated and complex:
a mechanism for the provision of different types of wood (firewood,
charcoal, wood for carpentry and manufacturing, which were par-
tially different) and therefore an apparatus to coordinate and regulate
the flow; all the more because, other than for fiscal reasons, from the
beginning of the 1500s, in addition to heavy duties, la Dominante also
obliged subjects to transport all commercial wood to the port of Ve-
nice and receive supplies exclusively at that point.™

An obligation which was often ignored, as is documented by evidence
from the boats from Burano and Caorle. Furthermore, there were the

mento fra la seconda metd del Sei e la fine del Settecento, tesi di Dottorato, Universita degli
Studi di Udine, a.a. 2003-2004; K. OccHi, La «corsa al legno». Scambi commerciali tra Altopiano
e pianura in etd moderna, in P. Rigoni, M. Varotto (a cura di), L’Altopiano dei Sette Comuni,
Sommacampagna (VR), Cierre, 2009, pp. 253-269.

° R. VERGANI, Le materie prime, in Storia di Venegia, vol. x11, Il mare. La fabbrica delle navi, a
cura di A. Tenenti, U. Tucci, Roma, Istituto della Enciclopedia Italiana, 1991, pp. 285-312.

* For forestry legislation cf. A. D1 BERENGER, Saggio storico sulla legislagione veneta fore-
stale dal sec. 7. al 19., Venezia, Libr. alla Fenice G. Ebhardt, 1873; F. Bianco, A. LAZZARINI,
Forestali, mercanti di legname e boschi pubblici: Candido Morassi e i progetti di riforma boschiva
nelle Alpi Carniche tra Settecento e Ottocento, Udine, Forum, 2003; A. LazzARINI, La tras-
formagione di un bosco: il Cansiglio, Venegia e i nuovi usi del legno (secoli xvii-xix), Belluno,
Istituto storico bellunese della Resistenza e dell’eta contemporanea, 2006; IDEM, Boschi e
politiche forestali: Venegia e Veneto fra Sette e Ottocento, Milano, FrancoAngeli, 2009; APPUHN,
A Forest on the Sea, cit.
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pontifical and Apulian boats which found a way around the Venetian
laws and went directly to Latisana, the main port on the Tagliamento
river, in order to unload oil, salt, cheese and fish and to load timber.

The factors which were the most important influence in activating
this flow of traffic were economic and geographical, whilst the exi-
stence of the political and administrational boundary was secondary.
These only gained significance in certain periods and circumstances. In
fact, the quantity of imports from other states was enormous: Tyrol,
the ecclesiastical principality of Trento, and Carinthia. The area was
a so-called ‘supra-regional unity’ whose development was formed by
the integration of the Alpine region and the town markets.”

The transport was based on the waterways: only the rivers and
streams offered the real possibility of transporting timber, heavy and
voluminous merchandise, whose costs of transportation overland
would have been prohibitive. Considerable quantities of merchandise
also arrived by sea or along the internal routes of the canals running
parallel to the coast, both in a legal and illegal manner. Oaks for shi-
pbuilding, coming from the Montello and other woodlands on the
plains and the Trevigiana and Friulian hills, also came from Istria and
the island of Krk/Veglia, from the Illyric coast under the rule of Aus-
tria and, from the port of Ravenna.

In order to manage the movement of resources from the mountains
to the plains, it was necessary to reorganise the entire hydrographic sy-
stem of the Terraferma to enable the transport of the timber, more than
the other merchandise, and to integrate it with the maritime transport
systems. The question involved both the economy as well as territorial
control, and determined the mode of penetration into the hinterland
by the Venetians, as a result of the search for timber and minerals, even
before the acquisition of land in the more fertile areas.”

Between the 15th and 16th centuries, the Venetian patricians assu-
med an important role in controlling and managing the timber mar-
ket, integrating the mountains into the commercial circuits of the
capital, and weaving a thick network of relationships with local ope-
rators, who acted as mediators with the communities, acquiring the

2 K. OccHI, Boschi e mercanti. Traffici di legname tra la contea di Tirolo e la repubblica di
Venegia (secoli xvi-xvir), Bologna, il Mulino, 2006.

 About the success and limit of integration between Venice and the Mainland cf. A.
ZANNINI, Un’ecomito? Venegia (xv-xviiI sec.), in G. ALEANI, M. D1 TuLLIO, L. MOCARELLI,
Storia economica e ambiente italiano (ca. 1400-1850), Milano, FrancoAngeli, 2012, pp. 100-113.
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rights to cut down the woods, engaging workers, and managing the
sawmills and depots.

With the passing of the centuries, the patricians were partially sub-
stituted, using different methods in different zones, from large local
entrepreneurs and foreigners, who had taken over or created com-
panies, installing them in strategic marshalling points for this traffic
where there were sawmills and depots for the timber. This network
of routes, almost all built around Venice, lasted a long time, for the
most all of the 19th and partially into the 20th century, in spite of the
modernisations to the more important trans-Alpine communication
routes such as route Alemagna and later on the inauguration of the
railways.™

In the mountainous hinterland of the eastern Alps along the prin-
cipal waterways of the Adige, the Brenta, the Piave and the Taglia-
mento, small districts for woodworking took root over the centuries,
which have not yet been accurately analysed, where the ownership of
the facilities was partly in the hands of an urban class of business peo-
ple who had settled there.” These workshops were generally near the
main ports. With reference to the Brenta the industrial area best known
was north of Bassano where between 1531 and 1712 there were appro-
ximately 50 hydraulic sawmills in operation. The key area for the Piave
river was at Perarolo di Cadore where in 1820 there were 120 sawmills
active on the 150 sites along the course of the river. Along the Trentino-
Tyrolean section of the Adige river, however, as far as current studies
have shown, there are no strategic points for the timber industry, as it
has also been shown for the other rivers, but this does not seem to be a
result of technological factors. The facilities, in communal ownership,
were distributed according to the needs of the local communities in

“ A.LazzaRIN, Le vie del legno per Venegia: mercato, territotio, confini, in M. Ambrosoli, F.
Bianco (a cura di), Comunitd e questioni di confini in Italia settentrionale (xvI-xIx sec.), Milano,
FrancoAngeli, 2007, pp. 97-110.

 G. CorazzoL, Cineografo di banditi su sfondo di monti. Feltre 1634-1642, Milano, Unicopli,
1997; M. VIGNAGA, I Petricelli. Una famiglia di mercanti di legname seguita sulle carte dei notai.
Fongaso 1580-1660, tesi di Laurea, rel. Prof. G. Corazzol, Universita degli Studi di Venezia,
a.a. 1998-1999; B. StMmoNATO Zas10, Taglie, bore doppie, tre quarti. Il commercio del legname
dalla valle di Primiero a Fongaso tra Seicento e Settecento, Rasai di Seren del Grappa, Comune
di Fonzaso-Ente Parco di Paneveggio Pale di S. Martino, 2000; G. BERNARDIN, Un territorio
di frontiera tra la contea del Tirolo e la Repubblica di Venegia. Storie di uomini e comunitd nella
valle di Primiero nel Quattrocento, tesi di Dottorato, Universita degli Studi di Udine, a.a. 2009-
2010, Pp. 232-255.
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small nuclei throughout the valleys. At the beginning of the 19th cen-
tury, there were approximately 60 in the whole region.*

The enormous quantity of finished and semi-finished wood that
reached Venice was absorbed by the local market: partly by the Ar-
senal shipyard, partly by the private squeri (gondola repair shops) and
another part was destined for exportation across the Mediterranean.
In the mid-1500s the reports by the functionaries of the archduke of
Austria show that the Kingdom of Naples, Apulia, Sardinia and Malta
were common destinations for sale, to which should also be added
Alexandria in Egypt, which already in medieval times «was the de-
stination of the most important commercial routes for building tim-
ber», routes already documented from the 10th century onwards, and
which secondary literature shows to be still active in the 18th and 19th
centuries."”

But now let us look at the data collated in the registry of notary
deeds at Venice. As said at the beginning, the receipts preserved in
the notary protocols give some information on the traffic leaving for
the ports of Malta during a period of 24 years and make up for the
lack of company accounts.* From 1599 until 1613 these refer to quanti-
ties of different assortments and their prices, sorted according to each
merchant. From 1614 until 1618 the data show quantity and type of
timber and the relative prices, but they are not sub-divided per mer-
chant insofar as the receiver used a so-called meggzano (middleman) for

'S G. FaBBIANI, Appunti per una storia del commercio del legname in Cadore, Belluno, Tip.
Benetta, 1959; M. AGNOLETTI, Commercio e industria del legname fra x1x e xx secolo nell’Italia
nord-orientale: aspetti tecnici e scelte imprenditoriali, in G. L. Fontana, A. Leonardi, L. Trezzi
(a cura di), Mobilita imprenditoriale e del lavoro nelle Alpi in etd moderna e contemporanea, Mi-
lano, cUESP, 1998, pp. 31-45; IDEM, Aspetti tecnici ed economici del commercio del legname in
Cadore (x1v-xvI secolo), in S. Cavaciocchi (a cura di), L'uomo e la foresta, secc. xur-xviir, Atti
della xxv11 settimana di studi dell’Istituto internagionale di storia economica «F. Datini» di Prato,
8-13 maggio 1995, Firenze, Le Monnier, 1996 («Atti delle settimane di studi e altri convegni»,
27), pp. 1025-1040; IDEM, Segherie e foreste nel Trentino. Dal Medioevo ai nostri giorni, S. Michele
all’Adige, Museo degli usi e costumi della gente trentina, 1998; OccHI, Boschi e mercanti,
cit., pp. 66-76.

7 J. ANGERER, Die Waldwirtschaft in Tirol vom volkswirthschaftlichen, sogialen und geschich-
tlichen Standpunkte beleuchtet, Bozen, Promperger, 1883, p. 8; VERGANI, Le materie prime, cit.,
p- 289.

** The documentation always refers to the two ports of Malta, the choice of which was
made by the Sacra Religione: cf. e.g., Asve: Na, notaio Fabrizio Beacian, b. 569, cc. 48v-49v,
Venezia, 22 Oct. 1601; cc. 260r-261v, Venezia, 24 July 1601; b. 595, cc. 81r-82r, Venezia, 10
Sept. 1614.
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their purchases. From 1620 the payment receipts are again made out
individually, but it is no longer possible to measure the type and prices
of the materials sold for which we only have the price.

Let us look at the first data. There are 38 companies organised as
fraternities which supply the priory of Venice during a period of 24
years (Tas. 1). They have workshops along the shore of the historical
port of Riva delle Zattere and of the Fondamenta Nove, areas of the city
where these businesses were set up. The imports sold amount to the
sum of 52,788 ducats, but more than 20,000 of these pertain to a single
company. We could say that this was the regular, trusted receiver at
Venice, and it is not a coincidence that, in other documents, this sup-
plier also appears to be a financer of the priory.

Tas. 1. Companies supplying the priory of Venice (1597-1621).

Timber Busi.ness
. . with
Company Residence price
Arsenal
(ducats)
(1594-1621)
Zuliani Andrea di Pietro VE, S. Barnaba, alle zat- 20,648.22 X
tere

Maccarini Daniele, eredi VE, S. Zuanepolo 3,358 X
Jacobi Nicolo VE, alle zattere 3,074
Bovio Zuane VE, Barbaria delle Tole 3,063 X
Vaschini Deffendi di Pietro vE, S. Francesco 2,605.6 X
Nordio Vicenzo VE 2,218 X
Bonsegno Giacomo gqm Franc® 1,918.6
Nordio Lazaro di Bortolamio VE, S. Zuanepolo 1,709
Venago Zuandomenego di VE, S. Zuanepolo 1,542.3

Francesco
Cavagnin Giacomo VE, Madonna dell’'Orto  1,132.8
Zuliani Andrea-Nordio VE 1,077

Vicenzo
Mazoldo Defendi vE, S. Francesco 1,013.3
Someda Gio. Batta Tirolo, Primiero 958.1
Malipiero Ottaviano, patrizio VE 931
Maccarini Giacomo eredi 639
Colombo Pietro gm Lorenzo vE, Madonna dell'Orto 610
Contarini Pietro, patrizio VE 548
Morosini Francesco, patrizio VE 500
Mazzoni Marco gm Antonio Valstagna (vI) 467 X
Merlo Giacomo gm Pietro VE, ai Gesuiti 440

Ant®
Maccarini Bortolo 410
Bianchini Antonio VE 386 X

(segue)
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Timber BuSi.nESS
Company Residence price wit
Arsenal
(ducats)
(1594-1621)
Saler Michiel 350
Campelli Zuane q. Giacomo VE, S. Zuane Polo 318
Riccoboni Riccobon VE, alle zattere 302.6
Da Mosto Valerio, patrizio VE 283
Campelli Francesco VE, S. Zuanepolo 270.12 X
Moro Bernardin gm Antonio 240
Morosini Silvestro, patrizio VE 230
Genova Bartolomeo VE, alle zattere 220
Valle Zuane VE, S. Sofia 218
Zuliani Pietro VE 203.3
Merzari Antonio vI, Valstagna 200
Purin Bortolamio Fonzaso (BL) 197 X
Maccarini Antonio VE, S. Zuane Polo 185
Marsoni Paolo 165
Bianchini Antonio-Ferini VE, alle zattere 109.5 X
Cosmo

Nordio Vicenzo e Lazaro VE 112

The group of suppliers consists of 5 patrician Venetians, (Ottaviano
Malipiero, Piero Contarini, Francesco Morosini, Valerio da Mosto and
Silvestro Morosini) who deal with 4.7% of the imports; these data con-
firm the interest of the patricians in the timber market as has already
been demonstrated. They operate both individually and by means of
agents, as well as in the companies of other merchants from this list.

Only two of these families (da Mosto and Malipiero) appear to sup-
ply the Arsenal®” and in 1597, both are amongst the subjects obliged to
pay custom duties for transport through the barrage across the Piave
river, known as the cidolo. The Morosinis operated along the Piave
and the Cordevole and had business with the archduke of Austria
with regard to commissions in Val Pusteria and along the tributaries
of the Brenta river.*

9 asve: Patroni e provveditori all’Arsenal, b. 539, 5 July 1504; 5 Aug. 1594; 1st Sept. 1594; 16
Sept. 1594; 26 Sept. 1594; 6 Oct. 1594; 19 Oct. 1594; 20 Oct. 1594; 3 Nov. 1594; 29 Nov. 1595;
26 June 1595. This refers to Valerio da Mosto and Alvise Malipiero. About the Arsenal: Te-
nenti, Tucci (a cura di), Storia di Venegia, vol. x11, Il mare. La fabbrica delle navi, cit.

> About the patricians in the Tyrol Alps cf. K. Occhi, Mercanti di legname tra la contea del
Tirolo e la repubblica veneta. Un capitolo di storia sociale ed economica dei secoli xvI-xvii, tesi di
Dottorato in Storia della societa europea (x11 ciclo), Universita degli Studi di Milano, a.a.
1999-2000, pp. 18-30. List of merchants and patricians in FABBIANT, op. cit., pp. 7-10.
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Of the remainder, one is a mediator of the receiver, 24 merchants
are proprietors or heirs in the commercial companies operating in
Venice, 3 companies have shareholders from the above list of mer-
chants and finally, 5 are unknown. 14 of these merchants are also
suppliers to the Venetian Arsenal, as can be seen from the documen-
tation of «Patroni e Provveditori all’Arsenale», and the assortments
provided are the same: logs, sections (ranging from 5x5-10x12 cm
and between 2.5 and 6 m), beams (of up to 24x27 cm of varying
lengths), used in the manufacture of galleys both for mercantile or
fighting purposes.”

If we extend our research to other Venetian documentations, the de-
eds show that 20 businesses existed with workshops along the course
of the Piave; amongst these, 6 also worked along the Cismon-Brenta.
Only 2 worked exclusively on the Cismon-Brenta; one operated both
on the Cismon-Brenta and the Adige and one, in addition to opera-
ting in the traffic via Piave towards Venice, and via Cismon towards
Padova, was also operating on the Cellina and the Tagliamento. 13 of
these 24 businesses were not only active in the cutting of wood in the
hinterland, but also carried on business in other areas, both in Tyrol
and the regions under the rule of the bishops of Bressanone and of
Trento, that is to say along the tributaries of the Brenta, Piave and
Cordevole (Tas. 2).

Tas. 2. Companies and rivers where the merchants were active
(1597-1621).

Company River Foreign

areas

Zuliani Andrea di Pietro Piave x

Maccarini Daniele, eredi Cismon, Brenta, Cordevole-Piave X

Jacobi Nicolo Piave

Bovio Zuane Cismon, Brenta, Cordevole-Piave X

Vaschini Deffendi di Pietro Cordevole

Nordio Vicenzo Cordevole, Piave X

Bonsegno Giacomo gm Franc® —

Nordio Lazaro di Bortolamio Cordevole, Piave X
(segue)

21

asve: Patroni e provveditori all’Arsenal, b. 539, 9 Mar. 1504, 4 Apr. 1504, 21 Apr. 1594, 7 May
1594, 5 June 1594, 17 June 1594, 21 June 1594, 30 June 1594, 12 July 1504, 6 Aug. 1504, 15 Aug. 1594,
18 Aug. 1594, 19 Aug. 1594, 26 Aug. 1594, 23 Sept. 1504, 12 Dec. 1594, 17 June 1598; b. 540, 19 Jan.
1617, 8 Jan. 1618, 25 Febr. 1618, 12 Nov. 1618; 16 Apr. 1620; 6 July 1620, 1st Dec. 1621.
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Company River Foreign
areas
Venago Zuandomenego di Franc® Piave
Cavagnin Giacomo Piave
Zuliani Andrea-Nordio Vicenzo  Piave X
Mazoldo Defendi —
Someda Gio. Batta Adige, Cismon, Brenta, Padola, Piave X
Malipiero Ottaviano, patrizio Piave
Maccarini Giacomo eredi Cismon, Brenta, Cordevole X
Colombo Pietro gm Lorenzo —
Contarini Pietro Piave
Morosini Francesco, patrizio Vajont, Piave X
Mazzoni Marco gm Antonio Adige, Cismon, Brenta, x
Merlo Giacomo gm Pietro Ant®  —
Maccarini Bortolo Cismon, Brenta, Cordevole X
Bianchini Antonio Piave, Cellina, Tagliamento
Saler Michiel —
Campelli Zuane gm Giacomo Piave
Riccoboni Riccobon Piave
Da Mosto Valerio, patrizio Piave
Campelli Francesco gm Santin Piave
Moro Bernardin gm Antonio —
Morosini Silvestro, patrizio Cismon, Brenta, Cordevole-Piave X
Genova Bartolomeo Piave
Valle Zuane —
Zuliani Pietro —
Merzari Antonio Brenta
Purin Bortolamio Brenta
Maccarini Antonio gm Antonio Cismon, Brenta, Cordevole x
Marsoni Paolo —
Bianchini Antonio-Ferini Cosmo  Piave, Tagliamento
Nordio Vicenzo e Lazaro Cordevole, Piave X

The current research shows that during the same period, 6 of these
businesses had sawmills in the Terraferma, both in the area around
Venice and other areas (Tas. 3). Part of them belonged to the so-called
«global merchants» who dealt with the entire cycle of production: ac-
quisition of the rights to cut wood or leases of woodlands from the
mountain communities, skidding of timber from the forests, transport,
processing (to transform the tree into the various products requested
by the end-user) and finally the sale. For companies of this type, it was
usual to be active on more than one site, which in some cases also cor-
responded to the sites of the sawmills. Also some entrepreneurs in their
business with the receiver in Malta reproduce this type of model and in
effect the stations of the various facilities are as follows: the Mazzonis
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owned 2 on the Brenta and 2 on the Cismon and were, most importan-
tly, suppliers of the Padovan market;* Bartolomeo Purin rented 2 at the
Merlo along the Brenta;* Venago had 4 sawmills on the Piave situated
in Cadore,* the Maccarinis had 1 at Fonzaso on the Cismon and 1 on the
Cordevole.” Antonio Bianchin owned 1 at Fonzaso on the Cismon, 2 at
Ansogne and 2 at Perarolo on the Piave; 1 in Carnia was under the juri-
sdiction of Tolmezzo;* Vicenzo Nordio had 2 on the Piave: 1 at Sedico
and the other at Ospitale of Cadore.” In the districts outside the bounda-
ries there were another 6 (4 on the Adige, 1 on the Brenta and 1 on the
Cismon) of the 15 sawmills belonging to the Italian Tyrol merchants
Someda (6 on the Cismon, 3 on the Piave).

TaB. 3. Hydraulic sawmills of the timber merchants trading with Malta
along these rivers (1583-1628).

River River Creek Creek River River
Company . . . .
Adige Brenta Cismon Cordevole Piave  Tagliamento
Nordio Vicenzo 1 Ospitale
di Cadore
1 Sedico
Venago 4 Cadore
Zuandomenego
Someda G. Batta 3 Lavis 1 Caldonazzo 6 Fonzaso 3 Perarolo
1 Calliano di Cadore
Mazzoni Marco 1 Valstagna 2 Fonzaso
1 Oliero
Bianchin Antonio 1 Fonzaso 2 Ansogne 1 Carnia
2 Perarolo
Purin Bortolamio 2 Merlo
Maccarini 1 Fonzaso 1 Oregne
Antonio
Total 4 5 10 1 13 1

** Wherever not otherwise specified, the data are provided by OccHi, Boschi e mercanti,
cit., pp. 73, 75, 183-184.

» asvi: notaio Gio. Antonio Crassi gm Martino, b. 787, 1595, cc. 51v-52v, Valstagna, 8 Apr.
1595.

* asve: x Savi alle Decime, Condigioni di Decime ed altre imposte straordinarie, b. 660, no.
1277, 1617.

*» CORAZZOL, op. cit., p. 213.

26 Asve: Na, notaio Pietro Leonardo Leonardi, b. 8039, cc. 262r-263v, Venezia, 28 Sept.
1627; notaio Giovanni Draghi, b. 4975, cc. 400v-402v, Venezia, 25 Oct. 1628.

¥ asve: x Savi alle Decime, Condigioni di Decime ed altre imposte straordinarie, b. 660, no.
1394, 1617.
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The data on the subject of the distribution of the workshops and the
ownership of the sawmills of the companies looked at show us that
the receiver of the Order of St. John had dealings with the most im-
portant merchants operating in Venice at the end of the 16th century
and this leads us to think that Malta was only one of the overseas
markets in which they had business.

Finally let us look at the data in relation to the prices of these pro-
ducts. It is commonly accepted that the price of timber during the
Ancien Régime grew continuously: this is shown by the sparse informa-
tion existing for Genoa, France, England, Danzig and Spain. This phe-
nomenon is also relevant for the derivatives, such as wood charcoal
and ash.?® However, there are no data available for Venice and therefo-
re it is of some interest to examine these payment documents which
enable us to add another piece to the puzzle of the prices of timber
which were being charged in the city between 1599 and 1618, even if
there are certain limits determined by the sources, since only rarely
are the lengths given precisely in Venetian feet, but the cross-section
is expressed in inches). Let us see what it is possible to reconstruct.
These transactions only deal with construction timber. There are 5
different types of semi-finished for building and maritime use: boards
of larch and white fir, larch beams (bordonali) of 11 or 12 m, for which
the price varied based on the cross section but not on the length. Ano-
ther assortment of squared timber were the sections (murali), most
importantly the cadorini, although it is not known whether this refers
to a type of timber or the geographical provenance and finally, the
larch logs (rulli). Boards and sections were sold by the hundredweight
(centener), the beams and logs had unit prices.

The charges made to the receiver for the purchase of the raw mate-

** For Britain see C. M. CrpoLLa, Storia economica dell’Europa preindustriale, Bologna, il
Mulino, 1994, pp. 264-265. For France: M. DEVEZE, La vie de la forét francaise au xvr siécle,
Paris, SEVPEN, 1961, 11, pp. 353-383. For Danzig see M. MaLOWIST, L'approvisionnement des
ports de la Baltique en produits forestiers pour les constructions navales aux xv° et xvi° siecles, in
M. Mollat (éd.), Le navire et économie maritime du Nord de UEurope du Moyen Age au xvin
siécle, Paris, SEVPEN, 1960, p. 36. For Genoa and Spain: M. CALEGARI, Legnami e costrugioni
navali nel Cinquecento, in Guerra e commercio nell’evolugione della marina genovese tra Xv e Xvir
secolo, Genova, Universita di Genova, 1970, 11, pp. 95-96. For Venice: F. C. LANE, Navires et
constructeurs d Venise pendant la Renaissance, Paris, SEVPEN, 1965, pp. 261-263. For the charcoal
price in Venice see R. MACKENNEY, Tradesmen and Traders. The world of the Guilds in Venice
and Europe, c. 1250-1650, Totowa (NJ), Barnes & Noble Books, 1987, pp. 101-102.
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rials show that in the course of little more than 15 years, the prices of
larch boards underwent an increase of 28%. Table 4 shows the average
prices (expressed in Venetian lire) for 3 chronological periods. Also the
average cost per hundredweight for batches of white fir increased by
approximately 28% (TaB. 4, col. 2). The difference in price for batches
of larch and white fir is that larch was about 30% more expensive.

The price of larch logs increased moderately as can be seen in Ta-
ble 4, col. 3, amounting to approximately 12%. Beams made of high-
quality materials such as larch, and for reasons of uniformity we have
excluded smaller beams, experienced the most severe increase of the
equivalent of 38%, as can be seen in Table 4, col. 4. The sections sho-
wed an increase of 16%, as illustrated in Table 4, col. 5 (average price
in Venetian lire).

TaB. 4. Prices of construction timber in Venice (1599-1618).

Board Board Larch logs Larch beams Sections
of larch of white fir (rulli di larice) (bordonali di larice)  (murali)
Col. 1 Col. 2 Col. 3 Col. 4 Col. 5
1599-1603 39,3 27,9 15,5 40,7 47
1606-1610 45,8 32,8 16,7 48,9 44,8
1611-1618 50,4 35,8 17,5 56,5 54,6

This list of prices acts as a validation of the data in our possession
for other parts of Europe, as mentioned above. The upwards trend
in the price of timber in Venice is also confirmed by the costs char-
ged from the Arsenal, which are recorded in the Patroni e Provveditori
all’Arsenale. Since, however, the documentation is not continuous, it
is difficult to make a reconstruction that would cover more than just
a short period.



II. TRANSFERTS DE POPULATION,
ACCULTURATION, SPIRITUALITE

«...TO LIVE UNDER THE PROTECTION
OF YOUR SERENITY»: IMMIGRATION
AND IDENTITY IN EARLY MODERN VENICE

Ersie C. BURKE

...I came to understand that I could not se-
lect a place more suitable and convenient
to men of my own Greek background.
Though nations from almost all over the
earth flock in vast numbers to your city [of
Venice], the Greeks are most numerous of
all: as they sail in from their own regions
they make their first landfall in Venice, and
have such a tie with you that when they put
into your city they feel they are entering
another Byzantium.

CARDINAL BESSARION, 1468

HEN cardinal Bessarion bequeathed his library of Greek and

Latin works to the Serenissima his aim was to find a home for the
collection. That he chose Venice, rather than Rome where he lived, says
much about his perception of the former city. For Bessarion and other
Byzantine exiles Venice represented a bastion against further Ottoman
encroachment in the Mediterranean. It was the West’s most eastern
looking city so it understood the East. It was well known for its social
and religious tolerance which it extended to the many foreigners who
worked and lived there. Bessarion knew of this reputation which his let-
ter, in the form of a panegyric, implied. Other Byzantine patrician and
humanist exiles shared his belief in the Myth of Venice since many of

! From cardinal Bessarion’s letter accompanying the deed of donation of his library to
Venice, transl. by M. Lowry, in D. Chambers, B. Pullan (eds.), Venice: A Documentary His-
tory 1450-1630, Oxford, 1992, p- 358.
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them had chosen the city as their home after the fall of Constantinople
in 1453. The thousands of popolani Greeks who immigrated there from
the late fifteenth century onwards held similar views though articulating
them in Bessarion’s style would have been a problem for most. Beyond
this shared view of the Serenissima, however, there was nothing in com-
mon between Byzantine noble exiles and the Greek speaking popula-
tion of Venice. Yet it was these immigrants, not the handful of nobility
and humanists, who laid the foundations for and built the structures of
a permanent Greek presence which we can still see today. It was these
people who made up the city’s largest community of subject people.
The artisans, sailors, merchants and their families who immigrated to
the city from her Greek speaking territories did so because Venice was
‘their’ imperial Capital, the only political culture they knew and identi-
fied with. By the late fifteenth century and during all of the sixteenth,
Greek immigration was constant and settlement became permanent.
What, if anything, did the Greeks of Venice think of their place within
the Stato da Mar? How did they perceive and understand Venetian rule
over their patrie? Did they have thoughts about the nature of Venetian
policies, law and justice? In short, what did Venetian Greeks think of
Venice and what did Venice think of them?

This article examines the relationship between Venice and its Greek
subjects, and the way Greek immigrants became incorporated into
Venetian life. The focus is the sixteenth century because it was not
only the period of greatest migration, it also saw the creation of a
formal community with its own church and scuola. The sources that
best shed light on the relationship between the immigrant and the
State are petitions submitted by Greeks and the State’s response in the
form of gifts, awards and rewards (gratie). Unfortunately diary keep-
ing (ricordange), that characteristic Florentine habit, was not shared
by Venetians or Greeks, so we are deprived of the migrant’s more
personal thoughts and experiences. Instead we must rely on more
public forms of expression to gain an understanding about how peo-
ple saw themselves in a Venetian context. Some of these sources are
not as reliable and nowhere near as personal as ricordange, but taken
altogether and seen in the context of migration they offer insights
into the relationship between the State and its subject people. To date
there has been little focus on petitions and awards except where they
impacted on the formal community, that is the Greek church of S.
Giorgio dei Greci and the scuola of S. Nicolo dei Greci or to privileged
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groups, their activities and their impact on the community. Studies on
immigration experiences of the popular classes focused almost exclu-
sively on refugees from the territories that fell to the Ottomans, and
many of these carried a nationalist interpretation that is quite out of
place in pre-nationalist societies. In the sixteenth century the commu-
nity was divided almost equally between refugees, that is those who
fled the Ottoman takeover of their homelands, and voluntary immi-
grants, those whose patrie remained part of the Stato da Mar until the
fall of the Republic.” The sources clearly show there were other, more
complex reasons why people moved to Venice and that in most cases,
this movement was voluntary. Simply argued, documentation of a
more personal nature allows us to get a better understanding of the
Greek immigrant identity in the early modern period.

Venice, for all its faults and weaknesses, was a generous State.
Whether by design or accident, she did her best to fulfil her obliga-
tions to all her subjects at home and abroad. The thousands of mon-
etary awards, high, middling and low positions, licences and honours
she dispensed annually were in recompense for personal or commer-
cial losses, in the interest of public order and morals, and in recogni-
tion of loyal service, good works, real need and bravery. They were
certainly not seen as charity which was the responsibility of scuole,
religious houses, hospitals, orphanages, other lay and religious insti-
tutions, individuals and families. The State handed out pensions and
stipends, employment and other emoluments, and like everyone else,
Greeks regularly asked for and received some of these benefits. The
system was not faith or class-based so patricians, popolani, rich and
poor used it. It was open to anyone living in Venice and her territories:
Venetians, subject people and foreigners. In September 1572 five Turk-
ish merchants asked for assistance because they found themselves in
difficult straits. They were in Venice, separated from the man they
worked for (the Sultan’s dragomanno), who was in Verona; they did not
say, but their goods may have been sequestered during the Lepanto
war and had not yet been returned to them. The five faced the pros-
pect of a cold winter and little cash; they requested warm clothing

> Over 90% of Greek immigrants came from the territories of the Stato da Mar. In
the sixteenth century refugees came from cities and islands such as Negroponte, Modon,
Coron, Napoli di Romania and Monemvasia and Cyprus. Voluntary immigrants were
from Crete and the Ionian Islands. The spread was 48% refugees and 52% voluntary immi-
grants: E. C. BURKE, The Greek Neighbourhoods of Sixteenth Century Venice, 1498 — 1600, Ph.D.
Dissertation, Monash University, 2004, pp. 47-50.
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and blankets to tide them over the winter, at least until the authori-
ties allowed them to return to their homes.? The petitioning process
could be quick, but was usually lengthy, with the longest delays occur-
ring when requests reached the final stage in the Senate. The Turkish
merchants had been waiting nearly two years for their goods to be re-
turned. Similarly, in a petition lodged in June 1575, Costantino Maurici
complained that he had not yet received compensation for the tools
he lost while helping fight the fire that engulfed the Ducal Palace in
1574 and, as he pointed out, it had been over a year since he had put in
his original request.* Subject people had a long tradition of petition-
ing and receiving awards and honours from the State. In many, but by
no means all cases, the authorities responded favourably.

In short, the State looked after public welfare in the form of work
and pensions. It recognised the efforts of the popolo who had served it
in one capacity or another — as soldiers, sailors, castellans or fire-fight-
ers to name a few occupations. The military class, both officers and
enlisted men, received promotions, public offices, titles, land, dow-
ries for orphaned daughters, pensions for widows and positions in the
regiments for its sons, cousins and nephews. In the interests of law
and order and to keep large numbers of men and women employed
so they did not turn to crime, it meted out work to the unemployed
and dowry money to orphaned girls. Men and women were assigned

3 asve: Collegio, Risposte di dentro, fz. 5, ff. 861-86v, 25 Sept. 1572: «Suplicano reverente-
mente alla bonta, clementia, et benignita di Vostra Serenita cinque poveri Turchi signori de
Mahamut Bey ch’¢ in Verona, che ritrovandosi in questa Citta noi signori di lui, senza ajuto
ne subsidio alcuno, se non de quelli dodici soldi soli, che habbiamo dalla liberalita di Vos-
tra Serenita che ne fanno tenuemente per il viver ¢, in questi tempi calamitosi et pieni de
penuria, che ritrovandosi noi cinque poveri Turchi nudi de drappi, et senza camise, veste,
ne schiavina per il dormire, et istando el tempo del freddo, Vostra Serenita sia contenta
per pieta et misericordia, a laude dell’omnipotente Iddio, farne questa elemosina che a
noi cinque poveri signori de Mahamut Bey Dragoman del Signor Turcho ch’ ¢, al presente
ritento in Verona, siano fatte camise, veste, per I'inverno, et calze et schiavina da dormire,
accio non moriamo da freddo nel cuore dell'inverno, et possiamo passar la nostra vita fina
che piacera a nostro Signor Iddio, et alla Clementia di Vostra Serenita di liberarne et lasciar-
ne andar a casa. Cosi facendo, resteremo obbligatissimi & Vostra Serenita et pregheremo,
come facciamo, di continuo nostro Signor Iddio, ch’illumini la mente del nostro Signor
Turco, a desister dalla guerra ch’ha mossa a la Vostra Serenita contra ogni dovere, et goder
quella pace ch’ha goduta suo padre et avo, 60 anni et piti con universal beneficio et utile
della nation Turchesca et della Republica Christiana». On the same day another group of
Turkish merchants living in Venice made a similar request. Like their Verona compatriots,
their goods had been sequestered because of Lepanto.

4 Ibidem, fz. 6, f. 13, 5 June 1575.
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often lowly paid positions in the various magistracies in the city or
one of its dependencies. Mothers and other relations of young, or-
phaned women asked for allowances towards the girls” dowries, to
allow the women to enter a good marriage and to remove the temp-
tation or need to prostitute themselves. What Greeks wanted, what
they received, and whether or not their needs were different from
other people’s are some of the issues examined here.

PETITIONS

Greek petitions are rich sources of information. They illustrate that
Greeks participated in petition writing with as much enthusiasm as
other Venetians, and did so whether they lived in the city or one of
its possessions. Because many supplicants prefaced their requests
with detailed descriptions of their family’s sometimes very long his-
tory of State employment as soldiers, tax-collectors, castellans and
other public officials, we have detailed, though often embellished
accounts of the ties between the individual and the State. Petitions
also provide considerable information about occupations, working
conditions, hardships, poverty, lost wealth, past, present and, hope-
tully future glories. They inform the reader about the way people
saw themselves, their co-workers, family and friends, their commu-
nity and city. Whether they were protesting their innocence for some
real or imagined crime or requesting financial assistance, the petitions
and the decisions arising from them provide an insight into the issues
that concerned people as they went about their daily lives. More im-
portantly, petitions reflected a particular view of the State, even if at
times it was an exaggerated one; that it was the institution to which
all people could turn for justice, arbitration, employment and relief
in difficult times.

The purpose of petition writing was to win a favour. This prac-
tice was common throughout the early modern period in Italy and
elsewhere. All petitions were first presented to the College (Collegio),
which was made up of the doge and his secretaries. The College, a
sort of clearing house, accepted or rejected petitions. If a petition was
worth further attention, it was dated and copied before being sent to
the appropriate magistracy. From there it passed through a series of
offices where it was read and closely examined again and voted on be-
fore being sent to the full College (Pien Collegio), which approved it or
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not and added any amendments or special conditions. The decisions
of the Pien Collegio were then entered into the Senate’s calendar to be
voted upon. After this vote, petitioners received their reward.” Greek
petitions did not differ in content or purpose from those submitted
by other people. The most common requests were for financial as-
sistance in the form of pay rises, access to pensions, employment or
licences to trade in State monopolies like cereals and salt. The State
used the treasuries of its own magistracies as well as those of the
subject cities to finance the awards. In the period 1563-1600 ninety-two
Greek men and women living in Venice submitted 110 petitions. Ta-
bles 1 and 2 are summaries of Greek petitioners and their requests.

Tas. 1. Greek petitioners 1563-1600.

The supplicants

92 petitioners submitted 110 petitions
15 applicants were women (see below)

9 people petitioned two or more times

Women supplicants (15)

11 from Napoli di Romania

1 from Cyprus

3 did not give place of origin
12 were widows

3 did not state marital status

Background
52 supplicants were or had parents and/or grandparents who had been re-
fugees
17 came from colonies that remained part of the Stato da Mar
4 were from cities in the Ottoman Empire or Northern Italy
19 did not indicate place of origin

Homelands
(73 people provided place name; *indicates territories lost to Ottomans)
Napoli di Romania: 33*
Cyprus: 11*
Candia:
Corfu: 6

> Petitions from people living in Venice and its closest mainland territories are classified
in the series risposte di dentro, while those from the more distant territories of the Terrafer-
ma and the Empire da Mar make up the series risposte di fuori. Both series start in the early
1560s; some petitions before 1563 are located in the filze of various Senate registers.
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Malvassia: *

Modon:

Braccio de Maina:
Zante:

Cerigo:

Other:

Place of origin not provided: 19

BN A SR SN
* ot

Tas. 2. Breakdown of requests.

Request No. of Supplicants

Position in a State office 38
Compensation 20

Licences 16

Justice Matters 8

Pay Rises; Pensions 6 of each
Inventions

Arbitration; Request to purchase land 4 of each
Citizenship de intus et extra 2

Request to claim inheritance 1

A greater number of refugees than voluntary immigrants used the
petitioning system. This should not come as a surprise since refugees
arrived with little money and less support from family back home — if
they had any that is. Voluntary immigrants, on the other hand main-
tained close commercial and social contacts with family, friends and
associates in their patrie, in many cases working closely with them and
visiting frequently. For refugees, especially working class ones, this
was not an option, even after Venice restored relations with the new
rulers. They had little money and anyway, many had left their posses-
sions behind when they fled. Where this involved property, they lost
their ownership rights because they could not afford to redeem or
maintain lands and buildings from a distance. Given that most of the
community was working class anyway, it is not surprising then that so
many refugees turned to the State for favours.

The overwhelming majority of supplicants came from the mari-
time and artisan classes. Their main concern was to secure employ-
ment through the public service or to receive licences to work legally
as artisans or merchants, or to secure rights to purchase property
outside Venice; actually to obtain any kind of work that guaranteed
a regular income. A few people complained about the loss of wages
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and pensions or delays in payment, indicating the fragility of their
financial situation. Sometimes payments were delayed because of
the gap between the approval of an award and the date payment
commenced. Unfortunately, the bureaucratic wheels of State did not
move as quickly as people’s real or perceived needs. There were also
compensation claims based on property and goods lost or damaged,
bills for the reimbursement for work undertaken on behalf of the
State, and requests for the restoration of concessions lost through
no fault of the holder. After the fall of Cyprus many petitioned for
compensation and remuneration either because they lost access to
a lucrative market, or were enslaved and had to buy their freedom,
or because the island’s offices and positions they once held or were
paid from had disappeared. A case in point is that of the Calauro
family. In 1546 Nicolo Calauro was awarded ninety ducats per annum
because he was a refugee from Napoli di Romania. The money came
out of the treasuries of a number of subject cities, including a chan-
cery in Nicosia which contributed thirty-six ducats annually. Nicolo
died in 1569 and the gift went to his wife and children. Damiano was
the eldest of Nicolo’s children and had the responsibility of caring
for his two unmarried sisters, a brother, his mother as well as his
own family. And he was thirty-six ducats short. In a petition lodged
on 29 March 1571, Damiano Calauro asked for the restoration of the
thirty-six ducats through another office.® Greek demands then, were
similar to those made by others, be they Venetians or foreigners.
The overriding concern was access to an award that provided em-
ployment and an income or, failing that, a small pension. The small
number of requests for pensions however, indicates that people ei-
ther did not live long enough to require some assistance later in life
or they had other means of support like savings or family. In any
case, a State award was no guarantee of continuing income mainly

¢ Damiano writes in his petition: «Ma de piu essendosi aggregato a miserabil perdita
della infelicissima citta de Nicosia son restanto anco privo delli ducati 36 all’anno conces-
sarmi ut supra pel viver et sostegno nostro» (asve: Collegio, Risposte di dentro, fz. 4, f. 126,
29 Mar. 1571). Nicolo Calauro’s gift is ibidem: Senato, Mar, reg. 29, f. 1551, 17 Febr. 1547: «A
ser Nicolo Calauro sia concesso in vita soa, et doppo la morte soa a dona Antonella sua
moglie, et a Damian, Januli et Marieta soi figlioli ducati nonanta all’anno, cioé ducati vin-
tiquatro sopra la cancellaria di Mestre, ducati dodeci sopra la cancellaria di Capo d’Istria,
ducati trentasei sopra la cavallaria de Nicossia, et ducati disdotto sopra la contestabelaria
di Crema»; the second Calauro daughter was born after 1547.



IMMIGRATION AND IDENTITY IN EARLY MODERN VENICE 131

because so few petitions were successful, especially when supplicants
came from the ‘lower orders’.”

Male supplicants outnumbered females by a huge number and this
was the case with all petitions, not just Greek ones. In general, more
men than women petitioned and did so more frequently; in fact none
of the multiple supplicants in Table 1 were women. The differences
then in petition writing and submission were gender-based, not eth-
nicity based. Why did so few women ask for favours? Many already
had access to privileges and awards through their fathers, brothers
and husbands, so they did not need to seek favours in their own right.
There was a cultural expectation that women would be looked af-
ter by other family members, even though the census of 1592-1504
showed that many, many women supported themselves and lived
alone.® Some immigrant women might have believed they did not
have strong claims because they had no or few historical connections
to the Republic. Men on the other hand, described in vivid detail their
own and their ancestors’ links to the Republic. A few women did this
too, but most related the stories of their men, and then, almost as
an afterthought, added their own. Finally, Greek women might have
been less inclined to petition because many did not speak Italian and
even those who did often left it to men to ask for favours on their
behalf. This numerical discrepancy between male and female suppli-
cants extended to the granting of awards. Between 1546 and 1548 sev-
enty-three people from Napoli di Romania and Monemvasia received
compensation for the loss of properties, monies and livelihoods fol-
lowing the Ottoman conquest of the two cities. Among women only

7 Bob Davis found that among arsenalotti petitions in the first half of the seventeenth
century, less than half (40%) were granted and that success increased the higher up the
socio-economic scale one went: «Overall, around 40% of all Arsenal petitioners actually
saw their suppliche granted by an award (gratia) of the Senate during the years of this study.
Different sorts of petitioners had different expectations of success, however, ranging from
only around 30% for petitions awarded to rank and file arsenalotti, to 40% for outsiders
seeking to enroll, to nearly 50% for worker managers of all types, to an almost 80% success
rate for the suppliche of the Admiral and four principal foremen.» (R. Davis, Shipbuilders
of the Venetian Arsenal: workers and workplace in the preindustrial city, Baltimore, The Johns
Hopkins University Press, 1991, p. 189).

® This was especially true in the poorer parishes like S. Martino, next to the Arsenal.
The census books of that parish are replete with widows living on their own or with one
other person who was not part of the family: Archivio Curia Patriarcale di Venezia: status
animarum, b. 3, fz. 7 (S. Martino). The Greek census is located separately at the back of the
census book.
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twenty-five, or 34% received awards, even though the gender balance
among this group of immigrants was fairly even. On a broader scale
(and excluding the 1546-1548 gifts), in a random selection of 140 peo-
ple who received awards between 1520-1600, only twenty-seven (19%)
were women, and all but six of these were married or widowed. The
low numbers did not mean there were few women in need. If any-
thing they indicate a lack of confidence in asserting claims, an unfa-
miliarity with the petitioning process, and a social and cultural world
that defined women’s status through their men.

When Zuana Fontana asked for assistance, she spoke of her hus-
band’s achievements and her own losses in support of her claims. The
family, Nicolo, Zuana and their three children left their native Napoli
di Romania in 1541. Nicolo faithfully served the State as a soldier in
the company of the capo dei stratioti Francesco de Nassin. He fought
in Candia and elsewhere for over forty years. His death left the fam-
ily without any means of support, prompting his widow to request
that a portion of Nicolo’s salary be transferred to her to provide for
the family, which at the time of the petition (Dec. 1568) had grown to
eight: «... [my husband] died leaving me the poor supplicant his wife
with the burden of a large family of three children, that is one boy
and two girls and the wife, and children, of my son in the greatest
calamity and poverty ... [I wish] to have a favour ... of three ducats a
month from the provision that the aforesaid my late husband had...».?
Zuana’s petition did not go into minute details about Nicolo’s career,
but focused instead on both his and her own misfortunes; in fact, hers
was one of the few petitions that told her story, not his. For the loss
of her homeland had a serious impact on Zuana in a very personal
way: she had to abandon her dowry which was mainly in real estate
when she fled: «I left in Napoli ... houses and land ... estimated at
330 ducats, a good portion which was part of my dowry [and] these
aforementioned possessions sustained all of our family».* Now wid-

° asve: Collegio, Risposte di dentro, fz. 3, f. 2571, 19 Dec. 1568: «... [mio marito] vienne a
morte. Lasciando me povera supplicante sua consorte ad carico di numerosa fameglia di
tre figliuoli, cioé un maschio et due femine et la moglie, et figliuoli del detto mio figliuolo
in grandissima calamita et poverta ... [voglio] haver una gratia ... di ducati tre al mese della
provisone che haveva il preditto q. mio marito...». At the time of his death Nicolo was
earning seven ducats a month.

© Ibidem: «..]ascio a Napoli tante case et terreni che ... stimati ducati 330 buona parte
de’quali erano la dote mia, sopraditta quali beni sostentavono tutta la nostra fameglia».
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owed and needing to support her extensive family, Fontana turned to
the State for assistance. The conditions that led Zuana Fontana to ask
for help highlight the precarious position of refugee women, the dif-
ficulties they faced and how, in truth, they deserved the rewards some
eventually received. When they fled their homes, refugee women lost
the rights to their properties, a financial disaster no matter how mea-
gre the income from these this might have been. While refugee men
also lost possessions, the world of commerce, trades and seafaring
beckoned, but women had fewer job opportunities and they received
lower wages. Simply put, women did not have the same choices as
men. Dislocation, the loss of a good part of their dowries and in-
come, children to care for, widowhood, and little or no family for sup-
port, left many destitute. They got some relief from the Greek scuola
and other civic and religious charities, but the State provided better,
long-term security. This is why they did their best to secure pensions,
licences and other incomes for themselves and their families. And to
do so they told the stories of their men, and where possible their own
to strengthen their claims. So it is not surprising that there were many
other women like Fontana. Another Naupliot, Marina Petrucina,
claimed she left behind many personal items when she and her family
went to Venice. In 1541 the Senate awarded her an expectancy of six
ducats a year. Forty years later, she petitioned again, this time for an
increase to five ducats a month, and a guarantee that the gift would
pass to her son after her death. She based this on precedence, that
the State had always been generous to Naupliot families.” The third
account is of a woman and her daughter, like Fontana and Petrucina
refugees from Napoli di Romania, widows (in the case of Catherina)
and in need of an income. On 31 January 1547 the Senate awarded the
recently vacated post of custodian (guardian) of the Ghetto to Cathe-
rina Cathario and her daughter Lucretia.” Ghetto custodians were
always Christians and it was their job to enforce the regulations the
State imposed on the residents. They were the only Gentiles allowed

" Ibidem, fz. 7, f. 260, 23 May 1584: «...suplico che la si degni conciedermi un’espettativa
de ducati 5 in circa al mese ... iuxta la parte del 1541, et sia mesa in nomine di detto mio
figliuolo doppo la mia morte ... suplicar a piedi Suoi, et conseguir qualche officio, comme
hanno fatto tutti gl’altri Napolitani...».

> «A dona Catherina Cathario da Napoli di Romania sia concesso in vita soa, et di Lu-
cretia sua figliola il luogo di guardian in ghetto ultimamente vacato.» (ibidem: Senato, Mar,
reg. 29, f. 146, 31 Jan. 1547).
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to live within the Ghetto’s walls. At some stage Lucretia married a
mariner, Francesco Cipriotto, and had two children, Antonio and
Alvise. Francesco was killed, possibly at Lepanto (1571) and Lucretia
died in the plague of 1576. In July 1580 a much older Catherina Cathario
submitted a petition asking her grandsons be allowed to succeed her
as guardiani of the Ghetto since, as their mother’s heirs, by rights the
position should be theirs rather than be opened to competition. This
was granted, but a time limit was placed on the award: the two men
could only keep the position for twenty years. But ten years later, on
29 January 1590, Antonio and Alvise submitted their own petition in
which they asked that the award be extended for their lifetimes, as
it had been for their mother and grandmother.” Petitions like these
three reinforce the importance of the dowry for women’s financial
security and how, in many cases, it made the difference between a
life of poverty and one of survival. Deprived of this vital source, it is
not surprising that women turned to the State for support, not only
for themselves but for their children. All women’s petitions basically
dealt with the same issues: the need for income-generating offices
and the right to pass these on to their children. In every petition, the
women asked a favour for themselves and their families; no female
supplicant asked for something for herself alone.

Men’s petitions differed from women’s in that they covered a wider
range of issues. Men requested pay rises, pensions, employment,
compensation, justice, and licences to trade or to practise a trade.
Once again, money matters, or the absence of adequate income,
were uppermost in people’s minds. Male supplicants provided family
histories, highlighting the many years (or generations) of service
to Venice, no matter how far in the past these might have been. In
August 1580 Gregorio Cuscutelli applied for a broker’s licence on the
grounds that in 1404 the State had obliged an ancestor named Ianni to
serve on its galleys. In return, the family received a vineyard and the
right to build windmills on an island called Santo Abbato. These gifts
earned the Cuscutelli a solid income for many generations and they

% The petition asking for the extension of the gift to Cathario’s grandchildren is ibidem:
Collegio, Risposte di dentro, fz. 6, f. 342, 14 July 1580. The grandsons’ petition is ibidem: Col-
legio, Risposte di dentro, fz. 9, f. 241, 29 Jan. 1590. Alvise and Antonio pleaded poverty. The
Ghetto position would give them and their families an injection of extra funds. Both men
were caulkers and worked in the Arsenal. Most likely they did not want to let a position
with a good income slip out of family hands.
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prospered until the day Napoli di Romania fell. Canachi, Gregorio’s
father, was enslaved and sent to Constantinople and the family had to
raise 450 ducats to ransom him. In the meantime the family moved
to Venice with the other Naupliots. Following his father’s death,
Gregorio submitted his petition, pleading for a licence because he
did not want to be fined for working without one.* Vicenzo Argitti
recounted the more recent service records of his grandfather and
great-uncle and how their bravery inspired both his father, uncle and
himself to follow in their footsteps and become mariners. During the
war of 1538-1540 Vicenzo and his uncle Zorzi smuggled provisions into
their native Napoli di Romania which was then under siege; Zorzi
was killed and Vicenzo was captured by the Ottomans and “put to the
oars’ an unhappy experience which lasted some twenty months. He
was released by the provveditor Contarini and for the next two decades
served on various fleets. At the time of his petition (1563) Vicenzo
was an old man and all he wanted, he said was a position for one of
his sons so the family of nine (he had seven children) could make
ends meet.” Several men appealed for forgiveness for a crime, or the
restitution of their rights after serving their sentences, or for justice
to prevail. Baldisera Mustachi claimed that he had been wrongly
arrested and sought the right to clear his name, while Pollo Sardela,
having completed his sentence, asked for permission to resume his
place as shipwright in the Arsenal, a position he had lost when he was
convicted of striking a woman (he maintained he had done no such
thing).*® All petitioners, regardless of sex, shared common features.
Besides work, people requested compensation for expenses incurred
in the service of the State. Manoli Maurici asked to be reimbursed
for his contribution to the Cypriot war effort. Giacomo Caravella
had agreed to transport 300 soldiers to Candia on behalf of the
State, something which cost him dearly he claimed, especially as he
would have earned more if he had filled his ship with merchandise.”

4 Ibidem: Collegio, Risposte di dentro, fz. 6, . 352, 12 Aug. 1580.

5 Ibidem, fz. 1, f. 28, 7 Febr. 1563.

 Ibidem, fz. 4, . 145, 15 May 1571 (Mustachi) and fz. 5, f. 218, 10 Sept. 1574 (Sardela).

7 Manoli Maurici and Giacomo Caravella’s petitions are in the same folder: ibidem, fz.
4, f. 257, 14 Jan. 1572 (Maurici) and f. 139, 24 Apr. 1571 (Caravella). Maurici had incurred
expenses while outfitting and cargoing a ship for the captain general of the fleet in 1569;
the goods were intended for the forces in Cyprus. Caravella transported troops in April
1570. To speed up the process he agreed to pay for their transport rather than wait for the
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Others turned to the State for justice and to settle personal and public
disputes. Arrodami Conte asked the courts to restore to her family
her late husband’s stipendiary award which his brother had illegally
taken. By rights this was meant for Arrodami and her children.
Thomaso Papadopulo da Cipro was accused of deflowering a young
woman, but he said he was at sea at the time of the incident and the
real culprit set him up by using his name. Thomaso maintained his
innocence («mi trovo innocentissimo») and sought to clear his good
name (he was successful). The sisters Thomasina and Isabetta Clada
asked for an arbiter to settle a property dispute in Cephalonia which
had turned nasty.*

Elites had a different, more equitable relationship to the State. For
a start, their connections to Venice went back much further than
those of their popolano compatriots. As well, some of their work (the
military class for example) involved greater risk. They regularly came
into contact with high public officials, but at the same time, they had
greater responsibilities. And they earned larger salaries and rewards.
Like everyone else they were quick to give elaborate descriptions
of their family history in support of their requests. Thomaso Musa-
chio’s father, grandfather, uncles and cousins were all capi dei stratioti
in Venetian service. His grandfather and two uncles were killed fight-
ing the French in Brescia during the wars of the League of Cambrai.
Musachio’s father had fought in Cyprus and Thomaso and his cous-
ins were now the third generation of Musachio men to serve the Re-
public.” The Nassin were citizens, fief holders and councillors to the
rettori of Napoli di Romania from at least the 1390s. In his petition of
1579, Zuane Nassin recalled how in the last 150 years his father Nicolo,
his grandfather Zorzi, his great grandfather Fiorino, and a great un-
cle Nicolo, count and knight, had loyally served the Serenissima as
fighting men and public officials. By 1430 Fiorino’s deeds were such
that the doge Francesco Foscari had heard of them. In 1518 the rettori
of Napoli di Romania elected Count Nicolo sopracomito of a galley
and in 1529, following the count’s death the position went to Zuane’s

money to come through the relevant office. Officials rented the entire ship so Caravella
could not take any of his merchandise with him.

% Ibidem, fz. 4, f. 179, 1st July 1571 (Conde); ibidem, fz. 5, f. 64, 7 Aug. 1572 (Thomaso Papa-
dopulo da Cipro); ibidem, f. 9, f. 48, 18 July 1589 (the Clada).
 Ibidem, fz. 5, f. 17, 8 Apr. 1572.
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grandfather Zorzi and from him to Nicolo, Zuane’s father.> Nor did
elite women hold back on their family stories to support their re-
quests. Speranza Paleologo’s father and husband, both from Napoli
di Romania, served as capi dei stratioti in Cyprus. Her husband, An-
drea Rondachi, died early, in 1556, and she was left to raise their three
children. Her father, the cavalliero Giovanni Paleologo was Kkilled at
the siege of Nicosia; Speranza and her daughter were enslaved and
spent time on the island of Scio. Eventually they were ransomed and
the family moved to Venice. Speranza lost all her properties in Cyprus
and her only income at that time was a Venetian benefice she inherit-
ed from her father’s estate which, she said, was not enough to live on.
She asked for an expectancy of five ducats a month and supported her
request with the family’s history traced back to its origins in Napoli di
Romania: its wealth, the loss of so many of its men during the siege
of that city (where two of her father’s brothers died), the continued
enslavement of her sons Piero and Thodaro in Constantinople, and
the double blow of losing two homelands, Napoli di Romania and Cy-
prus.” In 1582 Elena Manessi introduced herself in this manner: «...I
Elena, the only daughter of the late captain Demetri Manessi ... say
it is one hundred years and more that those of [my] aforesaid family
toil in the service of this Dominion...». From there Manessi proceed-
ed to describe the exploits and bravery of the Manessi in the defence
of the Republic. She began her story with Martin who commanded
troops in the Morea and Northern Italy in the late fifteenth century.
There are several similarities between Paleologo and Manessi. They
came from the same patria, all the men in their families were capi dei
stratioti, and both women were personally affected by the events of
the Cyprus war. Manessi’s story was as tragic as Paleologo’s. In the
1560s her father had fought hard to stop the sale of Dulcigno to the
Turks; this was part of the terms of a treaty between Venice and the
Ottomans. For this he earned the anger of the Sultan’s representative,
the Pasha of the Sea who enslaved Manessi’s father and brothers and
put them to the oar. Somehow father and sons found themselves in

> Ibidem, fz. 6, . 287, 27 May 1579: «Non ¢ meraviglia se Nicolo padre di me Zuane Nassi-
no gia da Napoli di Romania, Zorzi mio avo, Nicolo conte palatino, et Fiorino mio abavo
siano stati di continuo per le fidelissime sue serviti per stare a Vostra Serenita honorati
dalla sua munificentia in quelle occasioni che I’hanno ne soi bisogni suplicata».

> Ibidem, fz. s, f. 288, 21 Oct. 1574.
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Nicosia on the eve of the siege. Then, «wanting to show that in his
heart he still served Venice...», Demetri Manessi and his sons fought
the «enemies of Christ», but all three lost their lives, leaving the al-
ready widowed Elena without husband, father or brothers and with
responsibility for several children. In her petition she asked that the
company of foot soldiers (fantaria) that used to be under her father’s
command should be restored to her and her children, the idea being
that when her sons came of age they could take command of their
grandfather’s company, and in this continue the Manessi tradition of
public service.”

The suppliche show how dependent Venice was on her colonial sub-
jects to perform important work on both land and sea. At the same
time, individual stories illustrate the close ties between petitioners,
their families and the State. When it was possible to do so, supplicants
highlighted their personal connections to powerful men who could,
if necessary, provide patronage and support. Besides the provveditor
Contarini who freed him from the Ottoman galley, Vicenzo Argitti
named three other patrician commanders he served with. Vicenzo
Livo da Corfu worked as a shipwright on a number of galleys, as his
father did before him. He listed the seven patrician commanders he
served under, the length of service with each as well as other impor-
tant men he could call upon to testify in his favour: «The Most Illustri-
ous Ser General Donato and other diverse illustrious gentlemen who
found themselves on these galleys [Livo served on] and set themselves

** Ibidem, fz. 7, f. 110, 21 Apr. 1582: «Tanto @& stata fidelissima, et benemerita del questo
Mlustrissimo Dominio I'antiquitissima fameglia Manessi ... Io Elena unica figliuola del q.
capitanio Dimitri Manessi, ...gli dico che sono da cento da piu anni, che quele de detta
fameglia sudano al servitio de questo Dominio ... ma perché nel consulto della vendita
de Dolcigno mai volse conseguire a vendersi & nemici ma continuare nella devotione de
Vostra Serenita fui fatto schiavo con due figlioli dal gran Bassa da Mar, et porto in galea
al remo, dove trovandosi il giorno felice nella Nicosia [et] volendo mostrare che’ancor
serva cui nel cuore, il nome Venetiano, cosi incarserati scomerlo offende per i nemici de
Christo, dove fui da essi finalmente amazzato con detti figliuoli». Manessi’s petition is very
long, covering the history of the family’s service starting from 1496. Her recollection of
the prowess, activities and sacrifices of the Manessi is supported by Sanuto who recorded
the family’s service in his diaries: M. SaNuTO, I Diarii, 1, 52; 111, 487-488, 496; 1V, 369, 624;
V, 992; VII, 319; IX, 364, 503; X, 264, 416; XI, 413; XII, 319-320; XXVIII, 492; XXXI, 335; XLV, 396;
LVII, 662-663. Another branch of the Manessi is commemorated in an icon in the church
of S. Giorgio dei Greci. The brothers Zuane and Zorzi Manessi commissioned the icon
and dedicated it to the church on 21 April 1546. It hangs on the right wall just inside the
entrance. The relationship betweeen the brothers and Elena’s branch is unclear.
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to give witness [to Livo’s bravery and devotion] ...».” The supplicants
seemed to be saying: ‘My forefathers and I were deemed good work-
ers by your noble men and you should judge me on the basis of their
opinion. Trust me like they did and grant me my request’.
Furthermore, the suppliche contain important information about
the work people did and the extent to which many Greeks depend-
ed on the State for their livelihood. Petitioners gave their name,
place of origin and the names of any and all members of the family
who at one time or another served Venice in some capacity. Most
included a detailed and somewhat evocative account of their fam-
ily’s history, the focus of which was to prove close links to the Se-
renissima. By analysing the language of the petitions we begin to
understand how supplicants related to the State. Much of this lan-
guage was, of course, taken from set phrases common to all peti-
tions and exaggeration was the rule rather than the exception. Very
few people composed petitions themselves; even elites preferred to
use scribes because they knew which phrases to use, they did not
make grammatical errors and they did not use dialect or informal
speech.* At the same time, we should not take this to mean that
feelings expressed were empty phrases, merely a means to an end.
The language reinforced the supplicant’s devotion to their family
through the recollection of family history. It reflected love for one’s
patria and the blessings of living under Venetian rule, particularly in
petitions from people whose homelands were no longer part of the
Stato da Mar. So in one sense the language expressed the supplicant’s
‘Venetianess’ by creating a glorified (Venetian) past and linking it to
the supplicant’s decision to immigrate to the imperial Capital rather
than living under a political authority which was neither Christian
nor Venetian. The 1583 petition of Piero, son of Dimo Caravella
of Corfu, provides a good example of this Greco-Venetian duality.
The first half of Piero’s lengthy petition listed the ways he and his

» Ibidem, fz. 1, f. 28, 7 Febr. 1563 (Argitti) and fz. 10, f. 245, 17 Aug. 1508 (Vicenzo Livio).

* Davis, Shipbuilders, pp. 191-192. Arsenalotti used scribes because many of them were
illiterate. Davis says that even literate shipbuilders used scribes because they could write
well and knew grammar and correct usage: «...scribes were aware of the grammar and
usages expected for such formal writings [as petitions]: they could be counted on to avoid
dialect expressions or the kinds of spellings based on Venetian pronunciations to which
even literate masters were prone; indeed, even patricians might employ a scribe if the
petition were important enough».
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father had served Venice. Dimo was a sailor on the galleys com-
manded by the provveditor Pesaro and he was killed during the war
of Napoli di Romania; his service and the sacrifice of his life had
instilled in Piero a strong sense of duty («...leaving in me, his son,
an exemplary record of good service and glorious death for this Il-
lustrious state»), and this led Piero during the last war (Lepanto),
to enter Venetian service. In his desire to serve the State, Piero put
thoughts of family, home and wife aside, wishing only to earn the
gratitude of the Serenissima. Now, forty-three years after his father’s
death and twelve years after his own active service had ended, a
poor Piero was forced to beg for a minor position in a magistracy,
not for himself, but for his four children, or at least in the name of
one of them so that the family could support itself. He ended his
petition by reiterating his faith in the State’s sense of fairness, which
had manifested itself in its gratitude for the blood he and his father
had spilled. Should his request be granted, Piero promised to spend
his remaining days «...exalting this most felicitous republic».* Using
this type of language was intentional, the belief being that the Col-
lege looked more favourably upon those who praised the Republic
and could prove long and continuous service to it. Stamati Corogo-
na di Malvasia (Monemvasia), who for forty years fought for the
Serenissima, recounted his years of service in detail: his duties, his
strengths (he was, by his own admission, a brave horseman), where
he served (Monemvasia, Cerigo and Candia), and with whom (most
recently he had been in the service of the capo dei stratioti Demetri
Chatello). Because Stamati was now «...a poor old and loyal serv-
ant...» he requested a pension of four ducats a month to live out
the remainder of his days.>* Hieronymo Magagnati too used the
example of his father to support his request. He described him as
«...aloyal and devoted servant of the state all his life who ultimately

» asve: Collegio, Risposte di dentro, {z. 7, f. 247, 25 Jan. 1583. «... [Dimo] havendo lasciato a
me suo figliuolo esemplar memoria di ben servire, et gloriosamente morire, per questo II-
lustrissimo Stado ... [io] posponendo ogni pensiero di casa, moglie, figliuoli, e di me stesso
de acquisitarmi la gratia della Serenita Vostra ... accio io povero devotissimo suo servi-
tor senta questa consolatione che il mio sangue resti remunerato dalla Serenita Vostra
restando io in perpetuo obligo di spender il rimanente de’ miei giorni in servitl sua et
pregar di continuo con la mia fameglia il Signor Dio per la esaltatione di questa felicissima
Repubblica alla cui buona gratia humilitamente mi raccomando.»

*¢ «...povero vechio et fidel servitor...» (ibidem, fz. 6, f. 190, 22 Oct. 1577).
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died at the time of the war in Cyprus in the service of this most
Serene Dominion...».”

The language of the petitions was constantly interspersed with
terms such as loyalty, bravery, sacrifice and service, as if somehow
it was necessary to remind the reader again and again of the his-
torical links between supplicant, ancestors and State. This reliance
on repetition, memory and connection often produced the desired
effects. To what extent then, were such sentiments heartfelt and to
what extent were they part of the process of petition-writing? The
flowery language was certainly part of the process. The recollec-
tion of the years of service was also essential because it helped to
establish the supplicant’s credentials and provided justification for
the request. So was exaggeration. Gregorio Cuscutelli might have
emphasized the dire financial condition his family found themselves
in, but he supplied little information about how they managed to
survive from the time they arrived in Venice in 1541 to 1580 when
he put in his petition. That was forty years without (supposedly)
State assistance. Was Gregorio working as an unlicensed broker all
that time? He did not say, but in all probability he was (it was a
tairly common practice). The magistracy that reviewed his submis-
sion must have had some reservations because his supplicha never
got past the first reading. Today this type of writing seems out of
place but that does not mean we should completely dismiss stories
told or feelings expressed as simply as means to an end. To a certain
extent people trusted the State to deliver work, justice and compen-
sation, especially when the State itself called on its people to provide
goods and services. There was an element of truth then in the belief
(an aspect of the Myth of Venice), of a caring State; hence it was in
the supplicant’s best interests to use the myth to his or her advan-
tage and in the authorities” interests to reinforce the myth through
positive action and favourable results. Proclamations of loyalty did
not go unrecognised, and for many they paid dividends. The Greeks
had been asking for favours even before they moved to Venice. They
were prepared to seek satisfaction through the system because they
were part of it, and had been so for such a long time. Otherwise,
they would not have made the effort to recall in detail their histo-

7 «..fidelisssimo et devotissimo servitor...» (ibidem, fz. 7, . 56, 28 July 1581).
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ries of service, of which they were proud, and which mattered in
the eyes of the authorities. A further indication that they were an
integral part of the Venetian world was that they had no hesitations
about petitioning as individuals rather than as a group. Indeed, the
only petitions on behalf of the community were ones dealing with
church and scuola matters. The majority of requests then were con-
cerned with personal, not corporate issues.

The petitions show that Greeks from all socio-economic back-
grounds used the system to satisfy their claims and to ensure that
rewards would, as much as possible, be held in the name of the
family into the next generation. But the relationship between them-
selves and the authorities was not one-sided. If nothing else, the
petitions illustrate how much Venice depended on its subjects. To
construct and man ships. To make clothing and furniture and fix
shoes. To build and maintain roads, fortresses, arsenals and mills,
as well as paint and decorate homes and public buildings. And fi-
nally to produce foodstuffs like oil, grains and cereals, fruits and
vegetables, and transport them throughout the empire and beyond.
At the same time, they are proof that after more than a generation
in Venice, subject people continued to rely on the public purse, li-
cences and public service positions, again reflecting habits and pat-
terns established a long time ago in their homelands. The recogni-
tion of the loyalty and service of this diverse group of people was
the State’s way of acknowledging their permanence. Venice was a
multilingual, multiethnic and multicultural city, a place of immense
wealth and dire poverty. Space was limited and the maintenance of
law and order was a nightmare at the best of times. One of the ways
the city’s patrician rulers could ensure law and order was to give the
popolo a sense of belonging. To the Venetian authorities, the Greek
inhabitants provided many essential services. They had a long and
continuous history of residency. The more recent immigrants ac-
knowledged and accepted Venetian rule. Venice was home to most,
a haven to many, the ‘mother country’ to others. With the estab-
lishment of permanent institutions in the latter fifteenth and early
sixteenth centuries and through the participation in the formal and
informal bodies which constituted Venetian daily life, the Greeks
demonstrated their commitment to the Serenissima and the lutter
responded in kind.
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THE STATE AS BENEFACTOR

Gifts became official when they were entered into the Senate’s calen-
dar. Entries contained the original request followed by the Senate’s
decision as well as the votes for and against granting the award. The
decision also specified how long the individual or family could hold
the gift, and in some cases, the duties expected from the holder and
conditions under which the gift was allocated. The most common
length was for the lifetime of the recipient. In many instances this was
extended to include children and other close family members, but
only if the original holders had satisfactorily performed their duties.
In this way, awards often became family sinecures, passing from one
generation to the next. The Eugenico family arrived in Venice in 1470,
immediately after the fall of their native Negroponte. In 1472 Manoli
Eugenico received a licence from the Salt Office which allowed him
to sell a fixed amount of salt. After his death in 1492, this licence was
extended to his widow and two sons, Demetri and Zuane, and after
their mother’s death the brothers inherited her portion. In 1531 and
again in 1535 the Senate reaffirmed Demetri and Zuane’s right to the li-
cence and increased the amount of salt they traded. At some stage the
licence became a hereditary pension because in his 1549 will Demetri
Eugenico left his half to his children Nicoleto and Agnesina.*® At least
three generations of the Litino family were gastaldi of the Fondaco
dei Turchi and, as we saw earlier, Caterina Cathario’s grandchildren
retained the family post as guardiani of the Ghetto.*

8 Ibidem: Senato, Terra, reg. 28, f. 1401, 4 June 1535: «Fu concessa per questo Conseglio
del 1485 a 15 Marzo al fidel, et benemerito dal stato nostro Il q. Manoli Eugenico de’ primarii
citadini de” Negroponte et dapoi un firmata per ditto Conseglio dal 1492 a 19 Fevrer alla
moglie et figlioli dal detto q. Manoli in vita loro per la fede, et meriti sui verso il stato nostro,
provisione de mozetti 3 de 5 all'anno alla Camera de Corphu, la qual provisione li continuo
fino al 1499... Volendo poi la Signoria nostra servirse de” detti sali da Corphu fu adi 7 Agosto
1531... L'andera parte, che per auttorita de questo Conseglio, remanendo ferma et valida la
sopraditta deliberation fatta nel Collegio nostro del Sal nelli 7 Agosto 1531 sia de cetero in
loco de li 500 mozetti de sal, agli hanno li figlioli del anteditto q. Manoli Eugenico dall cam-
era nostra de Corphu datoli in vita sua...». In his will, Demetri Eugenico stated: «Item voio
che Nicoleto et Agnesina mei fioli habiano et havere debiano quella parte et portion della
pinsion che si scode al officio del sal, como appare per lo accordo fatto tra mi et Zuane mio
fratello». The will is ibidem: Notarile, Testamenti, Agostino Pellestrina, b. 768, 125, 1st May
1549. Recepients did not have to do any work to earn a pension.

* For the Litino family and the Fondaco dei Turchi see E. C. BURKE, Francesco di Demetri
Litino, the Inquisition and the Fondaco dei Turchi, « Thesaurismata», 36, 2006, pp. 79-96.
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In some cases however, the awarding magistracy designated how
monies had to be used. When the Senate provided for the widow and
children of the late capo dei stratioti Manoli Clada, it specified how the
money was to be distributed. The younger sons, Nicolo and Thoda-
ro got their father’s salary (forty-eight ducats a year) and the girls,
Marulla, Regina and Anzola received fifty-six ducats towards living
expenses and their dowries. Clada’s oldest son Piero was awarded his
own command and a salary of thirty-two ducats a year. The widow
did not receive anything in this instance, the assumption being that
she would be looked after by her sons.* The military class were, not
surprisingly, very successful petitioners. Their requests were seldom
rejected unless they were too outlandish. As long as they were reason-
able though, officers and enlisted men had a very good chance of get-
ting what they wanted. In any case, it would have been pretty hard for
the State to turn down the men who risked their lives in its defence.
This favourable attitude included not only soldiers, but their fami-
lies as well. The Clada award is but one example. After the capo dei
stratioti Michali Rali was murdered in Venice in June 1517, his mother
Theodora applied for a pension for herself, her daughter Chiara and
Michali’s two children. According to Sanuto there was no need for a
ballot as the family had a well established reputation.*

No other source better illustrates the State as benefactor than the
gifts handed out to men and women from Napoli di Romania and
Monemvasia. These awards were not based on need; they were meant
to compensate people for losses incurred when they abandoned the
two cities in 1541. Between February 1547 and June 1548 alone, the

% asve: Senato, Mar, reg. 21, f. 164r-v, 15 Dec. 1529: «L'andera parte che de la provisone,
havea el dicto q. Domino Manoli Clada, qual era de ducati xx11 per paga siano dati alli doi fig-
lioli mascoli viz. Nicolo et Theodoro, Marulla, Regina et Anzola figliole femine per sustenta-
tione loro, et maridar de li figliole ducati 14 per paga a page quatro all'anno da esserli pagata
de la Camera de Candia deli danari deputati al pagamento de simili provisionati. A Piero
veramente figliol mazor resti la compagnia cum ducati 8 di provision per paga dommander
el servira in queste parte & page octo all'anno, et quando landera in levade cum licitia de la
Signoria Nostra habia solamente page quatro all’anno da la predicta Camera de Candia».

3" SANUTO, XX1V, 432 «Fu poi leto una suplichation di la mare, sorela e due fioli di Michali
Rali, capo di stratioti, fo morto in questa terra da albanesi, stratioti etc., havia provision
ducati 25 per soi meriti. Posto darli ducati 8 a la camera di Padoa in vita loro etc. Et non fo
compita de balotar, per certo garbujo posto».

% The preface to one entry of gifts reads: «Essendo sta preso per il Senato Vostro alli
16 Marzo 1543 di concieder alli fidelissimi nostri da Napoli di Romania, et Malvassia per
premiarli delli loro meriti, et recompensarli delli beni che hanno abbandonato in esse
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Senate distributed thousands of ducats worth of pensions, positions
in the civil and military service, licences, land and compensation to
this select group of eighty-seven individuals representing thirty-eight
families. The greater number of concessions went to Naupliots; there
were only four recipients from Monemvasia, which was a very small
city in comparison to Napoli di Romania. The spread among wealthy,
middle class and working class recipients was fairly even. In most
families between one and three people shared an award. Elite families
were very well represented, two more so than others: six branches
of the Mormori (twelve people) and three of the Cuvli (ten people)
received awards. Between two and three members from other well-
known Naupliot families like the Cavopenna, Calauro, Sumachi and
Agiopanditi also received gifts.* However well connected the elites
might have been though, the State attempted to address the needs
of as many people as possible. The office or committee in charge of
distributing gifts was the Cinque Savii sopra Napolitani et Malvasiotti
(people from Monemuvasia). Its purpose was to keep records of
requests made and gifts distributed. As well there was a section or
agency dedicated to Naupliots and Monemvasians in the Rason Vecchie,
one of the two State taxation and financial magistracies. This was
called the Officio delle Rason Vecchie sopra Napolitani et Malvassioti and it
may have been responsible for the computing of fees and monies paid
to recipients in the 1547-1548 lists.* None of the awards were handed
out lightly; petitioners’ claims were closely examined and, as we shall
see, the Senate did not hesitate to rescind favours based on fraudulent
claims. Both offices were still active in the second half of the century,
although they handled very few new requests by then. Most of the
ones they addressed were submitted by those refugees from the

cite...» (asve: Senato, Mar, reg. 29, f. 139v). These 1547-1548 gifts were only one of many
meted out to Naupliots and Monemvasians from 1542 onwards.

% The gifts are in ibidem, ff. 41v-42r, 105v-1067, 139v-1407, 1557, 167v-1687, 177v-180T.

3 The committee went under several similar names. It was also called the Cinque Claris-
simi Nobili sopra Napolitani et Malvasiotti, Cinque Savii sopra Le Espeditore de Napolitani et
Malvasiotti and Cinque Nobili sopra Napolitani et Malvasiotti. There is a strong possibility that
the committee and the agency were one and the same or two parts of one section within
the taxation magistracy. There are no specific references to these committees in either da
Mosto or the guide to the Venetian State Archives, but descriptions of the work of both
offices can be gleaned from the accounts of recipients and from information about the
function of the Rason Vecchie (A. pa Mosto, L’Archivio di Stato di Venegia, Roma, Biblioteca
d’arte, 1937, pp. 139-140).
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Cyprus war whose original homelands were either Napoli di Romania
or Monemvasia. For example, Speranza Paleologo and Elena Manessi
based their claims on their families” original homeland, Napoli di
Romania and precedence, that is, the State awards of the 1540s. At
the end of the century the two offices were mainly reviewing gifts
claimed by the children, grandchildren, and close kin of the original
recipients. By then most gifts had become family sinecures and would
remain so into the seventeenth century.

It was not normal for the State to be so open-handed with its sub-
ject people. There is, for example, no similar show of generosity dis-
played towards Cypriots thirty years later, or with earlier refugees in
the late fifteenth and early sixteenth centuries, the people from Mo-
don, Coron, Negroponte and Lepanto. One reason was that fewer
people from the latter cities and islands migrated en masse to Venice.
Many of the Negropontians and Modonites who survived the de-
struction of their homes in 1470 and 1500 fled to the other Greek-
speaking Venetian colonies. Because Coron surrendered without a
fight (it was said the inhabitants looked across the bay and saw the
smoke from the burning Modon and decided to cut their losses), the
city and its inhabitants were spared destruction and enslavement,
and many stayed put. Cyprus was different. Most Cypriots lived in
the countryside and tilled the soil and they showed little attachment
to the regime or their own feudal landlords; besides the peasantry
did not normally immigrate to urban centres, especially ones as far
away as Venice.” As well, by the 1570s, when Cyprus was lost, the
Venetian economy was not as strong as it had been in the 1540s as
a result, among other things, of the constant Ottoman wars. These
differences between 1541 and 1571 go some way towards explaining
differing attitudes towards rewarding immigrants, especially refu-

% Kenneth Setton offers a negative of Venetian rule not only in Cyprus but in the sea
Empire as a whole: «The doge and Senate were always advising and instructing, inves-
tigating and commanding their colonial officials, who served for two or three years in
office, returned home, and were usually sent elsewhere. They rarely stayed in one place
long enough to acquire an adequate understanding of its needs and resource. From Cy-
prus to Crete, Corfu to Sebenico, Venetian administration was inefficient and wasteful. It
was also corrupt; on the whole it had always been corrupt. As one reads the documents,
it is pleasant to find instances of superior competence, even in a ship’s carpenter.» (K.
SeTTON, The Papacy and the Levant, Philadelphia, American Philosophical Society, 1984, vol.
v, p. 927).
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gees. There are other reasons though. The 1541 war ended in a nego-
tiated settlement; the Ottomans gave the Venetians and any locals
who wished, the time to gather up records, documents, personal
belongings, relics and even church bells before departing from Na-
poli di Romania and Monemvasia. Once in Venice people received
compensation for personal losses.** Cyprus was a long and costly
war resulting in great destruction and total capitulation. The Otto-
mans enslaved thousands of men, women and children. The State,
the Church and private individuals stepped in to help families ran-
som loved ones; for example, to expedite matters the Senate on 10
March 1571 set aside 1,000 ducats for the ransom of Cypriots enslaved
after the fall of Nicosia.” People’s stories contained vivid accounts
of enslavement and redemption, often at the hands of private indi-
viduals. Filippo Emanuel spent two years in Constantinople before
he was ransomed for 100 ducats by a merchant named Marco Anto-
nio Stringha; Alvise Rosso, wounded during the battle for Nicosia
was nevertheless enslaved and taken to Constantinople where he re-
mained for eight years before being freed by good Christians (buoni
Christiani); Speranza Paleologo and her daughter won their freedom
because a merchant, Antonio Armeso of Malvassia paid their cap-
tor.® A group of Cypriot sailors was liberated at Lepanto when the
victorious Christian forces found them working as galley slaves on

% Marianna Kolyva and Erriko Moatsou followed some branches of Naupliot families
to Crete after 1541. Families with branches in Venice and Crete included the Mormori,
Lefcaro, Sagomala, Malaxos, de’ Medici and Nassin. As well there were large numbers
of capi dei stratioti clans as well as soldiers with their families. The officer class had fam-
ily and kin in Venice, the Terraferma, Dalmatia and other parts of the sea empire; these
included the Paleologi, Nassin, Masarachi, Chatello, Spilioti and the Vurci (Burci) clans. M.
Koryva, E. Moatsou, Apokatastasi Nauplioton kai Monemvasioton Prosfigon stin Kriti to 1548
[The Re-Establishment of Naupliot and Monemvasian Refugees in Crete in 1548], «Byzantinisch-
Neugriechische Jahrbucher», 1983, pp. 375-453. The movement of these families between
Crete and Venice was constant. The names listed above, as well as those of non-military
families who made Crete their main residence appeared regularly and over long periods on
the membership registers of the scuola di S. Nicolo dei Greci.

7 asve: Senato, Mar, reg. 40, f. 51, 10 Mar. 1571: «...il Senato ... a dare in elimosina ad essi
miserabili schiavi sino alla summa de ducati mille delli danari della Signoria Nostra...».
For the role of the Roman church in securing the freedom of those enslaved after the fall
of Cyprus see R. D COLLENBERG, Litterae Hortatoriae accordées par les papes, « Epetiris», X1,
1981-1982, pp. 13-167.

% asve: Collegio, Risposte di dentro, fz. 5, f. 200, 29 Sept. 1573 (Emanuel); fz. 9, f. 247, 29 Jan.
1590 (Rosso); fz. 5, f. 288, 21 Oct. 1574 (Paleologo).
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Ottoman ships.* After 1541 the State chose to compensate Naupliots
and Monemvasians. In the case of Cyprus, it chose to liberate rather
than compensate. That is not to say that few Cypriots immigrated
before the war. The number of arrivals was low but steady in the
first half of the century and then increased markedly immediately
before and after 1570-1571. Napoli di Romania and Monemvasia were
completely different, registering an incredibly low number of im-
migrants before 1540 followed by a surge in 1541 and barely a trickle
after that. Such immigration patterns are reflected in the member-
ship rolls of the Greek scuola.

The question remains: was the State unusually generous to Nau-
pliots and Monemvasians, and if so, why? The answer to the first
part of the question is «yes»; after that it gets complicated. There
were genuinely difficult cases, people who authorities believed de-
served a helping hand to get established or to make their lives a little
bit comfortable. Naturally this was so with many other immigrants,
locals, foreigners and subject people. What distinguished Naupliots
and Monemvasians was the breadth of the gifts and the nature of the
relationship between themselves and Venetians. Diana Wright and
Monique O’ Connell have highlighted how often colonial administra-
tors in the sea Empire depended on the cooperation of locals who
acted as interpreters, go-betweens, and secretaries. Most governors’
terms were for two, sometimes three years, whereas their assistants
came from the local area. These men knew more about the territory
than Venetian officials, and in Napoli di Romania and Monemvasia
there was much to be done. Monemvasia’s location meant it was one
of the most strategically important towns of the sea Empire. Napoli
di Romania was less so until the loss of Negroponte in 1470 when it
became «the most important land of our state in the Levant».* Local
demands often clashed with Ottoman wishes, and some of the gover-
nor’s most pressing duties included maintaining good relations with
the Ottomans while placating local people, especially the stratioti. For
the military class was both a blessing and a curse; stratioti defended
the Republic’s sea territories but they were also capable of stirring up
trouble.* These Greek and Albanian clans lived in and around Napoli

% Ibidem, fz. 5, f. 263, 5 May 1574. 4 Ibidem: Senato, Mar, reg. 10, f. 19v.
# The Klada uprising of 1480 seriously threatened the peace between the Ottomans and
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di Romania and Monemvasia; in fact the two cities supplied the bulk
of the stratioti and capi regiments. The thought of thousands of un-
happy or dissatisfied armed commanders and men must have kept a
Venetian administrator awake at night. Consequently, the State treat-
ed them, their families and by extension their (non-military) compa-
triots favourably. But loyalty was a two-way street and when Venice
left the Morea in 1541 very few military men transferred their alle-
giance to the sultan, choosing instead to uproot their families and go
wherever Venice sent them. The situation in the Morea then was dif-
ferent from other territories. Finally, the one-off arrival in the Lagoon
of a huge number of dispossessed people presented a problem for the
authorities. The issue of law and order was always paramount in the
minds of the ruling class, and one way of insuring civic peace was to
provide work for as many people as quickly as possible. This included
posting men and women to territories outside the city and station-
ing stratioti in the remaining sea territories; awards as gifts from a
grateful State. With a little imagination these were transformed into
symbols of the unbroken bonds between a benevolent Republic and
its people.

The State also bestowed knighthoods and other privileges (privilegi)
in recognition of deeds beneficial to the Republic. There were sev-
eral ranks of privilege, ranging from lower honours (equestris digni-
tatis and privilegium comitatum) to the highest award, the knighthood
of St. Mark (Cavalieri di San Marco).* These honours were given to
men who had excelled in their profession. Greek recipients included
mainly capi dei stratioti and men of letters. Costantino Paleocapa, a
scholar and teacher of Greek received his award in 1573 in recognition
of his scholarship.# Andrea Londano worked mainly as a dealer in
manuscripts, printed books and artwork, and taught Greek as well.

the Venetians. It required a quick response and shrewd diplomacy on the part of the Vene-
tian governor at Napoli di Romania to avoid drawing the Ottomans into a war against the
Venetians. The uprising, its causes and consequences is in D. GILLILAND WRIGHT, Bar-
tolomeo Minio: Venetian Administration in 15th-Century Nauplion, Ph.D. Dissertation, Wash-
ington pc, The Catholic University of America, 1999, pp. 139-169, and EApEMm, The Kladas
Affair and Diplomatic Relations: 1480-1485 (forthcoming publication).

4 The order of Cavalieri di San Marco was the highest award that the Republic reserved
for its own and subject people.
# asve: Senato, Privilegi, reg. 111, f. 187, 10 Dec. 1573.
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Demetrio Paleologo di Teodoro became a Knight of St. Mark in May
1554 in recognition of his years of service as a commander of stra-
tioti.* Other military men received knighthoods following decisive
victories in wartime. Zorzi Renessi received his in 1571, Zuan Lascari
in 1574 and Nicolo Lusi in 1593.% Renessi became a Knight of St. Mark
for the valour he displayed in the recent war against the Turks in Dal-
matia; Lascari received the lesser title of equestris dignitatis for bravery
in the same war and Lusi was commended for his efforts in success-
fully expelling pirates that had been threatening Cephalonia. Knight-
hood conferred certain privileges. At their investiture, the knights of
St. Mark wore special ornamental clothing, gold belts or sashes and
stockings, shoes and spurs. They were allowed to carry swords and
other weapons as a sign of their rank.** The awards were only open
to men, although women could and did use the feminine form of the
title (cavaliera) to announce their husbands’ status and their own elite
station.*

Venice might have been a generous State but at no time was its mu-
nificence a given. Decisions were based on a close examination of the
authenticity and merits of petitioners” claims. This process was time
consuming and thorough which explains why decision-making was
slow and most requests were rejected. Nevertheless, some claimants
managed — for a while at least — to fool the authorities. Petitioners
who lied or were not completely forthcoming about their circum-
stances had their awards amended or rescinded. Two cases illustrate
how authorities handled fraudulent claims. In February 1548 Petrisa
Mascarogni, a widow from Napoli di Romania was among the recipi-

4 Ibidem: Cancelleria Inferiore, Privilegi dei Cavalieri di San Marco, fz. 174, f. 5, 21 May
1554.

# Ibidem, fz. 174, f. 28, 15 Jan. 1571, and Senato, Privilegi, reg. 111, f. 11, 15 Jan. 1571 (Zorzi Re-
nessi); ff. 18v-197, 10 Apr. 1574 (Zuan Lascari) and f. 61v, 12 Sept. 1593 (Nicolo Lusi).

4 «...et gli havemo conceduto auttorita di portare la cintura, la spada, I'armi, li spironi,
le veste, et tutti gl'altri ornamenti militari, et di goder tutti li honori giuridittioni, liberta, et
privilegii, che appartengono alla vera militia, et alla dignita de cavaliero» (from the decree
bestowing a knighthood on Zorzi Renessi: asve: Senato, Privilegi, reg. 111, f. 11, 15 Jan. 1571).

4 The title was used by Isabetta Cuvli, the wife of Andrea Londano. Her family was
among the richest Greek merchant families in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries.
Members of the family referred to Isabetta as «la cavaliera»: ibidem: Notarile, Testamenti,
Federico Figolin, b. 382, 166, 29 Febr. 1599 and 7 Aug. 1607 (the will of Gratiosa Cuvli, Isa-
betta’s sister); ibidem, Giovanni Figolin, b. 440, 257, 27 July 1595 (the will of Cecilia Dolfin,
Isabetta Cuvli’s aunt).
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ents of the Senate’s generosity; she was given a lifetime position in
the Customs House (Dogana da Mar), for herself and her two children
Helena and Nicolo.* In January 1549 the Senate amended the award
because, in the meantime it had learned that Petrisa’s late husband
Zuane had a son, Soteriano, by his first wife. Petrisa’s petition said
nothing about a stepson. Soteriano did not contest his step-mother’s
claim because he wasnotin Venice at the time. The Senate also learned
(we do not know how, they did not say) that Helena was not Zuane’s
child but Petrisa’s daughter by another man and that she was born in
Corfu, not in Napoli di Romania. Soteriano, on the other hand, not
only had two Naupliot parents, he was born in that city. Consequent-
ly, Soteriano replaced Helena as one of the three recipients of the gift.
The Senate chose to amend the gift in favour of Soteriano not only
because he was his father’s legitimate son but also because Petrisa
had based her claim on her late husband’s long service on the galleys.
This meant that any children born of Zuane were entitled to a share
of the award. The issue of Helena’s birthplace was significant, as well
as the fact that she was illegitimate and her father was not a Naupliot.
Therefore, she could not qualify for a gift. The Senate did not deny
Petrisa and Nicolo their due, but instead amended the award in favour
of Zuane’s first born son. Poor Helena. Her illegitimacy and Corfiot
birthplace had cost her. Yet her mother was not punished for submit-
ting fraudulent claims; perhaps the omission of Helena and public
humiliation as a result of her deception was enough punishment.*
The second case also involved a Naupliot. In July 1542 Michali Psara
won a position in the Customs House. The concession was in his
name only, but upon his death it would pass to Alexandro, his son by

# Ibidem: Senato, Mar, reg. 29, f. 427, 11 Febr. 1546 m.v.: «A Petrissa Mascarogni sia con-
cesso in vita soa, et di Nicolo et Helena sui figlioli, il luogo di capitaneo delle barche dalla
Dohana da Mar vacato per la morte de Marco di Michiele».

4 Ibidem, f. 147v, 31 Jan. 1548 m.v.: «Et perche sotto di x1 Febraro passato fo con questo
Consilio concesso a Petrisa Mascarogni da Napoli per li meriti, et beni soi, et del q. Zuane
suo marito, et a Nicolo, et Helena soi figlioli il luogo di capetanio delle barche della Do-
hana da Mar, nella qual concessione non fo fatta mentione alcuna di Soteriano Mascarogni
figliolo primogenito del prescritto q. Zuane con la prima moglie, per esser stato detto So-
teriano all’hora absente, et essendo la prescritta Helena nata di un’altro padre a Corfu, et
non a Napoli la qual per cio non puol conseguir alcun beneficio... La disposition delli parti,
et ordini nostri pero sia preso che in loco della detta Helena, la qual s’interdi esser esclusa,
sia posto in ditta concessione il soprascritto Soteriano, il qual habbia a participar per terzo
in detto officio con Petrisa et Nicolo soprascritti».
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his first wife Violante. In a notarial document dated 18 November 1547
his present wife, Marieta, alleged that Michali received his award by
presenting an estimate of his wealth based on his own and Marieta’s
properties in Napoli di Romania. But since neither Michali nor Ale-
xandro were present at the siege of the city, whereas Marieta was, she
telt it only fair that Zorzi, hers and Michali’s son should be entitled
to a portion of the concession after Michali’s death. The situation
must have created considerable tension within the Naupliot commu-
nity because two well-respected men, Canachi Cuvli and Marco Ca-
lauro, were asked to mediate and witness the division of the award
into three parts: one third to Marieta and one third each to Zorzi
and Alexandro.* Unfortunately, Psara’s troubles did not stop there
because five months later this arrangement was overturned when the
authorities learned that Alexandro was not Michali’s legitimate son.
The poor lad was excluded from the award altogether, which now
went to Marieta and Zorzi after Michali’s death.” The Mascarogni
and Psara cases illustrate several key issues, among them the futility
of lying, the fragile status of illegitimate children, and the State’s de-
termination to right a wrong in the name of the injured party. More
importantly, they make it clear that awards were not given lightly;
that in fact, the authorities took care to closely examine the hundreds

> Ibidem: Notarile, Atti, Agostino Pellestrina, b. 10642, ff. 263v-264r, 18 Nov. 1547: «...dona
Marieta al presente moiere del ditto ser Michali ... lei essersi ritrovata con ditto suo figlio
nello assedio de Napoli et che ditto suo marito fece fare la stima deli beni proprii di essa
dona Marieta et parte deli beni de lui ser Michali, et con quella stima hebbe il preditto of-
ficio che fu messo in nome de lui ser Michali et del dito Alexandro suo fiol, quali non si
trovarno nello assedio predicto ... messer Marco [Calauro] et messer Canachi [Cuvli] aldite
le parte con il consenso et presentia sua hano terminado in questo modo, che tuta la utilita
del officio sopraditto de fante alla Dohana, sia et essere debia divisa et partita in tre parte
equale una dele qual sia dela preditta dona Marieta, e Ialtra del preditto Zorzi suo fiolo, et
Ialtra sia de lui Alexandro fiolo del ditto Michali, et dela q. dona Violante...».

5t Ibidem: Senato, Mar, reg. 29, f. 167v, 20 Apr. 1548 «Et perché I'anno 1542 a 25 di Luglio
fo concesso a Michali Psara da Napoli di Romania uno luogo di fante alla Dohana da Mar
in vita soa, et di suo figliolo Alessandro, il qual per la informatione havuta per li Cinque
Nobili Nostri non ¢ suo figliolo legitimo, ma naturale, havendo esso Michali nominato
questo, et non Zorzi che ¢ suo figliolo legitimo nato di Marieta Andronicipulo, pero sia
preso, et dechiarito, che in luogo del detto Alexandro, il qual debba esser excluso, sia posto
esso Zorzi, et detta Marieta sua madre, la quale etiam ha lassati beni a Napoli di Romania,
nel qual officio la detta madre, et figliolo debbano succeder dopo la morte del prenomi-
nato Michali...». Zorzi Psara kept the gift, and worked as a fante in the Customs House.
Presumably would have inherited his mother’s portion. Forty years later he asked for an
increase in his wages: ibidem: Collegio, Risposte di dentro, fz. 8, f. 353, 12 July 1588.



IMMIGRATION AND IDENTITY IN EARLY MODERN VENICE 153

of requests for assistance they regularly received. Furthermore, they
would not hesitate to withdraw gifts won through cheating and lies.
The message was clear: the State knew how to detect and punish dis-
honesty.

CONCLUSION

People used all sorts of devices to secure awards. In truth, only a
fool would have submitted a request which did not, in some small
way extol the Republic. Conversely the State would have deemed it
thoughtless not to praise the supplicant when delivering its decision;
in fact, I wonder how Venice, or any other place would have reacted
to the emotion-free bureaucratic jargon which mars and confuses
so many official proclamations today. Petitions and gifts should not
be interpreted solely as expressions of ‘warm feelings’ between
the supplicant and the State, but instead should be seen in the con-
text of people’s needs and the State’s willingness (or not), to meet
these. The most significant factor to emerge from this study is the
relationship of mutual dependency between supplicant and State.
Both sides used a language that deflected from this reality and put
the relationship on a higher, more idealized plane. Hence the use
of expressions laced with words like «sad», «unfortunate», «loyal,
«faithful», «brave» (the Greeks) and «glorious», «wise», «fair», «most
Christian», and of course «serene» when speaking of Venice. These
terms were also widely used in reference to people’s homelands.
For Vicenzo Argitti, Napoli di Romania used to be «...my dear and
sweet homeland...», while Gregorio Cuscutelli, Argitti’s compatriot
described life under the Venetians as «...living under the shade of
Your Serenity».> Stamati Corogona called Monemvasia, now under
Ottoman control «...my unhappy city and homeland...».” For Dimo
Politi da Corfu, Venice was «...a most regal and Christian Repub-
lic...», which he and his two brothers served and spilled blood in
order to «...maintain and exalt the faith in Christ and to sustain the

** Argitti: «...mia cara et dolce patria...»; Cuscutelli: «Fu del 1404 all'hora che gl’habitanti
di Napoli di Romania vivevano sotto 'ombra della Serenita Vostra...» (see asve: Collegio,
Risposte di dentro, fz. 1, f. 28, 7 Febr. 1563 (Argitti) and fz. 6, f. 352, 12 Aug. 1580 (Cus-
cutelli).

% asve: Collegio, Risposte di dentro, fz. 1, f. 28, 7 Febr. 1563 (Argitti) and Corogona («...mia
infelice citta et patria ...»), fz. 2, f. 85, 11 Oct. 1566.
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greatness of this most Catholic Republic».* Similar expressions and
sentiments are the centrepiece of the introduction to the mariegola
of the scuola di S. Nicolo dei Greci: «[We] the Greeks are at all times
good subjects, and loyal servants of this Most Holy State, and are
exercised at every opportunity to the needs of Your Serenity, so on
land as on the sea».” At some point this form of expression seeped
into personal usage, illustrating perhaps that these were not merely
sentiments bandied about as a means to a practical end, but that
for many they signified an indelible link between themselves, their
patrie and their new home. In this Greeks were expressing feelings
common to all immigrant communities: a nostalgia and love for the
homeland and an affection for the new place of settlement. Howev-
er, unlike their compatriots who chose to immigrate, refugees could
not (or did not want to) return to their homelands because they
were no longer Venetian. The final account neatly captures what it
meant to be a Greek in a Venetian context.

On 24 April 1544 the Greek merchant Zuane Carvuri visited his fa-
vourite notary, Agostino Pellestrina, and instructed him to prepare his
will. At that stage Carvuri had been in Venice for nearly twenty years.
Along with his family, siblings and in-laws, he had seen the writing on
the wall for his homeland, Napoli di Romania and left early. Despite
his many years in the city, Carvuri had not completely severed his
ties with his patria; he retained patronage rights to a small church,
San Salvador, which he intended to pass to his four children and in-
structed them to look after its upkeep: «And because I have at Napoli
di Romania the small church of San Salvadore over which I have ius
patronato, I recommend it to my children who ought to maintain it
with charity...». And then he added: «...if the city of Napoli [di Ro-

mania] should ever come into the hand of Christians, I leave to this

> asve: Collegio, Risposte di dentro, fz. 6, f. 263, 2 Jan. 1577: «...di questa egalatissima et
Christianissima Republica ... et sparzendo il sangue con doi miei poveri fratelli ... per man-
tenir et essaltar la fede di Christo, et sustender la grandezza di questa Chatolichissima
Republica...».

% Archivio Antico dell'Istituto Ellenico di Venezia: Mariegola Vecchia, reg. 219, f. 27: «...i
Greci siamo in ogni tempo stadi boni, et fidelissimi servitori de questo Sanctissimo Sta-
do, et exercitadi in ogni opportunita ai bisogni della Serenita Vostra, si da terra, come da
mare...». The mariegole were leather bound books that contained a scuola’s records of elec-
tions, decisions of its executive council and catasto. These books were kept by every scuola.
Officials had to submit them to the officers of the Provveditori di Comune and the Giustigia
Vecchia. It was the State’s way of keeping scuole under supervision.
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said church two bells which are being held by messer Nicolo Peleca-
pa...».”® There is no doubt to which Christian hand Carvuri wished
to see his homeland returned. Like his parents and grandparents be-
fore him, Carvuri and many others knew and identified with only one
Christian political authority, and that was Venetian.

Gifts cemented the bond between the individual and the State.
Since the maintenance of law and order was of paramount impor-
tance, one way of achieving this was to ensure that as many people
as possible, especially newly arrived immigrants, were gainfully em-
ployed. The intervention of the authorities probably eased commu-
nity tensions created by the constant arrival of new people, so in that
sense, by granting favours the State placed itself above community.
In people’s minds it became the source of justice, dispute resolution
and employment. In truth, the Greek community could not have suc-
cessfully absorbed large numbers of immigrants or helped them in
finding a job or offered them compensation because it had neither the
financial resources nor the infrastructure to do so. By assuming the
responsibility for looking after its subjects, Venice helped sway the
immigrant’s loyalty towards herself.

*¢ asve: Notarile, Testamenti, Agostino Pellestrina, b. 768, 199, 24 Apr. 1544: «Et perche lo

havea a Napoli di Romania una giesiola de S. Salvadore de laqual Io ne havea ius patrona-
tus Jo la aricomando ali mei fioli liquali la debino subvenire de qualche helemosina ad hon-
ore de Dio. Et se venisse mai la citta de Napoli in mano de Christiani Io lasso alla predita
giesia [S. Salvador] due campane lequal sono in man de messer Nicolo Pelecapa...».



THE KLADAS AFFAIR
AND DIPLOMATIC RELATIONS
(1480-1485)*

Diana GILLILAND WRIGHT

AFTER a Greek kapetanios with a Venetian flag began a private war
against the Turks in late 1480, there ensued five years of diplo-
matic efforts between the Porte and the Signoria to settle the affair
and manage its subsequent effects in the Morea. A striking, though
uneven, diplomatic record survives in formal documents, letters and
a chronicle which provide extensive evidence for the mutual liking
and even friendship between the Venetians and Turks involved who
negotiated between and across levels of rank to deal with an issue on
which they were agreed.

On 9 October 1480, the Greek kapetanios Krokodélos Kladas led a band
of at least a hundred and fifty horsemen from Koroni in a private war
against the Turks in Mani." Again, on 15 December, Thodoros Bua

* This paper is derived the first chapter of my forthcoming book The Knight and Death:
The Kladas Affair and the 15th-Century Morea. Some of the original research was done on
grants from the Gladys Krieble Delmas Foundation in 1998 and 2003, and subsequent re-
search to an NEH Fellowship to the American School of Classical Studies at Athens for
2008-2009.

! The spelling of Krokodeélos varies widely in Greek texts: Venetian spellings have even
more variation. I use the spelling in an inscription commemorating a fourteenth-century
Krokodelos — possibly his great-grandfather — donation to a church, in which the name
Kpoxévtn[hoc] occurs alone. The spelling in much of the rest of the inscription is less
than perfect. Published transcriptions of the inscription have been ‘corrected’. See D. Feis-
sel, A. Philippidis-Braat (eds.), Inventaires en vue d’un recueil des inscriptions historiques de
Byzance: 111, Inscriptions du Péloponnése, « Travaux et Mémoires», 9, 1985, pp. 353-354; also
G. StamirEs, ‘H émtypaps toi Kpoxovrirou, Ilehomovvnoiand», 3-4, 1958-1959, pp. 84-
86. A photograph of the inscription is found in N. MoursorouLos, Ao 7y Bulavrevy,
«JIehomovvnoraxndy, 1, 1956, pp. 129-202. For earlier records of the Kladas name see my Dis-
sertation Bartolomeo Minio: Venetian Administration in 15th-Century Nauplion, Washington
pc, The Catholic University of America, 1999, appendix 8. The Byzantine writer Mazaris
made a pun of the name, treating it as «Crocodile» but he was the only one to leave a
record of doing so, and he did so only once. It does not appear in any Venetian material.
Magzaris’ Journey to Hades, Buffalo (NY), 1975, p. 84. Mazaris may well have done so in part
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led thirty horse and more on foot from Nauplion to attack janissaries
at Argos and join Kladas in the south. Local Venetian and Ottoman
authorities cooperated to quell the revolt which soon spun oft groups
of bandits. The Ottoman governors of the Morea and Negroponte
took armies to chase the rebels down. Retribution was severe: towns
were burned, hostages taken.” Bua and Kladas split. In April, Kladas
escaped to Italy, Bua was in chains, large groups of bandits were raid-
ing in the Morea, and the remaining rebels were suing for peace.

THE KLADAS REVOLT

The precipitating event for the revolt was simple. Kladas and his sup-
porters had lost their land in the peace settlement between Venice
and the Ottomans, at the end of the war that had lasted from 1463
through 1478. When Mehmed II came to the Morea in 1460, Kladas
held the family castle of Ag. Giorgios.? Those archons and landhold-
ers who made voluntary submission to Mehmed were assimilated
into the Ottoman system and given new land. Kladas was given the
castle of Vardounia in upper Mani.* Giorgios Sphrantzes explained,
with a painfully bad pun:

After the Emir [Mehmed], as we have said, besieged Leontari and its envi-

because his Kpoxodethog (probably the grandfather of the Kladas here) was paired with an
‘ErheaBolprog, which contains 'swamp.’

* S. Magno, in K. Sathas (ed.), Mvnueia ‘EAApvexiic ‘lotoptac: Documents inédites relatifs
d Uhistoire de la Gréce au moyen dge, Paris, 1880-1890, vol. 6, p. 227 [hereafter Sathas, MaGNoO].
The only sources for the Kladas event are Venetian. Transcriptions of most can be found
in vols. 1 and 6 of Sathas, which can be downloaded at http://tinyurl.com/2c4hébp. The
originals can be read at http://www.archiviodistatovenezia.it/ divenire/home.htm.

* Ag. Giorgios is located south of Karitena, in the line of castles that once marked the
border between the Despotate and the Principality of Achaia. The aquisition of the castle
is told in the French version of the Chronicle of the Morea (although not in the Greek):
J. Longnon (ed.), Chronique de Morée: Livre de la conqueste de la princée de ’Amorée, 1204-1305,
Paris, 1949, §§ 803-817, passim, in reference to an event in 1295, where the name first appears
as Corcondille. The Kladas genealogy at this point is unsure. The Livre d’or seems not to
know of him or this incident. Livre d’or de la noblesse ionienne, vol. 2, Céphalonie, Athens,
1926, premiére partie, pp. 153-154.

4 An account of Mani history which does a remarkable job of ignoring evidence: D.
RoGaN, Mani: History and Monuments, Athens, 1973, p. 30 gives this unsourced version: «...
the sultan was too occupied with subjugating other parts of Greece to pay much attention
to Mani. He only attempted to bribe Korkodilos Kladas, the chief of the Maniots, with
high honors but Kladas rebuffed all these attempts and remained a committed enemy to
the Turks».
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rons, he also besieged Agios Giorgios. Seeing this, Krokodylos, as his asso-
ciates called him, made submission and handed over to the Emir both the
kastro and his two sons. For them he received a gift of Loi or, rather Eloi,
Eloi, that is, ‘My God, my God, why did you not abandon him, too, being
the instigator behind the aforementioned evils?™

Sphrantzes never identified the aforementioned evils or how Kladas
was the instigator, and one problem in this story is that the Kladas
sons of this chapter had not yet been born, making it difficult for ei-
ther to have been a hostage in 1460. If the person receiving the castle
had been his father, Theodoros Kladas, Krokodélos would have been
close to thirty years old: Mehmed’s hostages tended to be young, be-
tween the ages of seven and twenty.®

However, this is significant information as Kladas is the only Greek
archon named in any contemporary source as receiving lands from
Mehmed in 1460. There is an Ottoman cadaster from this period of
which only a small part survives — primarily for Elis, Patras, Mouchli,
and Kalavrita — which gives the names of sixty-two timariots. Of these,
only six timariots appear to be Greeks, and they have the smallest ti-
mars — one or two villages which sometimes two of them share. The
vast majority of timariots are Turks, with a very few Albanians, and
one who may be Russian.” The Kladas timar is exceptional if looked
at in the context of the Ottoman landholding for which information
does survive. On the other hand, it was awarded at the very end of

> Sphrantzes is recalling the cry of Jesus on the cross in Mark 15.34: éhat Aol Aepa
caBaydavt, which is conventionally translated as, «My God, my God, why have you
abandoned me?». This is the only written mention of Kladas by a Greek: G. PHRANTZES,
Memorii, 1401-1477. In anexa Pseudo-Phrantges: Macarie Melissenos, Cronica, 1258-1481, ed. by
V. Grecu, Bucharest, 1966, XL, 9: Tob obv Qunod, o¢ dednhidxapev, Sovhdcavtos T6
AcovtdpL ol T mepl adté, Edobhwoey Ett 8¢ xal tov “Ayrov I'edoyrov. Tadta yap
1d6vtoc tob Kpoxovtdhou elmelv olxetbrepov, mpocexdvnoe xal adTdE TOV Gunody
%ol TO ®AGTEov xal Tovg dVo ulodg adTol abtd dédwxev. Adtog 8¢ FAafe ydptv
Tovtov ol Awl, 7 pudihov tob EAwl &Awl, ToutéoTt, deé pou, Ve pov, lva TL Y
%ol a)TOV TCROEYKATENTIEG, TAY TEOAEYIEVTOV KARBY TEWTERYATNY.

¢ PHRANTZES, xxxvI11, 3 tells of Mehmed taking his 14-year old son. Ducas tells of Me-
hmed taking the Notaras sons: Ducas, Historia Turco-Bygantina (1341-1462), ed. by V. Grecu,
Bucharest, 1958, XL, 6. Theodoros Kladas apparently had five sons, so possibly the hostages
—if there were hostages — were the younger ones.

7 'This cadaster, identified as T'T.d.10, has been most recently studied by G. Liakorou-
Los, A Study of the Early Ottoman Peloponnese in the Light of an Annotated editio princeps
of the TT10-1/14662 Ottoman Taxation Cadastre (ca. 1460-1463), Ph.D. Dissertation, London,
Royal Holloway, University of London, 2008, in press, [names of timariots, pp. 289-291].
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Mehmed’s travels in the Morea and he may have marked the conclu-
sion of his successes with a grand gesture.

The Kladas lands of 1460 extended from the plain of Elos on the
coast of the gulf south of Sparta, west to the mountains where the
castle of Vardounia controlled the central pass® — the Zygos, or the
yoke connecting the eastern and western sides.” Mehmed seems to
have given Kladas a title, as in the letter he wrote to Venice protest-
ing the raid, he identified Kladas as «re’is» («<head») of the Zygos.*
The name is then invisible in the records for the five years after the
collapse of the Despotate until the brothers appear in 1465 in Vene-
tian service, leading stratioti in the war against the Ottomans. By that
time, two brothers had already been killed.™

Although fighting began in August 1463 with the Ottoman capture
of Argos and subsequent attack on the Venetian army at the Isthmus
of Corinth, Venice did not formally declare war until 28 July 1464,
as part of a joint crusade effort with the papacy and Hungary. Con-
dottiere Sigismondo Malatesta was appointed to lead the army which
sailed in mid-August from Ancona. Plague came to the Morea in the
Italian ships and within six months, more than two-thirds of the allied
army was dead, and Malatesta was reported as having died. Most of
the territory taken by Venice before the arrival of the army had been
lost. With the deaths of several thousand Italians, it became increas-

® Itis significant that it was Sphrantzes who recorded this information, because he had a
personal interest in the territory. In 1428, Constantine Palaiologos had received this partic-
ular landholding from his brother, despot Theodoros II who held it as guardian for the in-
fant Nikolaos, son of the late protostrator Nikephoros Melissenos. The current protostrator,
Leon Phrangopoulos was Theodoros’” governor for the territory. Constantine appointed
Sphrantzes as his governor, and after Sphrantzes” daughter Tamar was born in 1441, she
was betrothed to young Nikolaos Melissenos, the heir to Elos: PHRANTZES, XVI, 7 € XXIV, 8;
D. ZAKYTHINOS, Le despotat grec de Morée, Paris, 1932, vol. 1, p. 206.

° J. Barbarigo, in SatHas, vol. 6, no. 11, 15 June 1465 reported that Vardounia was in
an area with an abundance of straw and water (<habundante de strame, et aque») and
frequently emphasized the strategic importance of the site [hereafter BARBARIGO]. «The
castle ... is surrounded on three sides of often sheer rock faces of heights varying from 10
to 50 metres» (P. BURRIDGE, The Castle of Vardounia and Defence in the Southern Mani, in P.
Lock, G. SANDERS, The Archeology of Medieval Greece, Oxford, 1996, pp. 19-28: esp. map at p.
24 and cover photograph. He dates the castle before the 15th century, but does not seem to
know the Kladas family or Barbarigo). G. Kapsavis, Bagdodvea xal 6 tovoxofapdovviéreg,
dIeromovvnoranar, 2, 1957, pp. 91-140, and photographs says nothing about the Kladas but
gives the later history of the area.

° asve: Atti diplomatici e privati, b. 45 (Liber Graecus), f. 43v, 1356.

* Ibidem: Senato, Mar, reg. 8, ff. 46v, 50v. SaTHAS, vOl. 5, Pp. 31, 33.



THE KLADAS AFFAIR AND DIPLOMATIC RELATIONS 161

ingly necessary for Venice to hire Greek and Albanian kapetanioi with
their bands to do the fighting. As provveditore, Jacopo Barbarigo, early
discovered, «isti paesani sint potentiores gentibus Italicis», and shortly
afterwards listed Kladas and his brothers among outstanding stratioti
from five families whose employment by the Venetians would attract
Greeks and Albanians currently in Turkish employ.”* A few days after
that, Barbarigo wrote more specifically:

The brave Ser Manoli Kladas and Krokodeélos his brother ... according to the
information I have learned from many leading Italians and Greeks, and from
what I have known in the short time I have been here, are indeed the most
loyal servants of Your Signoria. They have never made excuse of weariness
or of any danger, and they continue to hold the castle of Vordounia, near
Mistra, the key to the Mani. They have lost their relatives in Your Signoria’s
service, and have sustained every labor and loss in your name.*

This was written as an introduction for Krokodélos who was to go to
Venice to petition for payment of back salary. Barbarigo wrote about
the Kladas brothers a number of times and with some admiration, al-
though, as the letters have come to us, he sometimes writes as if there
are three brothers (Epifani, Manoli, and Krokodeglos), and sometimes
two. Epifani, and several relatives had earlier been given provisioni,
allowances so that they would be available for service when needed,
and Barbarigo had to explain that the provisioni could not be paid be-
cause Venice had not sent any money. Their response, or challenge,
was to give the castle of Vardounia — which they could no longer
defend — to the Signoria and then bring in a string of prisoners.* The
Senato took special if inaccurate notice of the gift («spectabilis Pifani
Corcondili Clada primarii nobilis Amoree»),” and passed a resolution

> BARBARIGO, NO. 28, 3 Aug. 1465.

 IDEM, no. 32, 16 Aug. 1465: «I strenui ser (Manoli) Clada, et Crocondilo suo fradelo ...
per la information ho havuta da molti principali Italici, et Greci, et per quanto quelli ho
conosciuto quel pocho tempo io me trovo qui, re vera sono stati fidelissimi servitori de la
Vostra Signoria, ne mai se hano excusato faticha, ne peridolo alchuno, anzi continue con-
servato el castel de la Vardogna, ¢ apresso el Misitra, e chiave de questo Brazo, in li servitii
et da Vostra Signoria li sono manchadi di parenti morti, et ogni facticha sustenuta et dani
per nome di quellar.

“ IDEM, no. 39, 28 Aug. 1465: «Questi hano dato el Castel dela Vordogna ala Celsitudine
vostra»; no. 40, 8 Sept. 1465: «Item Clida ha conduto a Corone Turchi 19».

> asve: Senato, Mar, reg. 8, f. 46v, 27 Nov. 1465. SATHAS, vol. 5, p. 35. The motion refers to
four brothers of Kladas who were killed in the war, «ut quatuor ex ipsis fratribus viriliter
pugnando a Turcis interfecti fuerunt». A subsequent motion refers again to «Spectabilem
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giving them 200 ducats and «robes» in appreciation for their gift. Epi-
fani was appointed to govern from Vardounia on behalf of Venice,
which he did until the area was taken by the Ottomans." Vardounia
would provide an important provocation for the subsequent revolt.

Krokodeélos continued fighting for Venice, leading bands of fifty or
a hundred and fifty stratioti, most of them paid by the loot they ac-
quired. Loot will become important in this discussion. In 1476, he,
Petro Frossini, and Giorgio Menaia were presented with 100 ducats
each (the senior kapetanios, Petro Bua, was given 300), and they were
all given «vestes».” When the Ottomans came back across the Zygos
in 1477, Krokodelos pushed them back out and once again put the area
under Venetian protection. One month after the issuance of Meh-
med’s declaration of the peace on 25 January 1478/1479, on the same
day that the Senato learned of the peace, it instructed Stato da Mar
officials to hand over any territories not in Venetian possession at the
first of the war, and to maintain calm.” That particular provision of
the peace is very clear, and crucial for the events discussed here:

Further, the most illustrious Signoria of Venice will hand over to my Lord-
ship the present fortresses and lands which were taken in the war from my
Lordship, that is, in the parts of the Morea, except that the men in their
authority may go wherever they want with whatever they have. If any want
to remain in the present territories and fortresses they will have complete
pardons, specifically, for every act, if they did anything up to now.*”

Pifani Concordilo Clada» and his nephew Thome (asve: Senato, Mar, reg. 8, f. sov, for 20
Dec. 1465).

Y. Krapas. Agyaia Iotopuxa I'eyovéra tijc Oixoyevelac tav Koyetrdv Kiadiwy damo
Ta 1366 uéyot 1803, Athens, 1872, p. 11.

7 «Vestes»: «robes» (asve: Senato, Mar, reg. 10, f. 71). See BARBARIGO, no. 58 recom-
mending Kladas, Bua, and others for provisioni. Petro Bua is frequently mentioned by Bar-
barigo as having written with information: the men of his status were highly literate.

' asve: Senato, Secreta, reg. 28, f. 1507, for 25 Febr. 1478 /1479.

* Ivi: Documenti Turchi, B1/2:"Etn Soit #) mapév éxhapmpotdtn add(ev)rno Batveti(og)
v mopadoon meds ThHe add(ev)TLay pou. Td Tapdv ®deTeL xal Témos dtnve dndpdnocy
&v ) pdymn éx Ty add(ev)tiav pov, Ayouwy el tapéor / Tob popatws. colwpatvov To
7 &v(dpom)or va Fvar el v alfovomay Tav. va mnyévouony omod(ev) Héhouy, fyouy
pat 7t dpo w(al) av Exovomny. xal 7 wev dehobv trveg de av amopevod|v] elg Tole
Topdv Tomol Xl XAGTEY V& MVl %ol adTy TEVTH ONUTAIMUEVY TYouy amo Tdcay
attnav. Text and translation at http://nauplion.net/1478-Peace.pdf. Diplomatic edition and
commentary in D. GILLILAND WRIGHT, P. A. MacKay, When the Serenissima and the Gran
Turco made love: the peace treaty of 1478, «Studi Veneziani», n.s., LI11, 2007, pp. 261-277, avail-
able at http://independent.academia.edu/DianaWright. The original document can be
seen at http://www. archiviodistatovenezia.it/ divenire /ua.htm?dUa=39573.
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The present fortresses and lands, the lands not in Venetian possession
at the first of the war were understood in the peace negotiations to in-
clude Mani and the Kladas castle of Vardounia.* Despite the fact that
Kladas had held his lands as a direct gift from Mehmed and thus had
committed treason against him, at this point he was free and clear.
The provisions of the peace reclaimed his castle but pardoned him
for treason. He took his family to live in Koroni where his discontent
must have been well-recognized, and he was not the only one disap-
pointed.

That summer, in 1479, Kladas with a group of kapetanioi from Ko-
roni went to Venice to protest the treaty decision and the loss of their
lands. The Senato, after stewing around about the problem, finally
decided in September to keep a thousand on salary, provide a certain
amount of food, and to make arrangements with Constantinople for
them to be given lands in the surrendered areas.*

Inevitably able to chose the false economy, the Senato reduced the
thousand to eight hundred and named three «capi, first among those
who constitute our most loyal men», whom they wanted to hire for
ten years service in the Terraferma: one of these Krokodelos with 150
men.* There was clearly continuing discontent and concomitant fear
of trouble, because a year later, Krokodeélos and two other kapetanioi
were invested as knights in the order of S. Marco. Stefano Magno re-
ported: «On the 4™ of September three capi of stratioti were knighted

** The actual date considered as the beginning of the war was never really specified. By
the time of the formal Venetian declaration of war, 28 July 1464, the Turks had taken Argos
twice (as of August 1463) and Venice had taken Mani. Mani was returned, Argos was not.
Nor was Negroponte which was taken in August 1470. Negroponte was a special revenge
action by Mehmed for the sack of Ainos, and somewhat outside the formal framework of
the war.

* asve: Senato, Terra, reg. 8, f. 61, for 15 Sept. 1479. SaTHAS, vol. 7, no. 40. The Sena-
to knew as early as April 1479 that something like the Kladas uprising was a possibility.
SaTHAS, vol. 7, no. 38, 27 Apr. 1479. See asve: Senato, Mar, reg. 11, f. 48, for 5 Oct. 1479.
SartHaAs, vol. 7, no. 41. asve: Secreta, reg. 29, ff. 153-154, for 8 Jan. 1480/1481. SaTHAS, vol.
1, pp. 273-274. The theme of pacifying the stratioti becomes constant from here on in the
administration of the Greek cittd.

* asve: Senato, Mar, reg. 11, ff. 48-49, of 5, 19 and 25 Oct. 1480; SATHAS, VOl. 7, n0s. 4, 42,
43. It was perhaps this company of 150 which accompanied him into rebellion, though the
stratioti remaining in Mani should be kept in mind. The act provided for salary and trans-
port to Italy. Two weeks later, a similar document dropped Krokodélos’ name and added
three others. He had probably refused to go.
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by the Prince, and they were each given a robe of cloth-of-gold, and
provisioni in the Morea».” Kladas may have thought that such an hon-
or actually meant something.

But shiny things for the natives has never been a reliable strat-
egy. It was less than a week after that pleasing event that Giovanni
Dario and Sinan Beg arrived in Koroni to negotiate the bounda-
ries between Ottoman and Venetian territories with the aid of the
sangakbeg, Suleiman Pasha, the provveditori of Koroni and Methoni,
and Moreote Ottoman officials. Dario had negotiated the peace set-
tlement with Mehmed, and had the high confidence of both sides.
Having already spent a month at Nauplion and Monemvasia, Dario
and Sinan Beg spent another month settling the ownership of vari-
ous holdings in the Koroni and Modon territories.* Kladas arrived

» Sathas, MAGNO, p. 220: «Adi 4 settembre per el Prencipe fatto fu chavaglieri 3 capi di
detti Stratiotti, che erano stadi inel Brazo de Maina, et donatoli una vesta de pano doro per
uno, a quali fui dato provision in la terra della Morea». Such a robe can be seen on the man
in the center of the bridge, just beside the standard, in BELLINT’s Miracle at the Bridge of San
Lotengo. About this order of knighthood, M. MaLLETT, J. HALE. The Military Organigation
of a Renaissance State: Venice, 1400-1617, Cambridge, 1984, pp. 196-197 say uninformatively:
«There is little surviving information about this award, though it appears to have been
given to middle-rank soldiers, and nobles who had given outstanding service. It may not
actually have been an active military order ... Knights were given full-length cloth-of-gold
robes lined with red silk». However, B. GIUsTINIAN, Historie cronologiche dell’origine degli
ordini militari etc., Venezia, 1692, vol. 1, p